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Corporate Profile
A ARG

Elife Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) is principally engaged in trading businesses across Asia as well
as a technology, hardware and software service provider that focuses on the
provision of smart retail information service as its core business with a reliance
on the comprehensive application of internet, cloud computing, artificial
intelligence and big data to build an online to offline smart retail operation and
marketing platform. It has also been expanding its businesses into the consumer
products market conforming to the Group’s business principle of “making life

easier and benefiting people’s livehood” (Z4£5E + BRYE).

The Group has been managing the following businesses:

COMMODITIES TRADING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group continued to focus on
sourcing of overseas and domestic quality products for sales to retail channels
or lowertier agents in the PRC. To rapidly expand the customer base and
trading volume, the Group continues to adopt the low margin strategy which
attracts more sales channels for cooperation. The profit margin for trading
business had been improved during the year and the Group will seek to
increase gross profit margin from direct sales or develop customized products to
improve the Group's overall profitability.

ESMART DIGITAL SERVICES

Esmart Group leverages on the intelligentisation of retail information as its core
technology and relies on the combined application of internet, cloud computing,
artificial intelligence and big data to create a brand-new platform that is closely
integrated with traditional industries. With digital marketing solution as service
objective and retailers as the service object, the Group provides an integrated
software and hardware store management system and an information marketing
solution, and is an advanced online-to-offline smart retail service provider.
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Financial Highlights
MBERE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
ZE-AFE ZE-N\F 2+t ZEB-RE ZEB-IF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

BWTT BT T BEET T BET T BT T

Operating Performance FEEE 32

Turnover R 89,373 153,039 19,450 194,164 193,330
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (F18B) % (161,177)  (144,506)  (154,767) 266,852 (129,977
(Loss)/profit for the year RAREBAREREE

attributable to owners of (E#8) m A

the Company (138,609)  (126,655)  (152,116) 267,469  (120,090)
Total assets EERE 227,479 305,208 350,661 279,555 400,664
Cash reserves Ref#E 19,383 7,867 132,453 7,338 12,302
Total bank borrowings IRITIEEHBE 329 - - - -
Net cash reserves BB EE 19,054 7,867 132,453 7,338 12,302
Shareholders’ funds BREES 131,749 257,805 337,472 241,516 (60,114)
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

Dear Valued Shareholders,

| would like to thank everyone for your patience, understanding and support
over the years.

Since 2016, we, Elife Holdings Limited, have cleared our debts, underwent
business adjustment, changed our company name and have been constantly
exploring new businesses. Three years have passed since then, and | would like
to deliver the latest good news to the shareholders.

As we enter into the new age of rapid technology advancement, we constantly
learn and understand new knowledge, new ideas and new development
models. It can be said that the cost for such business transformation and
learning is relatively high, whether in terms of time or during the experimental
phase, and we hope everyone can understand that this is a grueling process.

Fortunately, we are supported by our hardworking employees, combined
with tremendous resources from society. It should be said that in the current
age where business development and models are ever-changing, resource
integration is, while relatively challenging, a necessary process. We believe
that this new process of integrating the resources will reward us with happy
surprises. Specifically, regarding smart terminal hardware business, our current
production and marketing capability could no longer satisfy our business
development requirements. In order to fulfil current market need, we must work
together with those large producers who are capable of large production, and
those large retailers who are capable of mass marketing.

The “F1+" platform is a brand alliance consisting of dozens mega producers,
each of which has an annual sales turnover in the range of tens of billion RMB.
They engage millions of small merchants to promote their new products, utilize
various marketing methods to increase sales and expand their market shares.
We believe that efficiently connecting large producers with small merchants and
general consumers is fundamental basis for our business model.

Through cooperation with various mega producers, we can leverage this
hundreds of billions RMB consumer market. With our platform operation, we
will bring in the existing market data. Together with block chain technology,
new digital scanning technology, big data analysis, we will turn the existing
market data into valuable digital property. Through this process, we will create
cash flow for our company and will achieve profitability as early as possible.
We have started operating the “Hl+” platform and are currently developing a
new business model to integrate various resources onto the platform. We have
demonstrated the feasibility and commercial value of this new business model to
experts from different fields, and formed a consensus with them. Over the years
we have accumulated experience through software and hardware development
and marketing, thereby enabling a greater understanding of the consumer
market. On this basis, we believe that we will achieve new breakthrough and
success.

We hope for more support amid various challenges in an ever-changing
environment. We will also persistently strive to create value for the Company

and the shareholders.

Thank you!

Zhang Xiaobin
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 28 June 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in trading businesses across Asia as well
as a technology, hardware and software service provider that focuses on the
provision of smart retail information service as its core business with a reliance
on the comprehensive application of internet, cloud computing, artificial
intelligence and big data to build an online to offline smart retail operation and
marketing platform. It has also been expanding its businesses into the consumer
products market conforming to the Group's business principle of “making life
easier and benefiting people’s livehood” (Z4£7E + BR4E).

COMMODITIES TRADING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group continued to focus on
sourcing of overseas and domestic quality products for sales to retail channels
or lower-tier agents in the PRC. To rapidly expand the customer base and
trading volume, the Group continues to adopt the low margin strategy which
attracts more sales channels for cooperation. The profit margin for trading
business had been improved during the year and the Group will seek to
increase gross profit margin from direct sales or develop customized products to
improve the Group's overall profitability.

ESMART DIGITAL SERVICES

Esmart Group leverages on the intelligentisation of retail information as its core
technology and relies on the combined application of internet, cloud computing,
artificial intelligence and big data to create a brand-new platform that is closely
integrated with traditional industries. With digital marketing solution as service
objective and retailers as the service object, the Group provides an integrated
software and hardware store management system and an information marketing
solution, and is an advanced online-to-offline smart retail service provider.

OTHER BUSINESS UPDATE

On top of commodities trading and esmart digital services, the Company
has all along been taking active approach to explore opportunities for future
development.

On 23 April 2019, Esmart Technology Co., Ltd (“Esmart Technology”), an
indirect subsidiary of the Company, entered into the letter of intent and the
cooperation agreement with The Nielsen Company (Guangzhou) Limited
(“Nielsen Guangzhou”) for an initial period of three years whereby the parties
agreed to cooperate in collection and provision of store information and other
market data. Esmart Technology shall use its own technology to collect store
information and provide such information to Nielsen Guangzhou. In return,
Nielsen Guangzhou will provide service package to Esmart Technology.

The Nielsen Company (Nielsen) is a global measurement and data analytics
company that provides the most complete and trusted view available of
consumers and markets worldwide. Nielsen’s approach marries proprietary
Nielsen data with other data sources to help clients around the world
understand what's happening now, what's happening next, and how to best act
on this knowledge.

For more than 90 years Nielsen has provided data and analytics based on
scientific rigor and innovation, continually developing new ways to answer the
most important questions facing the media, advertising, retail and fast-moving
consumer goods industries. As a S&P 500 company, Nielsen has operations in
over 100 countries, covering more than 90% of the world’s population. Nielsen
Guangzhou is a subsidiary of Nielsen and is a third party independent of the
Company and its connected persons.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DM

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company believes
that the proposed cooperation between Esmart Technology and Nielsen
Guangzhou (the “Proposed Cooperation”) does not only reflect market
recognition of the strength of the Company and confidence in the development
prospect of the Group’s operations but will also enhance the reputation of the
Company. The Proposed Cooperation enables both parties to form a synergy
and explore further collaboration in developing new products and services in
big data market, and also consolidates the Group's position in big data industry
in the PRC. Last but not least, it is expected that the Proposed Cooperation will
broaden the Group’s source of revenue and thus enhance the Shareholders’

value.

RESULTS ANALYSIS

REVENUE

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recorded turnover of
approximately HK$89,373,000 (2018: approximately HK$153,039,000),
representing a decrease of 41.6%. The revenue was generated from the
commodities trading and the esmart digital services segments. The decrease
in revenue during the year was due to (i) the unfavourable market conditions
and longer receivable aging affected by the unfavourable macro-economic
environment, the ageing period of trade receivables of the Group extended
from an average of 45 days for the year ended 31 March 2018 to 60 to 90
days in the current year. The cash turnover rate decreased from approximately
8 times to approximately 5 times per year and thus the available cash for
trading also decreased accordingly. This affected the Group’s turnover as
compared with last year. Since the Group usually needs to make advance
payments to suppliers before delivery of goods, new orders are usually placed
only after collection of receivables from customers; and (ii) the decrease in
number of customers as compared with the previous year. This was due to the
Group maintaining good credit risk controls on customers’ receivables collection
and reduced volumes of trading with slower-paying customers.

More details of the Company’s performance by business segments are set out in
Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

COST OF SALES

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the cost of sales of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$83,585,000 (2018: approximately HK$143,728,000),
representing approximately 93.5% (2018: approximately 93.9%) of the
Group’s revenue and a decrease of approximately 41.9% which is in line with
the fluctuation of the turnover.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DM

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The Group's gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 was approximately
HK$5,788,000 (2018: approximately HK$9,311,000), representing a
significant decrease of approximately 37.8%. For the year ended 31 March
2019, the gross profit margin was approximately 2.0% (2018: approximately
1.2%) in commodities trading business and approximately 63.2% (2018:
approximately 88.2%) in esmart digital services respectively. The increase of
gross profit margin in commodities trading business was mainly because the
Group broadened its customer base to sell variety product categories in order
to generate higher profits. On the other hand, the reduction of gross profit
margin in esmart digital services was because no technical service fee was
recognised from Huimin since October 2018 while provision has been made
for the depreciation of the POS machinery to Huimin (booked under property,
plant and equipment) which was recorded for full year. The overall gross profit
margin of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 was approximately
6.5% (2018: approximately 6.1%) of the Group’s revenue. The slight increase
was mainly due to the improvement of profit margin in commodities trading
and the fact that the technical service fee that has been recognised from esmart

digital services business is very low.

SELLING EXPENSES

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recorded selling expenses
of approximately HK$14,381,000 (2018: approximately HK$6,268,000).
The increase was mainly due to an increase of marketing costs in promotion of
esmart digital services such as free samples of the POS machinery in different
customer base and locations in China. Besides, staff costs, transportation and
travelling expenses for salesmen increased significantly in current year.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Other operating expenses incurred by the Group for the year ended 31
March 2019 was approximately HK$153,542,000 (2018: approximately
HK$142,703,000), representing an increase of approximately 7.6%. The
increase was attributable to: (i) the net impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade and other receivables of approximately HK$73,687,000 (2018: Nil) under
adoption of HKFRS 9; (ii) the increase in amount of impairment loss on goodwill
of approximately HK$3,428,000; and (iii) increase of approximately 42.7% of
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment for the year. Even though there
was no share-based payment recognised during the year ended 31 March 2019
(2018: approximately HK$45,684,000), the above items had non-cash impact to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES

The Group did not record any losses from associates (2018: approximately
HK$5,775,000) for the year ended 31 March 2019. The carrying amount
of associates became zero as at 31 March 2019, hence no further profits or

losses of the associates was shared by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWR D

FINANCE COSTS

The finance costs incurred by the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019
was approximately HK$457,000 (2018: approximately HK$115,000),
representing an increase of approximately 297.4% (2018: a reduction of
approximately 94.0%). The increase was mainly due to an increase of interest
expenses on hire purchase for motor vehicles, drawn down from shareholder

loan, other borrowings and bank borrowings.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recorded a loss
attributable to shareholders of approximately HK$138,609,000 (2018:
approximately HK$126,655,000), representing an increase of approximately
9.4%. Basic loss per share was approximately HKé.5 cents (2018:
approximately HK5.0 cents (restated)) for the year ended 31 March 2019. The
increase was primarily attributable to the increase in non-cash items, such as
(a) net impairment losses recognised in respect of trade and other receivables
of approximately HK$73,687,000 (2018: Nil); (b) impairment loss on goodwill
of approximately HK$4,807,000 (2018: approximately HK$1,379,000);
and (c) impairment loss on property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$7,918,000 (2018: approximately HK$5,549,000) were recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2019.

Goodwill Impairment

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of the Group's goodwill was
approximately HK$18,320,000 (2018: approximately HK$23,127,000)
which only represents the cash-generating unit of esmart digital services.
The assessment for the valuation of goodwill performed by an independent
professional external valuer was based on the value-in-use calculation.
During the year ended 31 March 2019, impairment loss on goodwill of
approximately HK$4,807,000 (2018: approximately HK$1,379,000 arising
from unconventional gas business) arising from esmart digital services had been
recognised in profit or loss. The goodwill impairment was mainly attributable
to the impact of the weak performance of the global economy. The recoverable
amounts based on value-in-use calculation of the aforesaid segment was lower
than its carrying amounts, thus impairment loss on goodwill was recognised.
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Net Impairment Losses Recognised in respect of
Trade and Other Receivables

(i)

Outstanding consideration for sale of minority interest in an associated
company

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 2 June 2015
(as supplemented and amended by two supplemental agreements
thereto dated 23 June 2017 and 28 November 2017) (the “Disposal
Agreement”) between Elife Investment Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Sino Rich Energy Holdings Limited) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) (“Elife Investment”) and Jetgo Group Limited (“Jetgo”), Elife
Investment agreed to dispose of 10.5% of the issued share capital of
Sino United Energy Investment Co., Ltd to Jetgo at the consideration of
HK$150,000,000. The first and second instalments of the consideration
of approximately HK$75,304,000 were settled in accordance with the
schedule.

In relation to the third instalment of the consideration of approximately
HK$74,696,000 due 31 December 2018, Jetgo settled HK$200,000 in
June 2018 and approximately HK$74,496,000 has remained outstanding
as at the date of this report.

On 28 November 2018, 2 January 2019 and 25 April 2019, the Group
(either by itself or through its legal advisers) issued demand letters to Jetgo
while the management of both parties continued to discuss the means to
seftle the outstanding amount. The Company sought legal advices from
two separate Hong Kong law firms on the viability and pros and cons
of taking legal action against Jetgo on its failure to make the repayment
in accordance with the Disposal Agreement. The Company will further
instruct professionals to assess the assets and financial conditions of the
Vendor, its associated companies and the sole shareholder of the Vendor
in Hong Kong and elsewhere and will then decide whether or not to take
legal action against the Vendor or explore other options including but
not limited to disposal of the outstanding amount. As at the date of this
report, the Company received a preliminary offer from an interested asset
management company to acquire the outstanding amount. The preliminary
purchase price offered is however very low and the management of the
Company considered that more time would be required to find a resolution
for this issue which is in the best interest of the Company.

Due to the expected possibility of repayment from Jetgo in short period of
time is very low and its expected credit losses (“ECL") is assessed to be
very high by an independent firm of professional valuers, after thorough
consideration, the Board decided to make a full provision of impairment
on the relevant receivables, i.e. approximately HK$74,496,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2019.
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(ii)

Performance deposit due from Huimin

An interest-free and unsecured performance deposit of RMB50,000,000
(the “Performance Deposit’) was paid by Zhongnongxin Supply Chain
Management Company Llimited (“Zhongnongxin Supply Chain”) (an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) to Huimin pursuant to
the supply agreement dated 8 March 2017 (the “Supply Agreement”)
among Zhongnongxin Supply Chain, Huimin and Mr. Zhang Yichun (“Mr.
Zhang”). Mr. Zhang, a non-executive Director and a vice-chairman of the
Board, provided a personal guarantee to Zhongnongxin Supply Chain for
the repayment of the Performance Deposit in full when due.

Pursuant to the Supply Agreement (as supplemented and amended by
two supplemental agreements thereto on 11 September 2017 and 1
March 2018 respectively), the Performance Deposit shall become due on
16 September 2018. Huimin did not repay the Performance Deposit in
full by the said due date. Since August 2018 (that is, one month before
the due date), the Group has from time to time requested repayment of
the Performance Deposit by Huimin by various means and in particular,
(i) on 20 August 2018, the Group issued a letter to Huimin requesting
for immediate repayment of the Performance Deposit; (ii) on 22 August
2018 and 4 September 2018 respectively, the Group requested Huimin
to repay the Performance Deposit in full before 16 September 2018
by email; (iii) on 27 September 2018, the PRC legal counsel of the
Company, issued a demand letter to Huimin and Mr. Zhang requesting
Huimin for repayment of the Performance Deposit; (iv) in early November
2018, the management of the Company attended physical meetings
with representatives of Huimin to negotiate on, among other things, the
means fo settle the Performance Deposit, which is preliminarily proposed
to be either by way of loan, equity pledge or equity transfer; (v) on 10
December 2018, Huimin provided a repayment schedule in respect of
settlement of the Performance Deposit and approximately RMB2,000,000
had been received during the year ended 31 March 2019; and (vi) on
30 May 2019, a supplemental agreement was entered into among the
parties and it was agreed that Huimin shall repay the remaining balances
of the Performance Deposit on or before 16 December 2019. The said
supplemental agreement contains a clause that the Group shall have the
right to demand repayment of the outstanding sum on or before the due
date. Approximately RMB1,800,000 out of the Performance Deposit was
repaid subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2019.

(i)
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(iii) Technical service fee payable by Huimin

Pursuant to the smart terminal and mobile terminal ordering platform
cooperation agreement (the “Cooperation Agreement”) dated 2 August
2017 between Huimin and Esmart Technology Co., Ltd. (“Esmart
Technology”) whereby the parties agreed that, among other things,
Esmart Technology shall provide Huimin and its associated clients with
smart terminals on an exclusive basis and in return, Huimin shall pay
0.6% of the total operating revenue to be confirmed by Huimin to Esmart
Technology. As at 31 March 2019, Esmart Technology provided Huimin
and its associated clients with a total of 2,626 smart terminals and the
total technical service fee payable but not paid by Huimin amounted to
RMB12,000,000. The parties entered into a supplemental agreement to
the Cooperation Agreement on 12 June 2019 whereby it was agreed
that, among other things, (i) the outstanding technical service fee of
RMB12,000,000 shall be repaid on or before 31 May 2020 (with
RMB300,000 per month between June 2019 and November 2019,
RMB400,000 per month between December 2019 and April 2020 and
RMB8,200,000 payable no later than 31 May 2020); (i) the technical
service fee to be received by Esmart Technology during the two years
since 12 June 2019 shall be RMB1,533,584, charged on the basis of
RMBO.8 per day per smart terminal; and (iii) the ownership of the smart
terminals shall be transferred to Huimin and/or its associated clients on 12
June 2020 by a nominal consideration of RMB1.

The Group’s net impairment losses recognised in respect of trade and other
receivables, were approximately HK$73,687,000 for the year ended 31 March
2019. The Group identified trade receivables and other receivables that were
credit impaired or significant to the Group and assessed their ECL individually.
We estimated the amount of lifetime ECL of the remaining trade and other
receivables based on provision matrix through grouping of various debtors
that had similar loss pattern, after considered internal credit ratings of trade
debtors and other debtors and/or past due status of respective trade and other

receivables.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group derived its working capital mainly from financing activities. For
the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group had net cash used in operating
activities of approximately HK$54,344,000 (2018: of approximately
HK$97,394,000), net cash used in investing activities of approximately
HK$1,028,000 (2018: approximately HK$42,117,000) and net cash
generated from financing activities of approximately HK$75,536,000 (2018:
approximately HK$4,561,000). As at 31 March 2019, the Group had
available cash and cash balances amounting approximately HK$19,383,000
(2018: approximately HK$7,867,000).
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As at 31 March 2019, surplus on shareholders’ funds of the Group aggregately
amounted to approximately HK$131,749,000 (2018: approximately
HK$257,805,000). Net current assets of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$109,428,000 (2018: approximately HK$216,953,000). The Group’s total
current assets and current liabilities were approximately HK$179,838,000
(2018: approximately HK$238,923,000) and HK$70,410,000 (2018:
approximately HK$21,970,000) respectively, while the current ratio was
approximately 2.6 times (2018: approximately 10.9 times). The Group's assets-
liabilities ratio (total liabilities to total assets) was approximately 0.4 times
(2018: approximately 0.2 times).

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s gearing ratio (total debts to total equity)
was approximately 41.0% (2018: approximately 10.4%).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company conducted two rounds
of share subscriptions (the “Subscriptions”) and issued an aggregate of
383,375,000 shares of HK$0.01 each to six independent subscribers. The
gross proceeds from the Subscriptions are HK$49,072,000 while the net
proceeds from the Subscriptions (after deducting the expenses incurred) are
approximately HK$48,950,000. The Group used the net proceeds for general
working capital and development of the Group’s daily consumer goods trading
and esmart digital services.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company announced on 26
October 2018 that it entered into two subscription agreements with each of the
Directors (namely Mr. Zhang Xiaobin and Mr. Gao Feng, the Chairman and
Vice-Chairman and both being executive Directors) on the same date whereby
the two Directors agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of 1,142,857,142
shares of the Company at the subscription price of HK$0.105 each. The
subscription price and the number of subscription shares were subsequently
adjusted to HK$0.21 and 571,428,571 shares of the Company pursuant to
supplemental agreements to the subscription agreements dated 15 November
2018 in order to reflect the adjusted subscription price and the number of
subscription shares once the Share Consolidation (as defined below) has
become effective. On 14 November 2018, the Company announced that
it proposed to conduct a consolidation of its shares on the basis that every
two existing shares be consolidated into one consolidated share (the “Share
Consolidation”). The Company also proposed to change the board lot size for
trading on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
from 2,000 existing shares to 20,000 consolidated shares following the Share
Consolidation has become effective.

On 26 April 2019, the Company entered into the third supplemental
agreements with two Directors to revise certain major terms of the Subscriptions
whereby the two Directors agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of
265,957,446 shares of the Company at the subscription price of HK$0.188
each. The aggregate gross proceeds from the Subscriptions will amount to
HK$50,000,000. The extraordinary general meeting was held to pass the
above resolutions on 21 June 2019. It is expected that the Subscriptions will be
completed on or before 31 August 2019.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND CAPITAL COMMITMENT
During the year ended 31 March 2019
for additions in property, plant and equipment amount to approximately
HK$1,965,000 (2018: approximately HK$20,136,000).

expenditures were funded by internal cash flow from operating activities.

, the capital expenditures mainly

These capital

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had capital commitment of approximately
HK$277,817,000 (2018: approximately HK$425,590,000) in respect of the

authorised and contracted for capital contributions payable to subsidiaries.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES
AND ANY RELATED HEDGES

The Group’s sales and purchase are mainly transacted in Hong Kong dollar,
United States dollar and Renminbi and the books are recorded in Hong Kong
dollar. Therefore, it may be exposed to foreign exchange risk. However, in view
of the stable currency policies adopted by the PRC government, the Directors
consider that the foreign exchange risk is insignificant.

The Group currently has no foreign exchange rate hedging policy in respect
of commercial transactions denominated in foreign currencies. However, the
Directors monitor exchange rate exposure regularly and will consider hedging
significant exchange rate exposure when necessary.

KEY RISK FACTORS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group monitors the development of the industry on a regular basis and
timely assesses different types of risks in order to formulate proper strategies to
minimise the adverse impact on the Group.

For details, please refer to Note 5 “Financial Risk Management” to the

consolidated financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS OF THE GROUP
There was no pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 March 2019.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2019.

DIVIDEND
The Board did not recommend any payment of final dividend to shareholders for

the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had a total of 106 employees (2018: 119)
in Hong Kong, the PRC and the United States. All employees are remunerated
according to their performance, experience and the prevailing industry
practices.

The Group also participates in retirement benefit scheme for its staff in Hong
Kong and the PRC.
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The existing share option scheme of the Company was adopted on 8 October
2010 and amended on 17 August 2017, with options to be granted to any
Directors, employees and other parties at the discretion of the Board. During the
year ended 31 March 2019, no share option was granted and exercised while
37,508,000 share options (after share consolidation) lapsed. As at 31 March
2019, 273,417,000 share options remained outstanding.

The Group also adopted a share award scheme on 27 July 2017. During the
year ended 31 March 2019, no awarded share was granted to any eligible
Directors, employees or other parties.

The Group is committed to providing employees with a stable working
environment and continuing to uphold the principles of impartially, fairness
and merit-based employment, and constantly improves the criteria for personal

selection and appointment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
The Group did not have material acquisition and disposal for the year ended

31 March 2019.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group as at 31 March
2019 were set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT
The Group did not hold any significant investment for the year ended 31 March
2019.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

For further information about the environmental policies and performance of the
Company for this financial year, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report to be issued on or before the end of August 2019.

In the foreseeable future, the Company intends to allocate resources for
developing the benefit of people related consumer goods market, in particular,
the daily consumer products market, by expanding its existing trading business
to this area and considers acquisitions of relevant businesses with growth

potentials.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobin, aged 66, was appointed as the chairman and an
executive Director of the Company on 22 September 2015. He has over 30
years of experience in the investment and financial service fields. From 2010
through 2015, he was the Managing Director and the China Senior Advisor
for J.P. Morgan. He worked closely with senior management in driving J.P.
Morgan’s franchise expansion in China with his profound understanding and
knowledge of China’s capital markets. Between 2012 and 2015, he acted as
the Chairman of the Supervision Committee of China United SME Financial
Guarantee Corporation (a joint venture of J.P. Morgan with the ExportImport
Bank of China and other global institutions), the largest credit guarantee
company in China. Prior to joining J.P. Morgan China as the Managing Director
and China Senior Advisor in 2010, Mr. Zhang led a storied career, including
one of the founders of Chinese Stock Exchange system, Secretary General of
Stock Exchange Executive Council, the chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of China Venturetech Investment Corporation. Mr. Zhang graduated from
Xian Jiaotong University (FA&RXEAZ) in 1977 with a major in mechanical
engineering. He was a UNESCO Scholar from 1981 to 1982 and a visiting
scholar at Stanford University in 1983 and was then selected as a Eisenhower
Fellow in 1987. In 1994, he studied in Advanced Management Program
(“AMP”) at Harvard Business School. Mr. Zhang was a non-executive director
of China Financial Services Holdings Limited (stock code: 0605) for the period
from 30 September 2015 to 13 July 2017.

Mr. GAO Feng, aged 49, was appointed as the vice-chairman and an
executive Director of the Company on 18 June 2009. He has extensive
management experience in particular for PRC businesses for over 15 years, and
has served various important roles in a couple of listed companies and sizable
financial institutions. Mr. Gao was the former president of North America for
I.N.C. Financial Organization Ltd. and the former president of Asia-Pacific for
Morgan Funding Organization. Mr. Gao holds a master’s degree in business

administration from Keuka College in New York.

Mr. CHIU Sui Keung, aged 52, was appointed as the chief executive officer
and an executive Director of the Company on 20 April 2009. Mr. Chiu has
over 23 years' experience in the financial industry and accounting field. He
possesses extensive experience in corporate finance including initial public
offerings, takeovers, mergers and acquisitions, fund raising and corporate
advisory. Mr. Chiv graduated with a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from
the University of Melbourne, Australia and has obtained a Master’s Degree
in Applied Finance from Macquarie University in Sydney, Australia. He also
obtained a Diploma in Practices in Chinese Laws and Regulations Affecting
Foreign Businesses jointly organized by Southwest University of Political Science
and Law, the PRC and the Hong Kong Management Association. At present
Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director of King Stone Energy Group

Limited (Stock code: 0663).
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Mr. SUN Qiang, aged 47, was appointed as an executive Director and
Group chief technology officer with effect from 8 January 2018. He has over
13 years of work experience on research and development in the area of
big data system and machine learning technologies. He was the Senior Data
Scientist of Alexa Internet, Inc (a subsidiary of Amazon.com) from 2013 to
2017 and the technical project manager thereof from 2009 to 2013. Mr.
Sun obtained his doctoral degree in Computer Science from the University of
lllinois at Urbana-Champaign lllinois in 2005. He obtained his master degree
in Molecular Biology from the Wesleyan University, Connecticut and bachelor
degree in Biochemistry from Peking University, Beijing, China in 1998 and
1996, respectively.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. ZHANG Yichun, aged 45, was appointed as the vice-chairman and
17 October 2016. He is the

founder and chairman of Huimin. He has over 20 years of experience in

a non-executive Director of the Company on

telecommunications and IT sectors and has strong technical background,
business resources and network. He holds a Master Degree in Project
Management from Université du Québec & Chicoutimi. Before founding Huimin
in May 2013, Mr. Zhang served as engineer, department head, secretary-
general, general manager, chairman and other positions of various companies
in telecommunications and IT sectors.

Ms. XU Ying, aged 65, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 16
December 2016. She has over 30 years’ experience in the securities industry.
She was the general manager and then the chairperson of the board of
directors of Great Wall Securities Company Limited (R#FEHEGRETRF)
between 1995 and 2003. Ms. Xu was the chairperson of the board of directors
of Invesco Great Wall Fund Management Co. Ltd. (RIERMEEERFR A A
) and a director of the Securities Association of China (FEZEHZEHE) from
2003 to December 2009. She was the vice chairperson and an executive
director of New China Asset Management Corporation Limited (#7# & 2 & 1%
P BMRAR]) from 2010 to December 2016. Ms. Xu graduated from Beijing
College of Finance and Commerce (JtREFEZF) (now known as Capital
University of Economics and Business (B #4¢EE 5 AZ)) in 1982 and received
her bachelor degree in economics. She was a lecturer of the same college

where she graduated during the period between 1982 and 1989.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LAM Williamson, aged 44, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 1 January 2011. Mr. Lam is a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the CPA
(Australia). He holds a Bachelor of Business Degree from Monash University,
Australia and a Master of Professional Accounting Degree from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam had held directorships and senior finance
positions in various listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Lam is currently an
independent non-executive director of Lerado Financial Group Company Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1225)
since 20 July 2018.

Mr. CHENG Wing Keung, Raymond, aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 25 August 2007. Mr. Cheng is a
solicitor practicing in Hong Kong and has over 31 years of experience in
corporate, company secretarial and listing affairs. He holds a degree in laws in
the University of London and a Master Degree in Business Administration in the
University of Strathclyde, Scotland. He has been appointed by the Hon Chief
Justice Ma of the Court of Final Appeal as a Practising Solicitor Member of the
Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal Panel with effect from 4 October 2017. Besides,
Mr. CHENG has also been appointed by The Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region as a member of the Panel of the Board of Review
(Inland Revenue Ordinance) with effect from 1 January 2018. At present, he
is an independent non-executive director in one listed company in Hong Kong:

Skyfame Realty (Holdings) Limited (Stock code: 0059).

Mr. WONG Hoi Kuen, aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 9 May 2011. Mr. Wong is a practising certified public
accountant in Hong Kong and a chartered accountant in the United Kingdom.
Mr. Wong is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Wong is currently
an independent non-executive director of REXlot Holdings Limited (Stock code:
555) and China Information Technology Development Limited (Stock code:
8178). Mr. Wong was also an independent non-executive director of China
Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code: 164) from 13 February
2006 to 16 July 2018. The shares of above companies are listed on the Stock
Exchange.
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Dr. LAM Lee G, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 18 November 2015. He is the Chairman of Hong Kong Cyberport
Management Company Limited, Non-Executive Chairman - Hong Kong and
ASEAN Region and Chief Adviser to Macquarie Infrastructure and Real Assets
Asia, a member of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government's
Committee on Innovation, Technology and Re-Industrialisation, and the Court
of the City University of Hong Kong, Convenor of the Panel of Advisors on
Building Management Disputes of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Government Home Affairs Department, President of the United Nations
Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UN ESCAP)
Sustainable Business Network (ESBN) Executive Council and Chairman of its
Task Force on Banking and Finance, Vice Chairman of Pacific Basin Economic
Council (PBEC), a member of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council
Belt and Road Committee and Convenor of its Digital Silk Road Working
Group, a member of the Sir Murray Maclehose Trust Fund Investment Advisory
Comnmittee, and the Advisory Board of the Hong Kong Investor Relations
Association, Honorary Advisor to the Hong Kong Business Angel Network
(HKBAN), Honorary Chairman - Asia Pacific of CMA Australia, Chairman of
Monte Jade Science and Technology Association of Hong Kong and President of
Hong Kong-ASEAN Economic Cooperation Foundation.

Dr. Lam holds a BSc in Sciences and Mathematics, an MSc in Systems Science
and an MBA from the University of Ottawa in Canada, an LLB (Hons) in law
from Manchester Metropolitan University in the UK, a LLM in Law from the
University of Wolverhampton in the UK, an MPA and a PhD from the University
of Hong Kong. He is also a Solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong (and
formerly o member of the Hong Kong Bar), an Accredited Mediator of the
Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution, a Fellow of Certified Management
Accountants (CMA) Australia, the Institute of Public Accountants, the Institute
of Financial Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators, and the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors, and an Honorary Fellow of Certified Public
Accountants (CPA) Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Facility Management,
and the University of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing
Education.

Dr. Lam is currently an independent non-executive director of each of CSI
Properties Limited (Stock Code: 497), Glorious Sun Enterprises Limited (Stock
Code: 393), Vongroup Limited (Stock Code: 318), Mei Ah Entertainment Group
Limited (Stock Code: 391), Elife Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 223), Haitong
Securities Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 6837, a company also listed on Shanghai
Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 600837), Huarong Investment Stock Corporation
Limited (Stock Code: 2277), Hang Pin Living Technology Company Limited
(formerly known as Hua Long Jin Kong Company Limited, Stock Code: 1682),
Kidsland International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2122), Hsin Chong Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 404), Mingfa Group (International) Company
Limited (Stock Code: 846) and Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (Stock
Code: 8148); and a non-executive director of each of Sunwah Kingsway
Capital Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 188), China LNG Group Limited (Stock
Code: 931), National Arts Entertainment and Culture Group Limited (Stock
Code: 8228), China Shandong Hi-Speed Financial Group Limited (Stock
Code: 412), Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (Stock Code: 455) and Green
Leader Holdings Group Limited (Stock Code: 0061); the shares of all of the
aforementioned companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. He is also an
independent non-executive director of each of China Real Estate Grp Ltd.
(formerly known as Asia-Pacific Strategic Investments Limited, Stock Code: 5RA),
Top Global Limited (Stock Code: BHO), JCG Investment Holdings Ltd. (formerly
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known as China Medical (International) Group Limited, Stock Code: VFP) and
Thomson Medical Group Limited (Stock Code: A50), and a non-executive
director of Singapore eDevelopment Limited (Stock Code: 40V); the shares of
all of the aforementioned companies are listed on Singapore Exchange. Dr.
Lam is also an independent director of Sunwah International Limited (Stock
Code: SWH), a company listed on Toronto Stock Exchange; an independent
non-executive director of AustChina Holdings Limited (Stock Code: AUH), a
company listed on Australian Securities Exchange; a non-executive director
of Adamas Finance Asia Limited (Stock Code: ADAM), a company listed on
London Stock Exchange and an independent non-executive director of TMC Life
Sciences Berhad, a company (Stock Code: 0101) listed on the Main Board of
Bursa Malaysia Securities Bhd.

Dr. Lam was a non-executive director of Roma Group Limited (Stock Code:
8072), and an independent non-executive director of each of Xi’an Haitiantian
Holdings Co., ltd. (Stock Code: 8227) and Imagi International Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 0585), all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange;
and an independent non-executive director of Rowsley Ltd. (Stock Code: A50),
a company listed on Singapore Exchange, and Vietnam Equity Holding (Stock
Code: 3MS), a company listed on Stuttgart Stock Exchange.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHOW Chi Fai, aged 48, was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 29 December 2008 and possesses over 23 years of
experience in accounting and finance field. Mr. Chow holds a bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy from the University of South Australia and is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chow was an
independent non-executive director of Wealth Glory Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 8269).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LIU Gang was appointed as president of the China region of the
Company on 1 May 2014, and also served as the chairman and president of
Multi Century Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (“MCT”). Mr. Liu Gang has over 20
years experience in large-scale project management in the PRC and overseas,
and maintains long-term cooperative relationship with large state-owned
enterprises and corporations as well as global 500 companies such as CNPC,
Geological Survey of China, and Mining Affairs Bureau.

Mr. Liv Gang leads MCT by bringing in world class CBM stimulation
equipments and technology. The exploration work for the production test well
in Hegang, Heilongjiang Province was successfully undertaken in 2015. After
the Company’s transformation in 2016, he was appointed as the president of
Zhongnongxin Supply Chain Management Company Limited (“Zhongnongxin”).
He has implemented digital retail platform solutions for the non-oil business
of PetroChina Yunnan Company, jointly established the “FZeZ 4 F"
convenience store brand with China Post Beijing Company and provided
supply chain services to China Post’s online presence “ULE.com” (#844#) and
“Youzhanggui B2B" (EZ1EB2B), and signed an agreement with Huimin to
provide supply chain services for merchandises such as imported goods and pet
goods (pet food).
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Ms. LI Na was appointed as the chief operation officer of Esmart Technology
in March 2018. Ms. Li has 15 years of management and operation experience
on internetrelated businesses in the PRC. She is specialized in the planning,
operation and marketing and worked as senior management in a number of
major Chinese internet companies. Between 2004 and 2008, Ms. Li worked as
the director of media cooperation department in tom.com and the director of
mobile e-commerce business in tom eachnet.com. From 2008 to 2009, Ms. Li
worked as the director of advertising department in kong.net. She then joined
Linktone Ltd. (E/B8Z FE@EAAEMRAF]) (o company whose shares are listed
on NASDAQ) as the general manager of the marketing department in 2009
until 2011. Ms. Li was the founder and chief executive officer of Beijing Jule
Network Technology Company Limited (It RBLEEZEILERAF]) between
April 2011 and March 2018. Ms. Li obtained her bachelor degree in industry
automation from Zhengzhou University and her master degree in business
administration from City University of Macau.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate governance
through the establishment and adoption of good practices and procedures
which are in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The
principles of corporate governance adopted by the Company enhance board
practices, internal controls, transparency and accountability to the Company’s
shareholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company had applied and
complied with all code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in the Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange save for the deviations

from CG Code A.11, A5, B.1 and A.6.7.

Under the CG Code A.1.1, board meetings should be held at least four
times per year (each quarter). During the year ended 31 March 2019, the
Company held four board meetings, out of which two meetings did not have
any written minutes. Under the CG Code A.5 and B.1, the Company convened
two remuneration committee meetings and one nomination committee meeting,
however, no any written documents such as notice, agenda and minutes were
prepared.

Under the CG Code A.6.7, independent non-executive directors and other
non-executive directors, as equal board members, should give the board
and any committees on which they serve the benefit of their skills, expertise
and varied backgrounds and qualifications through regular attendance and
active participation. They should also attend general meetings and develop
a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. However, three
independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director were
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company due to conflicting
business schedules.

The Board has updated or established various policies and procedures and the
committees have updated their terms of reference in compliance with the CG

Code.
The Board has taken up the corporate governance function stipulated in the CG
Code and has included such function in its terms of reference. The Board has

reviewed the compliance status of the Company with the CG Code.

The Board will review the CG Code from time to time and shall make necessary
arrangements when the Board considers appropriate.

We have summarised the CG Code adopted by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2019 as below:
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THE BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of ten Directors,
including four executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”). Two of the INEDs have the
relevant accounting and related financial management expertise as required by
the Listing Rules. The names of the Directors by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Yichun (Vice-Chairman)
Ms. Xu Ying

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

Dr. Lam Lee G.

Biographical details of each of the Directors are set out under the Directors and
Senior Management Profiles section on pages 15 to 20 of this annual report.

Each of the executive Directors and Ms. Xu Ying, a non-executive Director, has
respectively entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial
term of three years but is subject to retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-
election.

Each of the INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of three years but subject to retirement by rotation and is
eligible for re-election.

Mr. Zhang Yichun, a non-executive Director, has no fixed term of appointment,
but is subject to retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-election.

None of the Directors has any financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships among members of the Board.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all INEDs meet the independence rules and continues to consider each
of them to be independent.

The Board, as led by the Chairman and the two Vice-Chairmen, is collectively
responsible for the set up of the Group’s overall strategies, operating and
financial policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, evaluation of
the performance of the Company’s business, and oversight of the management
team. The management team is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group under the supervision of the Managing Director.
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CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT FOR
DIRECTORS

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
would provide a comprehensive induction package covering the summary of
the responsibilities and legal obligations of a director of a Hong Kong listed
company, the Company’s constitutional documents and the Guides on Directors’
Duties issued by the Companies Registry to each newly appointed Director
to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Company Secretary reports from time to time the latest changes and
development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other
regulatory regime to the Directors with written materials, and the legal advisers
of the Company prepare and provide the Directors with detailed interpretations
and analysis on the revised contents for them to understand the latest
developments in a timely and accurate manner and to perform their duties in

accordance with relevant laws and regulatory requirements.

During the year, all Directors were provided with regular updates on the
Group’s business and operations. The Company has arranged to update the
Directors on the amendments on the Listing Rules and guidelines on disclosure of
insider information and connected transactions.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of this report, there was
or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of
the directors of the Company (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or
an associated company (if made by the company).

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover the certain
legal actions brought against its Directors and officers.

CHAIRMAN, VICE-CHAIRMEN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The positions of the Chairman, Vice-Chairmen and the Chief Executive Officer
are held by separate individuals with a view to maintaining an effective
segregation of duties regarding the management of the Board and the day-to-
day management of the Group's businesses.

The Chairman and the Vice-Chairmen lead the Board and oversee the
functioning of the Board to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders, and Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively. The Chairman is primarily responsible for the approval
of the agenda prepared by the Company Secretary for each Board meeting,
and taking into account, where appropriate, matters proposed by members of
the Board and including them in the agenda. With the support of the two Vice-
Chairmen, other executive Directors and the Company Secretary, the Chairman
seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and receive sufficient and reliable information in a timely manner
before the Board meetings. The Chairman and the Vice-Chairmen also actively
encourage Directors to engage in the Board’s affairs and make contribution to
the Board’s decisions.
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The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management of
the Group’s businesses, the formation and implementation of operating and
financial policies among the Group and accountability to the Board for all the
Group's operations. The Chief Executive Officer together with the management
team ensure that the Company’s business plans are consistent with the strategies
and objectives established by the Board. In addition, the Chief Executive Officer
ensures that the Company meets its funding requirements and closely monitors
the operating and financial results against the Company’s business plans and
budgets, and takes remedial actions if necessary. The Chief Executive Officer
is also responsible for the establishment and maintenance of an effective
management team to assist him in the day-to-day management of the Group's
businesses.

BOARD PRACTICES

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to give all Directors an
opportunity to attend in person. Four regular Board meetings had been held
during the year ended 31 March 2019. Each of the Directors has full access
to information of the Company and has access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary in respect of compliance with board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations. Each of the Directors may also take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary,
in accordance with the approved procedures. The minutes of the Board are
prepared by the Company Secretary with details of the matters considered
by the Board and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the
members of the Board or dissenting views expressed.

The Board held four Board Meetings and two General Meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2019 and the attendance record of each member of the Board
is set out below:
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Attendance of Attendance of
Board Meetings General Meeting

EFETMHRERY BRXFHERE
Executive Directors BiTER
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) REWEE(E 4/4 2/2
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BELE (BlE ) 4/4 2/2
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer) iR ((THER) 4/4 2/2
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer) BRREE(BREEME) 4/4 2/2
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. Zhang Yichun (Vice-Chairman) R—BXE(EER) 1/4 0/2
Ms. Xu Ying Rzt 3/4 1/2
Independent non-executive Directors BUFRTES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond KR EE 4/4 2/2
Mr. Lam Williamson ME2EEE 3/4 1/2
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BERELE 3/4 1/2
Dr. Lam lee G. MREHEL 3/4 1/2
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with Article 86(3) of the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”), any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
should be subject to election by Shareholders at the first general meeting of
the Company. In accordance with articles 87(1) of the Articles, every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term or holding office as Chairman
of the Board or the Managing Director of the Company) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Under the CG Code, non-executive directors should be appointed for specific
terms, subject to re-election. Currently, Mr. Zhang Yichun, a non-executive
Director, has no set term of office but is subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Articles.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS (THE “MODEL CODE")

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as set out in the Model Code in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules on
the terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2019. After having made specific enquiry
to all directors of the Company, the Directors are of the opinion that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and its code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the year ended
31 March 2019.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The following statement, which sets out the responsibilities of the Directors in
relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 53 to 59 of
the annual report which acknowledges their reporting responsibilities as the
external auditors of the Company:

(i) Annual and Interim Reports and Financial
Statements
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for each financial year which
gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at the year end and of the Group's profit or loss and cash flow
for the year then ended.

(ii) Accounting Policies
In preparing the financial statements for each financial year, the Directors
have selected appropriate accounting policies and apart from those
new and amended accounting policies as disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements, have applied them consistently with previous financial
periods. Judgments and estimates have been made that are prudent and
reasonable.
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(iii) Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position
of the Group and enable the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

(iv) Safeguarding Assets
The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.

(v) Going Concern
The Directors, having made specific enquiries, consider that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the Company
and of the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established
the following Board Committees to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. A majority of the members of each of these Committees are INEDs.
Each of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees is governed by its
respective terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

On 18 March 2002, the Board established an Audit Committee which currently
comprises three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Lam Williamson and the other two
members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen.

The Audit Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(il Relationship with external auditors
e to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

e to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards; and

® to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

(i) Review of financial information
To monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and annual
report and accounts, interim report and, if prepared for publication
reports, and to review significant financial reporting judgements contained
in them.
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(iii) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
and risk management systems
* to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems;

e to discuss the internal control system and risk management system
with management to ensure that management has performed its duty
to have an effective internal control system; and

e to consider major investigations findings on internal control and risk
management matters as delegated by the Board.

The Comnmittee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference
which are publicly available on the websites of the Group and the Stock
Exchange.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 March 2019
and the attendance record of each Audit Committee member is set out below:

(iii)

EFLLAZHBHREHNE  ABEZREARE
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s MEARQFZHBEE  ABEEREARE
BHE
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EEH EZRAEERETHRE -
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RREE A RAEE R 2@t ARER -
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REBTMRAERE SERZEEEREZHELERY

M

Attendance
of Audit
Committee
Meetings
ERTHRE
FRHERE

Independent non-executive Directors BIAFRITES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BPoK I EE 2/2
Mr. Lam Williamson MEBLEE 2/2
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen HEELEE 2/2

The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year end 31
March 2019 is summarised below:

(i) Review of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee met and held discussions with the Group’s external
auditors and senior management, and reviewed the draft annual report
and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 and interim
report and financial statements for the six months ended 30 September
2018 before making recommendations for the Board’s approval. It
reviewed and discussed the management’s reports and representations
with a view to ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial statements
are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure requirements of
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.

(ii) Review of the Company’s financial controls, risk

management and internal control systems

The Audit Committee reviewed the process by which the Group evaluated
its control environment and its risk assessment process, and the way in
which business and control risks were managed. It made recommendations
to the Board about the effectiveness of internal control systems in the
Group’s business operations. These controls and systems allowed the
Board to monitor the Company’s overall financial position and to protect
its assets.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

On 14 July 2006, the Board established a Remuneration Committee which
currently comprises two INEDs and one executive director, chaired by
Mr. Lam Williamson and the other two members of the Remuneration Committee

are Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and Mr. Chiu Sui Keung.
The Remuneration Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management and establishment of a

formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages to

individual executive Directors and senior management;

(iii) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of

non-executive Directors;

(v) to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and otherwise fair and

not excessive;

(vi) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

(vii) to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding

is own remuneration.

The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference
which are publicly available on the website of the Group and the Stock

Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31

March 2019.
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The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for the

year ended 31 March 2019 is set out below:

Remuneration bands

FrE 8

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000
Over HK$4,000,000

Z£2%1,000,000% 7t
1,000,001 5t £2,000,000% 7T
2,000,001% 5t £3,000,0005% T
3,000,001% 5t £4,000,0005% T
#384,000,000% 5T

BE-Z-NFZA=+-HLFESREEEZH
BRI

Number of persons

N

—_ - - = O

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
On 14 July 2006, the Board established a Nomination Committee which
currently comprises three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

and the other two members of the Nomination Committee are Mr. Lam
Williamson and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen.

The Nomination Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i) to review the structure, size, composition (including skills, knowledge
and experience) and diversity of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement

the Company’s corporate strategy;

(i) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorship, having due regard to the Board
Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy of the Company;

(iii) to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for

Directors;

(v) to review the Board Diversity Policy as appropriate and make
recommendations on any required changes to the Board for consideration
and approval, and monitor its implementation so as to ensure its
effectiveness, and make disclosure of its summary and the progress of its

implementation in the corporate governance report; and

(vi) to review the Nomination Policy for directors of the Company and to make
disclosure of the summary of nomination policy in annual report of the

Company annually.
The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference

which are publicly available on the website of the Group and the Stock
Exchange.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 March
2019.

Directors

BE

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung BKIREE
Mr. Lam Williamson MEEEE
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BBEEE

REZEENRBEZE-NF=ZA=+-HLEFER

BT —REH

Attendance of Nomination
Committee Meeting

REZAETRHERE

1/1
1/1
1/1

The Nomination Committee has reviewed and discussed: (1) the prevailing
structure, size and composition of the Board; (2) the independence of the
INEDs; and (3) nomination of Directors for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The Nomination Committee has made recommendations to the
Board.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy aims to:

(i)  sets out the criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of
directors;

(i) ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company; and

(iii) ensure the Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

Below are the nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted
by the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship.

Selection Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in evaluating
and selecting candidates for directorships:

e character and integrity;

e quadlifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;

e any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board;

e  requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in accordance
with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules;

®  any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity;
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REREREARNEAREBITERAESEN
BR/BARAFNEZTZEEZEZHE K

e willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a .
member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company; and

31

e any other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business .

and succession plan and where applicable, may be adopted and/or

amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to

time for nomination of Directors and succession planning.

Directors’ Nomination Procedures
The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’ nomination which are

pursuant to the Listing Rules and the Articles as detailed below.

(a)

Appointment of Directors

(i)

(ii)
(iii)

(iv)

the Nomination Committee identifies individual(s) suitably qualified
to become Board members, having due regard to the board diversity
policy and the nomination policy of the Company, and assesses the
independence of the proposed independent nonexecutive Director(s)
as appropriate;

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to the Board;
The Board considers the individual(s) recommended by the
Nomination Committee, having due regard to the board diversity

policy and the nomination policy of the Company;

The Board confirms the appointment of the individual(s) as Director(s)

HittEARARRAEBREMEHE RESER

/EREEEETREFTERTHAREESR
BEERAK RET2EEBRI -

EFREERF
ESRCRBELHRARMARESESTIMABR
B HEIIRTX -

(o) ZFEZFE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

REZEERBEZERADACESRTEN
EZTBERREERE  NESERES
EEemEBz AT UHEFIEZE 2B
HITESBIME(MER) °

REZEEMNESTRHEBRER -
EEERBEZRALAESTERES T
THRRREERE  TRREZEEEEZ

AL

EZERAEBALIZEEHERERAA

(iv)

or recommends the individual(s) to stand for election at a general It MBEAS T EERE . BEQET
meeting. Individual(s) appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy PEREE R E SRR RE >
or as an addition to the Board will be subject to re-election by A+ FEREAATASSEMEIAG RE
shareholders of the Company at the next annual general meeting Il TEREREAS LESAATR
after initial appointment in accordance with the Company’s articles HEE o
of association.

(v)  The shareholders approve the election of individual(s), who stand(s) v BREELEREASLINEL2E>E
for election at general meeting, as Director(s). BALHEE-

(b)  Re-appointment of Directors b EEEE

(1) The Nomination Committee considers each retiring Director, having (1) BEE4ZEEeCEEZEALASESER
due regard to the board diversity policy and the nomination policy Bz tREREERE  EEESREAE
of the Company, and assesses the independence of each retiring = NS EAET R TEE B Y
independent non-executive Director. # o

(2) The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to the Board. (2) BEEEESENEEERHEERE

(3) The Board considers each retiring Director recommended by the 3) EEECEEZEAATEEERES T
Nomination Committee, having due regard to the board diversity CHERESHE  2EELE8eRE>
policy and the nomination policy of the Company. SEEAESE -

(4) The Board recommends the retiring Directors to stand for re-election 4) EEERERCEEREMAIRBRAS
at the annual general meeting in accordance with the Articles. K& EBIE o

(5) The shareholders approve the re-election of Directors at the annual (5) BERBRRBEASLHATREMES -

general meeting.
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The Board has adopted a “Board Diversity Policy” in relation to the nomination
and appointment of new Directors, which provides that the selection of Board
candidates shall be based on a range of diversity perspectives with reference
to the Company’s business model and specific needs, including but not limited
to gender, age, race, language, cultural background, educational background,
industry experience and professional experience. The above measurements
were also reviewed and adopted when the Nomination Committee reviewed
the composition of the Board. After assessing the suitability of the Directors’
skills and experience to the Company’s business, the Nomination Committee
confirmed that the existing Board was appropriately structured and no change
was required.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out by the Board
pursuant to a set of written terms of reference adopted by the Board, which
include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the Directors;
and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the corporate governance report.

During the financial year, the Board reviewed the current changes to corporate
government requirements of the Stock Exchange and current were practices.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of internal control
include a defined management structure with limits of authority which is
designed to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication, and to ensure compliance with relevant legislation and
regulations. The system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s
objectives.
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(i) Organisational Structure
An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.

(ii) Authority and Control

The relevant executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate strategy
and policy and contractual commitments.

(iii) Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting
Proper controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate and
timely accounting and management information. Regular reviews and
audits are carried out to ensure that the preparation of financial statements
is carried out in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, the Group’s accounting policies and applicable laws and
regulations.

(iv) Group Risk Management
The Group has developed and implemented risk mitigation strategies
including the use of insurance to transfer the financial impact of risk upon
directors and senior management.

During the year 31 March 2019, the Group has complied with Principle C.2
of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. Management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of
the risk management and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:

Risk Management System
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk associated
with its business and operations. The system comprises the following phases:

(i)  Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks that
could affect the achievement of objectives;

(i) Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the
risk portfolio accordingly; and

(iii) Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective communication
to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in for the year ended 31 March 2019,
no significant risk was identified.
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Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework enables the Group to achieve
objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The
components of the framework are shown as follows:

i Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures that
p
provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the Group;

(i) Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed;

(iii) Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures to help
ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the achievement of
objectives are carried out;

(iv) Information and Communication: Internal and external communication to
provide the Group with the information needed to carry out day-to-day
controls; and

(v)  Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether each
components of internal control is present and functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and
to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of its public
disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy
and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to
time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure
requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

(i)  the access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees
on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve
confidentiality;

(i) confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations; and

(iii) the executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf of the
Company when communicating with external parties such as the media,
analysts or investors.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The Group has engaged an external professional to carry out the internal audit
functions of the Group. The internal audit function is independent of the Group's
daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal
control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating
effectiveness.

An internal audit plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems
is conducted annually and the results are reported to the Board via Audit
Committee afterwards.

EFFECTIVENESS OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of these systems has been
conducted annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board’s
review, which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent
of significant risks since the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external environment (ii) the scope
and quality of management’'s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal
control systems.

The Board, through its review and the review made by internal audit function
and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal control
systems were effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources, staff qualifications
and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training programs and
budget provided were sufficient.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) is currently appointed as the
external auditors of the Company, which provides audit and non-audit services
to the Company. In order to maintain HLB’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the applicable
standards, the Audit Committee, under its terms of reference, holds meetings
with HLB to discuss the nature and scope of their audit and related fees, and to
approve the nature and scope of non-audit services requested by the Company
and related fees.
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The nature of audit and non-audit services provided by HLB and fees paid
to HLB (including any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed
third party having knowledge of all relevant information would reasonably
conclude as part of the audit firm nationally or internationally) are set out
below:

Auditors’ remuneration ZEEnE &
— Audit services — BB
— Tax services — B3 BR 7%
— Other services — H b PR 7%

BERUEIBBRILBBRBE 2HERIASTEE (B
FHESMEBMZIHAREY  EARNEE ZEMH
B RABFEEBEN 2R BABE =AU SEE
ERZEFTMERA2BEARERD B2 ETHEE) 2
BERNT -

HK$'000
TR

700

700

The Board has accepted the recommendation from the Audit Committee on
appointment HLB as the external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective
communication with shareholders of the Company and potential investors.
Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency
to ensure the potential investors and the shareholders of the Company receive
accurate, clear and comprehensive and timely information of the Group
by the regulatory publications such as publish financial statements, results
announcements and circulars, press release and news articles, general meetings
and other investment market communications such as roadshows and media

interviews.

The primary platform for publication of all announcements and circulars made
by Company in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements is through
a financial printer who maintains a site for the Company at http://www.
capitalfp.com.hk/eng/index.jsp2co=223 (English Version) and www.capitalfp.
com.hk/chi/index.jsp2co=223 (Chinese Verson). In addition, the Company also
publishes all corporate correspondence on its website http://www.elife.com.hk
as an additional communication channel to the shareholder.

The Board maintains regular dialogues with the institutional investors
and analysts to keep them informed of the Group’s strategy, operations,
management and plans. The Directors and the members of various committees
would attend and answer questions raised at the annual general meeting of the
Company. Separate resolutions would be proposed at the general meeting on
each substantially separate issue.

The Chairman of the general meetings of the Company would explain the
procedures for conducting a poll before putting a resolution to vote. The results
of the voting by poll would be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company respectively.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders’ rights to requisite for and convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)

According to the Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholders
holding not less than 10 per cent of the paid-up capital of the Company may
by written requisition to require an EGM to be called by the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company. The Board or the Company Secretary
must proceed to convene an EGM as soon as possible, within 21 days from
the date of deposit of the requisition. The meeting shall be held not later
than 2 months after the date of deposit of the requisition. If the Board fails to
convene the EGM as requisitioned by the shareholders within 21 days after
the date of requisition was received, all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders’ rights of procedures for sending
enquiries to the Board and making proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders have the right to send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
or make proposals at the shareholders’ meeting by addressing them to the
Company Secretary of the Company by mail at the Company’s correspondence
address in Hong Kong or by email to the Company’s official email address. The
Company Secretary forwards all enquiries and proposals relating to ordinary
business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and consumer complaints to the
Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Chow Chi Fai. Details of the
biography of the Company Secretary is set out in the section headed “Directors
& Senior Management Profiles” of this annual report.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chow has undertaken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
March 2019.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There had been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that, subject to the approval of
the shareholders and requirement of the relevant law, the Company shall pay
annual dividends to the shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations
environment is stable and there is no significant investment or commitment
made by the Group. The target annual dividend pay-out shall not exceed 30%
of the consolidated annual net profits (excluding extraordinary items, if any)
attributable to the shareholders

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account,
among other things, the Group’s financial results, financial position, cash flow
situation, business conditions and strategies, expected future operations and
earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, interests of shareholders,
any restrictions on payment of dividends and any other factors the Board may
consider relevant. Any payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Act, the Articles and all applicable laws

and regulations.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHG

The Board submits herewith its report and the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group is engaged in trading businesses
across Asia as well as a technology, hardware and software service provider
that focuses on the provision of smart retail information service as its core
business with a reliance on the comprehensive application of internet, cloud
computing, artificial intelligence and big data to build an online to offline
smart retail operation and marketing platform. It has also been expanding
its businesses into the consumer products market conforming to the Group's
business principle of “making life easier and benefiting people’s livehood” (5

- R,

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 are set
out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the state of affairs
of the Company and the Group as at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 60 to 175.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2018: Nil) in
respect of the year to shareholders of the Company.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the
assets and liabilities of the Group:
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RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March 2019

E g

BE-_Z-NF=ZRA=+—HILFE

2019 2018
ZB-hE —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt &£ THER T
Turnover EE 3] 6 89,373 153,039
Cost of sales SHEM AR (83,585) (143,728)
Gross profit EA 5,788 9,311
Other income Hnyg A 7 2,480 2,175
Other losses — net HittgE — 28 7 (1,065) (1,131)
Selling expenses HEMX (14,381) (6,268)
Other operating expenses Hit&EMX (67,130) (90,091)
Share-based payment BUBR 7 A 2 SR8 36 - (45,684)
Impairment loss on goodwill BEZAESE 19 (4,807) (1,379)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment WE BERIBZRESE 16 (7,918) (5,549)
Net impairment losses recognised in respect of RESRHEMERREERZ
trade and other receivables HEEEFE (73,687) -
Share of results of associates DL E NTEE 18 - (5,775)
Loss from operating activities R EIEEE 8 (160,720) (144,391)
Finance costs BhE A 9 (457) (115)
Loss before tax BB A5 18 (161,177) (144,506)
Taxation i1 12 - _
Loss for the year TEEGR (161,177) (144,506)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Ht2E (GR) ke
Items that may be reclassified HETREHSE
subsequently to profit or loss: ERH2EE:
Exchange differences on translating BEBIMNSEEKZ
foreign operations EXER (10,193) 13,995
Share of exchange differences of associates DIEBENRELEZH 18 - 63
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FEEHM2E(ER) ke
for the year (10,193) 14,058
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEEREBGREE (171,370) (130,448)
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) HESHEE @)
2019 2018
ZE-0E —E-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt F FHET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: BERTIALTZ
TEEEE
Owners of the Company AATHEBA (138,609) (126,655)
Non-controlling interests FEIERRRES (22,568) (17,851)
(161,177) (144,506)
Total comprehensive loss for the year BERTIALZ
attributable to: rEE2HEEBBERE:
Owners of the Company AAREFA (147,206) (112,977)
Non-controlling interests FERER (24,164) (17,4717)
(171,370) (130,448)
(Restated)
(BEH)
Loss per share BRER
- Basic —HK 15 (6.5) centsi&fl (5.0) centsi& Al
- Diluted —#5E 15 (6.5) centsiEfl (5.0) centsi& Al

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) HETHEE @)
As at 31 March
W=BR=+—8H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
ZZE—hE —ZT-N\F ZE—+tF ZE-RFE =ZE-IF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHT FHET FET FExT
Assets and liabilities HEHAR
Non-current assets ERBEE 47,641 66,285 35,817 106,936 298,719
Current assets REEE 179,838 238,923 314,844 172,619 101,945
Current liabilities RE R (70,410)  (21,970)  (13,189)  (38,039) (390,214
Non-current liabilities ERBER (25,320) (25,433) - - (70,564)
131,749 257,805 337,472 241,516 (60,114)
Note: The results of the Group for the two years ended 31 March 2018 and 31 Wiz AEEBE-ZE-NFZA=+-HRZZ-IF

March 2019 and its assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2018 and 31
March 2019 are those set out on pages 60 to 175 of the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year and
details of the Company’s share-based payment are set out in Notes 34 and 36
to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share-based payment as disclosed below and Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Company during the year or subsisted as at the end of the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company or any of its subsidiaries had not purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

ZAEtTt-HLRMAFEZEERAR=-Z—N
F=ZA=+—BAR=-E-NF=ZA=+—HZE
EHABBEHNGREMERERECOEEI758

MR- BE R MW
FEBFAZYE BERRBEZDEFRNEEY
BIRMFE6 ©

B & B LB 7 2 £ iz R IR
ARAFDFRAZBRAZBFBERADTURS XM 2K
BHERARE P BERMEI4R36 -

B 5% 1 89 13 it
BRTXRGEVBRMRMEAIOTKENARG T2
PN ARARFALER] LEMREHBIHZ
TENF RS FENRZEBIHE -

BxEREH#

AMAREEHS (AR REMH LR EER) &
PIMERBRANELBERZKR  MEARARR
AR RERRBERRND -

ME MOXHEFL2AFZLHTES

AARFEEAMBARAEFAMEBE  BEOH
EFEMALB 2 EWES -
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2019, the Company's reserves available for cash distribution
and/or distribution in specie, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Law (2003 Revision) of the Cayman Islands to members amounted to
approximately HK$Nil (2018: approximately HK$126,878,000) which
comprised share premium of approximately HK$281,481,000 (2018:
approximately HK$236,255,000), contributed surplus of approximately
HK$7,076,000 (2018: approximately HK$7,076,000) and accumulated losses
of approximately HK$319,493,000 (2018: approximately HK$116,453,000).
No final dividend (2018: Nil) had been proposed out of such reserves for the
year. In accordance with the Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands and the Clause 137 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
a company may make distributions to its members out of the profits of the
Company, the contributed surplus accounts and share premium under certain
circumstances.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s largest and four largest
customers’ (2018: two) aggregate amount represented approximately 38.6%
(2018: approximately 75.7%) and approximately 77.4% (2018: approximately
85.7%) of the Group's total revenue, respectively. The Group’s largest and two
largest suppliers’ (2018: one) aggregate amount represented approximately
58.3% (2018: approximately: 83.2%) and approximately 69.1% (2018:
approximately 83.2%) of the Group's cost of sales, respectively.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up fo the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Yichun (Vice-Chairman)
Ms. Xu Ying

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

Dr. Lam Lee G.

In accordance with Articles 87(1) and (2) of the Articles, Mr. Zhang Yichun,
Ms. Xu Ying, Mr. Lam Williamson and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen will be eligible for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all INEDs meet the independent rules and continues to consider each
of them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are
set out on pages 15 to 20 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and Ms. Xu Ying, a non-executive Director, has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of 3
years commencing from the date of the employment and continuing thereafter
until terminated by either party by giving not less than three months’ or one
months’ notice in writing to the other.

All INEDs entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
term of three years on 1 May 2018.

Mr. Zhang Yichun has no fixed term of appointment. No service agreement has
been or will be entered into between the Company and Mr. Zhang.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, Directors’ remuneration, comprised payments to the directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Group, is as follow:

Name of Director Fees
EERA s
HK$'000
TER
2019: ~2-0E:
Executive Directors BITER
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) REWEE (%) -
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) mEEE (BIER) -
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)  #Iia%A (1TH&H) -
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer) BarE(BERERINE) -
Non-executive Directors FBTES
Mr. Zhang Yichun (Vice-Chairman) FHEE (BERE) -
Ms. Xu Ying R+ S
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BIEHRITEF
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Bkt 230
Mr. Lam Williamson HEBEE 235
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen HEREE 230
Dr. Lam Lee G. HREEL
935

240

ESEREREEBZME

EXERAEESHREEECHERNAFREISESE
20H °

EFCBREEH
EUTESRIUTESRALLBRA QAT LR
Baw HRBEREHDSRA=F  TAREE
Y EEHP-ARBR-ABREFOR=EAR-
BAZEEBATURLERL -

FMEBIFATESHR -Z-—NFAA-RELL
AFYERE  NLHHB=F -

R—EBAEYEEEEH AQABETFFTHEERS
ERTLRBEH -

BREmES  BRREERRBFASLERSETIE
EMBRAARQNTAITUARATER-—FAKLEMBE
LB E CEERERMN 2IRBEEH -

EFMe
FR ESHe (BFRRERAEEEBEMIAFARQ
AREMBRARASESZRE)MNT

Basic Other MPF
salaries allowances contributions Total
EXHe Hth#Rh HESHR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn FTiEx FiEn FTEx
7,200 499 - 7,699
3,120 50 18 3,188
1,536 - 18 1,554
2,069 - 4 2,073
960 - - 960
- - - 230
- - - 235
- - - 230
- - - 240
14,885 549 40 16,409
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) EEMe @
Share-
Basic Other based MPF
Name of Director Fees  salaries allowances  payment contributions Total
LG
3.3 fig -2 3 b4 3 F4 ] HHEAHX &it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TER TiEgn Tign TiEn
2018: ZE-0\EF:
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) REWEE (IR) - 5,400 39 6,947 9 12,395
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BEEE (BFRE) - 3,120 47 6,947 18 10,132
Mr. Chiv Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer| Bimis (hes) - 1,536 - 6,947 18 8,501
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer) BeErE(ERRINE)
(Appointed with effect from 8 January 2018) (BZE-N\E-BN\REZHF) - 514 - - - 514
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Mr. Zhang Yichun (Vice-Chairman) F-EHEE (BEFE) - - - 284 - 284
Mr. Shao Zili (Resigned on 31 January 2018) BIHEE (RZE-\F-A=T-HEf) - 800 - 284 15 1,099
Mr. Xie Zhichun (Resigned on 10 July 2017) BEELE (W_E—+E+ATREE) - 266 - - - 266
Ms. Xu Ying (3 an - 960 - 284 - 1,244
Independent non-executive Directors BUkHTES -
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Bk 120 - - 284 - 404
Mr. Lam Williamson HEEEE 180 - - 284 - 464
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen ERERE 120 - - 284 - 404
Dr. Lam Lee G. HRERLT 240 - - 284 - 524
660 12,596 86 22,829 60 36,231
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS EFZEVER

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,

in any contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the

Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during

the year. Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors has had any

direct or indirect interest in any assets which have been acquired or disposed

of by, or leased to, or which are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, or

leased to, any member of the Group during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors had
any beneficial interests (including interests or short positions) in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures

Ordinance (“SFO”

) which would be required to be notified to the Compan

and the Stock Excemnge pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SF

(including the interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which will be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
in that section, or will be required, pursuant to the Model Code in the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Long positions in the shares of the Company

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name of Directors
EERE

Zhang Xiaobin
REW

Gao Feng (Note 1)
Bl (f5£1)

Chiu Sui Keung
HimE

Sun Qiang
B

Zhang Yichun

Xu Ying

Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond
K3

Lam Williamson

HEE

WonggHoi Kuen

&8

Lam Lee G.
HxRE

Note:

Interest in shares/
Underlying shares

R ARERRZER

Shares
g
Share options

BRE

Shares

R

Shares

R o

Shares options

B

Shares

i)

Share options

BRE

Share options

BRE

Shares
gy
Share options

BRE

Shares
& 1

Share options

BRE

Shares
ar)
Share options

BRE

Shares
gy
Share options

BRE

Shares
& 1

Share options

BkE

Shares
igr)
Share options

BRE

1. Mr. Gao Feng is beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of ACE

Channel Limited.

EEREETHRARRES « AREGERE
STHARKE

RTXEBEEN RAZZE—NEF=A=+—H0 #E
EERAQAREFMBEE LT (AEBEZRBEKRG
((BEREBEGRAG ) EXVEBIBF 2 RE) 2B M5
HERODRE5PEERERE SN MERAEXVE G
BRSO WMBEMEANBAREIM(BERBEIZS R
HEGRA 2 BERGRIHEEFESIRERAEEZ2ERR K
2) RIEE 5 & G 575 5835 215 7B 50 8 A sz AR B P
Mo BERMREREZESANGEAQNARBEI M2
EREZEDE (BEEZIRE) °
REATRGZHA

RADTDRODREERD 2FR

Number of shares/

Ca{guciry Underlying shares held
L 5 B% M ZEE
BeneFLcial owner 42,460,000
BREAA

Beneficial owner 22,500,000
BREEA

Beneficial owner 32,082,000
EREEA

Inferest of a controlled corporation 89,000,000
BEZEHLAzER

Beneficial owner 30,500,000
BREEA

Beneficial owner 28,271,000
BREEA

BeneFLcial owner 30,500,000
BEREEA

Beneficial owner 24,460,000
BREEA

Beneficial owner 1,000,000
EREEA

Beneficial owner 22,500,000
BEREEA

Beneficial owner 1,000,000
BEREEA

Beneficial owner 22,500,000
BREEA

Beneficial owner 2,181,000
BREEA

Beneficial owner 1,000,000
BRERA

Beneficial owner 2,181,000
EREEA

Beneficial owner 1,000,000
BEREEA

Beneficial owner 2,181,000
BEEEA

Beneficial owner 1,000,000
BEREEA

BeneFLciaI owner 1,000,000
BREEA

Beneficial owner 2,181,000
BREEA

Hiat -
1. BIgEEBEZREABACE Channel Limitedz 2B E 3
TR -
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the Company’s share options scheme are set out in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, no share option was granted and
exercised while 37,508,000 (after share consolidation) share options lapsed
respectively. As at 31 March 2019, 273,417,000 share options remained
outstanding.

The Group did not recognise any share-based payment during the year ended
31 March 2019 (2018: approximately HK$10,273,000) in relation to share
options granted by the Company.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board has approved the adoption of the Share Award Scheme (the “Old
Share Award Scheme”) on 11 February 2011, pursuant to which existing
shares will be purchased by the Bank of East Asia (Trustees) Limited (the
“Trustee”) from the market at the cost of the Company and be held in trust. On
9 March 2011, the Board approved and transferred HK$5,000,000 to the
Trustee. As at 31 March 2019, 5,050,000 (after share consolidation) shares
were purchased and held by the Trustee, representing approximately 0.18%
(2018: approximately 0.19%) of the issued share capital of the Company. No
award shares have been granted to any persons since the commencement of the
Old Share Award Scheme.

On 27 June 2017 (the “Adoption Date”), the Board resolved to terminate the
Old Share Award Scheme with immediate effect. Such termination shall not
affect the shares awarded by the Board under the Old Share Award Scheme.
On the same day, the Board has conditionally resolved to adopt the new share
award scheme (the “New Share Award Scheme”).

The purposes and objectives of the New Share Award Scheme are to
recognise the contributions by certain employees and persons to the Group
and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for
further development of the Group. Subject to any early termination as may be
determined by the Board in accordance with the scheme rules, the New Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for 10 years from the Adoption
Date.

The Board may select any individual or corporate entity being a Director
(including executive and non-executive Director), employee, officer, agent,
advisor, consultant or business partner of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and other persons who/which in the opinion of the Board has contributed
or will contribute to the growth and development of the Group (the “Eligible
Participant(s)”) for participation in the New Share Award Scheme and
determine the number of the awarded shares to be awarded to the selected
participants (the “Selected Participants”).

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 i # it A B A 5 - Annual Report 2019 4

EEBMARGBRGZEF

BRRGE M BMRMEIAREEN  A2F - HE
IR B R EAE MM B D BEF AR LEMR
HEES HERBZEBRISEUT 2 FLAER
AXRBHEEMEMEABRBZRDBESMEE -

RERR Rt @
ARBERET B 2 FBERNGEMBMRM T3S -

REBEZZ-NEF=ZA=+—-HLFE XERHERT
EEE IR - HHRE37,508,0001) 88 IR & (AR 1D & B
BIRB -MRZB-NF=ZA=+—H 273,417,000
1 B8 BR AR [ RATE o

AEERBE-ZE-NFZA=ZT+T—BLFEIER
RARBREBRERITAURD G 2RE (=22
— N\ 410,273,000 7T) °

B% {7 82 By 51 &1

EEER T F-RA T+ AL EEMARGDER
sTEI((ERDEBEED o 1k > Bank of East Asia
(Trustees) Limited ([ ZFEA D) S ERTHB AL UET
EXFERERD (BEAXEABARARAAIZMNT) -RZF
——E=ANB ESSHAEREERS5000,000% T
FETIA - RZB-AE=ZA=1+—0  STACHE
Bir#5HE5,050,000 4 (RIRMBEHFE) A
FAEBITRANI18% (ZE—N\F : 40.19%) - B
EROREBSTEMEANER  BEEMATERERR
ﬁ °

AZE-LFERNAZTER(HRKBEH)  ESER
REILEERDRBE . BFER - BELEBRE
EESSCRBERORBHEARTZRG -FA -
EZEERGBARARMATRORBTE (HROERD
stElD o

FBRORBHEACENREERAEFAEEETREE
RATzERAATRE BRBBRSEE/TE
BeHEEERBRRYN  UARAEFEB ZE D
BRI GEAT  -BRIFEZSRTRAERARAL
1k B BT IR SRt B A Fa R A B AR AR R M
10FBRK -

EZEREEMNIOBEAQNTNES (BEAITRIEH
TES) EE - TEAE - (E FHRA BEEZIE
BREZEAALTREZE  SIEEAMBIRARES
ERAEAEEERIBREEHMISEERERHZ
Ht AL ((RERSEE) ZEFMRORBE X
THEEENEME2EE ((KREZEE )REZ
RBROHE -



Report of the Directors

EESERE

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

If the Board selects a director as the Selected Participant, the grant of the
Awarded Shares to a Director may constitute a connected transaction of the
Company. However, since the grant of awarded shares to Director forms part
of the remuneration of the relevant Director under his/her service contract, such
grant of awarded shares is exempted from all the reporting, announcement and
independent Shareholder’s approval requirement under Rules 14A.31(6) of the
Listing Rules.

For the award shares granted to the Selected Participants who are connected
persons (excluding Directors), the Company will comply with the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules in relation to the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements. However, any grant to any
Director or senior management of the Company must first be approved by the
Remuneration Committee.

There was no purchase of shares by the Trustee under the New Share Award
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2019.

For further details, please refer to Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND INTERESTS
DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 March 2019, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued share
capital of the Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be

kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

FERREBEESRY
ZiED

RIGHATHRE

RZB-AF=ZA=+—B  XRAFAESBITRAS%H

UEZTHESZDERARTAREFZFRBE
A FEZREERLMA -

5 {5kl 26

Approximate
percentage of
existing issued
ordinary share

Number of capital of the Company

Name of shareholders Note shares interested Nature of interests Capacity (Note 2)

EELRARFERT

EERBRFZBENESHL

BRREE &R i #HREQZKROHBE HIKE g% (P &E2)

Ms. Liv Qivhua 358,817,000  Long positions Beneficial owner 12.87%
gRELL #a BEREEAA

ACE Channel Limited 1 89,000,000  Long positions Inferest of a controlled corporation 3.19%

("ACE Channel”) 3y BEZEALAZER

Mr. Gao Feng 1 151,582,000 Long positions Beneficial owner 5.44%

BELE #a EREEAA
Notes: B

1. Mr. Gao Feng is beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of
ACE Channel. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
89,000,000 shares beneficially owned by ACE Channel.

2. The shareholding percentage is calculated based on the issued share capital of
the Company as at 31 March 2019.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year, save for the service contracts of the Directors, the Company
had not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to
manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of the

Company.
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Report of the Directors

EESERE

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

On 8 March 2017, Zhongnongxin Supply Chain Management Company
Limited (“Zhongnongxin”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Supply Agreement with Zhongshang Huimin (Beijing)
E-Commerce Co. Ltd. (“Huimin”) and Mr. Zhang Yichun (“Mr. Zhang”) who
is a non-executive Director and Vice-Chairman of the Company and also a
Chairman of the board of directors and a shareholder of Huimin whereby,
among other things. Huimin agreed to purchase from Zhongnongxin and
Zhongnongxin agreed to supply the specific products to Huimin at market
prices from 8 March 2017 to 7 March 2022. Zhongnongxin was required to
pay to Huimin the performance deposit of RMB50,000,000 (the “Performance
Deposit”) on and subject to the terms of the Supply Agreement. As agreed
by the parties to the Supply Agreement, Zhongnongxin shall be the exclusive
procurement, processing and supply agent in the PRC in respect of the Products
for Huimin during the tenure of the Supply Agreement.

The Performance Deposit is interest-free and unsecured and Huimin agreed to
pay the Performance Deposit to Zhongnongxin in full within six months from
the date of payment. The Performance Deposit is interest-free and secured by
personal guarantee of Mr. Zhang. The repayment date of the Performance
Deposit has been extended till 16 September 2018 pursuant to two
supplemental agreements to the Supply Agreement dated 11 September 2017
and 1 March 2018. On 30 May 2019, a supplemental agreement was entered
into among the parties and it was agreed that Huimin shall repay the remaining
balances of the Performance Deposit on or before 16 December 2019. As at
31 March 2019, the balance of the Performance Deposit was approximately
RMB48,000,000. The said supplemental agreement contains a clause that the
Group shall have the right to demand repayment of the outstanding sum on or
before the due date. Approximately RMB1,800,000 out of the Performance
Deposit was repaid subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2019.

EXEW

REZZB-—EtF=ZANE  ARAZBEZENBELF
TREHEREEEERLR (HEF) BhEHER (1t
REFBEBEERARA (FHERDREFRADAF
BITESRBEFEURTHERESRRRR 2R —
FhRE (TRAED T HERR - Bt (HPaHE) -
THERBER-Z-—LFZANHEZZ=ZF=
RtRfiEZTEATRERB(MPREIEZAF
BAERME) EESRER FREARREEHZE
HFRETHERI N BHREES ARES50,000,0005T
(TBHREL]) KEERHBERZITNFHE  PEE
EREEGENERHANEETTEERRBEAER
ZHEBRMIRMEEKRER -

BHRELAEEREBER THERRBENTER
XNBEARBEZHEH ANAEARNAHRENEZH
BARZEE BARBFLAREREREERHEA
ER -REMOBEPAR-ZE-—tFILA+-BE=%
—N\FZA-HNWHEHBE2ERHE BARES
ZEREBEHREERZE-Z-NFAATAH - R=F
—NFERB=1H » &R TR 7 173 3 175 E
BMERER-Z-NF+ZATBRZAEERT
BHREE RZZE-—NFZA=+—-H BHRE
SHEN R ARYA8,000,0007T © 2 7 3R] A %
FoRAAEEARERREERERIH B ZA
BHE BHARBZEFEHARKEB800,0007T R E
EZEZ-NFZAZT-BLEFEREE-
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EESERE

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

Pursuant to the smart terminal and mobile terminal ordering platform
cooperation agreement (the “Cooperation Agreement”) dated 2 August 2017
between Huimin and Esmart Technology Co., Ltd. (“Esmart Technology”)
whereby the parties agreed that, among other things, Esmart Technology
shall provide Huimin and its associated clients with smart terminals on an
exclusive basis and in return, Huimin shall pay 0.6% of the total operating
revenue to be confirmed by Huimin to Esmart Technology. As at 31 March
2019, Esmart Technology provided Huimin and its associated clients with a
total of 2,626 smart terminals and the total technical service fee payable but
not paid by Huimin amounted to RMB12,000,000. The parties entered into
a supplemental agreement to the Cooperation Agreement on 12 June 2019
whereby it was agreed that, among other things, (i) the outstanding technical
service fee of RMB12,000,000 shall be repaid on or before 31 May 2020
(with RMB300,000 per month between June 2019 and November 2019,
RMB400,000 per month between December 2019 and April 2020 and
RMB8,200,000 payable no later than 31 May 2020); (ii) the technical service
fee to be received by Esmart Technology during the two years since 12 June
2019 shall be RMB1,533,584, charged on the basis of RMB0.8 per day per
smart terminal; and (i) the ownership of the smart terminals shall be transferred
to Huimin and/or its associated clients on 12 June 2020 by a nominal
consideration of RMB1.

Except from the above, no other contracts of significance between the Company
or any of its subsidiary companies and a controlling shareholder of the
Company or may compete with the business of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transaction(s) as set out in Note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements also constituted connected transaction(s) under the Listing
Rules. Details of such connected transaction(s) of the Group during the year is/
are set out below.

On 11 September 2014, Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino Talent”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as lender, entered into a loan agreement
(the “Loan Agreement”) with Graceful Ocean International Group Holding
Limited (“Graceful Ocean”) as borrower and Mr. Ma Haike as first guarantor
whereby Sino Talent agreed to advance to Graceful Ocean a term loan in the
principal amount of HK$18 million (the “Loan”) with interest accrued at the rate
of 13% per annum. The parties entered into five supplemental agreements to the
Loan Agreement between April 2015 and June 2018 to, among other things,
postpone the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March 2019. On 24 June 2019,
the parties and Mr. Gao Feng (“Mr. Gao”) entered into the sixth supplemental
agreement to the Loan Agreement with the interest rate of 10% per annum, to
further postpone the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March 2020. Meanwhile,
as an additional security of the repayment obligations of the Borrower under
the Loan Agreement (as supplemented by the six supplemental agreements), Mr.
Gao, an executive Director and the vice-chairman of the Board, entered into a
second guarantee contract (“Mr. Gao’s Second Guarantee”) with Sino Talent
and Graceful Ocean whereby Mr. Gao agreed to act as the second guarantor
and in the event and only when Mr. Ma failed to or refused to fulfill its guarantee
obligations as the first guarantor, guarantee the due performance of Graceful
Ocean in respect of its repayment obligations under the Loan Agreement (as
supplemented by the six supplemental agreements). As at 31 March 2019,
the total outstanding amount of the Loan and the interest accrued thereon was
approximately HK$23,686,000.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHG

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

As at the date of Mr. Gao’s Second Guarantee, Mr. Gao is an executive
Director and the vice-chairman of the Board and is therefore a connected
person of the Company. Mr. Gao’s Second Guarantee therefore constituted a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter T4A of the Listing Rules.
However, Mr. Gao’s Second Guarantee is conducted on normal commercial
terms or better terms and is not secured by the assets of the Group. In this
regard, it is exempt from all requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

So far as the Directors were aware, none of the Directors or their associates
had any interest in a business that competes or may compete with the business
of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH CG CODE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate governance
through the establishment and adoption of good practices and procedures
which are in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The
Company has applied the principles and complied with all code provisions of
the CG Code throughout the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

Details of compliance with the Model Code by directors of the Company is
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 21 to 38 of this annual
report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the date of this report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Details of the composition of the Audit Committee and the major work
performed by the Audit Committee during the year is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 21 to 38 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited be nominated for appointment as the auditors of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Zhang Xiaobin
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 June 2019
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEHRES

B oo m EH AR

Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

HLB

31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Elife Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 60 to 175, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2019 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountant (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEHRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

MRFEHER

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

WE - BERREBIE

Refer to Note 4(ii) and 16 to the consolidated financial statements

F2REE VBRI R16-

As of 31 March 2019, the Group had property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$28,008,000. A recent history of losses incurred of the
subsidiaries of the Group. There is an indicator of impairment for property,
plant and equipment and hence the management of the Group performed an
impairment assessment on the property, plant and equipment. An impairment
loss on property, plant and equipment of approximately of HK$7,918,000
was recognised for the year. This conclusion was based on the selection
of appropriate comparables and assumptions such as discount rate, future
revenue. The Group engaged an external valuer to perform the valuation for
the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment. Independent
external valuation were obtained in order to support management’s
estimates.

RZZB-NE=ZA=+—-H X EBEEEEYX BER®RHEH%28,008,000
B BEEBzZHBAREFEREBR WX BERRBDIEFERED
g Al BEXEEEEEHYE BERREETAENE XFEEER
M BERRBZHEREN7,918,0008 T - WERDENIREE 2T
BHBEARRBR  WFRE - RRRASEL - EBEFEZEATEES
MM E R

T FIR (1)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

B EstmMMEERRETER

Our procedures in relation to management's impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment included:
HHERERWE  MERRBIET ZRENG BN
ETZRFERE:

J Evaluating the independent valuer’s competence,
capabilities and objectivity;

AEBEMZER  EIRFEMN

J Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumption based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using
our valuation experts;
EEEMEEEATEZANBREEERZER - /¥
EAERA 2 ERBERBRZIREMY

o Challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
business and industry; and
REEMEEBRTE2OE  FEEMRAZER
BERZEEE R

o Checking, on a sampling basis, the accounting

and relevance of the input data used.

WMEREMRA 2B ARE 2 EEE KRB -

We found that the assumptions made by management for
impairment assessment were supported by the available
evidence.

EMRAEERMRENEIEZBREIREBRIEXSE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

MRFEHER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BEZ A EE

Refer to Notes 4(iii), 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements

F2RRE W B|RM () - 19%20 -

The Group had goodwill of approximately HK$18,320,000 relating to the
esmart digital services respectively as at 31 March 2019. Management
performed impairment assessment of goodwill and concluded that an
impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$4,807,000 was
recognised in relation to the esmart digital services. This conclusion was
based on value-in-use model that required significant management judgement
with respect to the discount rate and the underlying cashflows, in particular
future revenue growth and capital expenditure. Independent external
valuation were obtained in order to support management’s estimates.
EREER-ZE-NAF=ZA=Z+-ANERBERBEEEEHELN18,320,000%
T BEECHBEETRENG IR ERBBERBEIABEZRESE
#%4,807,000/8 T - LERDERERAEEEASY  AFEEEEHITR
ZREABARERE  HRRHARRBABRREAAFHERKE - EX
BAE 2t FERB L IMEEESREF -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

B EstmMMEERRETER

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of goodwill included:
HHEEEENEEMET 2RMENE  RAETZREFE
&

o Evaluating of the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

AEBEZER  EOIRFEMN

o Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using
our valuation experts;
EEEMEBERTE2ABREEERZER 7
KRBz ERERBRZIBE.

o Challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
business and industry; and
REEMEBEBRTE2OE  FEEMRAZER
BEZ2EEME &

J Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

WMERREMRAZBARE 2 BB REEM -

We found the key assumptions made by management for
impairment assessment were supported by the available
evidence.
EMASEERMBEN LA EZHRBRREARERRE
¥
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters
ARFHER

Allowance for expected credit losses assessment on trade and other
receivables

EZREMERHEZEEEEEREETG

Refer to Notes 4(v), 5, Note 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FSHGEEUBRRMETEA(v) ~ 5 28K24 -

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$19,444,000 and HK$92,778,000 respectively.
The provision of allowance for expected credit losses of approximately
HK$1,400,000 and HK$76,032,000 respectively.
RZZE-AF=ZRA=+—-0 EEEZEFEZRAMEBRIAINNS
19,444,000587TK% 92,778,000/ T - REBAEEBEEHFE D 451,400,000
BTKk76,032,0008 T °

Management performed periodic assessment on the recoverability of the
trade and other receivables and the sufficiency of provision for allowance
for expected credit losses based on information including credit profile of
different customers or debtors, ageing of the trade and other receivables to
historical settlement records, subsequent settlement status, expected timing
and amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and on-going trading
relationships with the relevant customers or debtors. Management also
considered forward-looking information that may impact the customers’
or debtors ability to repay the outstanding balances in order to estimate
the expected credit losses for the allowance for expected credit losses
assessment.
EEECRBEEEENMESREMEBRRETREHREREEHRERA
ZROMETERTME  FREHNESRITRAEFREBAZEELE BEFR
HiBWRIE 2R - BLAFERLHE  HEGEKR BHSRREEEHR
KEREHE  UREFHETEFIEBACENSEESEREEF - EEESTZ
BAHEFAERANEEREEER NIRRT EZAREMEER - LUIEEE
HEEBRBEIEH HEREERE -

We focused on this area due to the allowance for expected credit losses
assessment of trade and other receivables under expected credit losses
model involved the use of significant management judgements and estimates.
BEMEITE-—FTHRHNREEHNCESERATHE S R EMERRIEET
ZEMGEFEREIEIREERBELERAE R MG -

T FIR (1)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters
BEfEMMEERRTENER

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment on trade and other receivables included:
SHHEEENE S K EMEWFIRAET 2 RERFL - HM
ETZRFEE

Understanding and evaluating the key controls
that the Group has implemented to manage and
monitor its credit risk, and validating the control
effectiveness on a sample basis;

TRILTE SEEREEREREHEERMBATK
Bz T EEGIEE - WA EEAIEE R

Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing
profile of the trade and other receivables to the
underlying financial records and post year-end
settlements to bank receipts;

MRS ESHEMBLCEIEE S REMERIE
EREURBRITHRBMBcFEBUNBZEE

Inquiring of management for the status of each of
the material trade and other receivables past due
as at year end and corroborating explanations
from management with supporting evidence, such
as performing public search of credit profile of
selected customers or debtors, understanding on-
going business relationship with the customers
based on trade records, checking historical
and subsequent settlement records of and other
correspondence with the customers or debtors;
and

NEEESHARTES REMEBRRERE R 2EH
MR - WRBEEE2BR MEBALRENS
BERMEEFREBAZEERR - RBEH L
TRERF ZENSEEGIRER BREFFN
BERACEENMERGEELERAMETSHEHR
AZBNXHERE R

Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining
the key data inputs on a sample basis to assess
their accuracy and completeness, and challenging
the assumptions, including both historical and
forward-looking information, used to determine
the expected credit losses.
TEERCEBB BRI E2REN - HEER
TEZBEBABUFGHEERER TBME  URE
ERNEERMEEEENAZRR  BRELR
AIREMEE R o

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables and determine the impairment provision to be
supportable by available evidence.

RARHH T E S R H A FERGRIE 2 7] W B4 & B E R E
BEAEZEEBHBRAETSIREREXS -
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEHRES

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the
“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other
Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, we

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEHRES

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not defecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

BEMEMBFH RS M ERREZRE ()

ERB(EREAENETES 2BRED - KMIER
TEEHAE RIS TEXREEE - BRFATF
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e B BERENEEIERIZDHMBEMNEDRR
B EENENRR  UWEHESUBERREE
2R -RMEE SKREZISZAD - BEENY
T-RMABTERAEZIESE-
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEHRES

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’
report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: P06901

Hong Kong, 28 June 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehenswe ncome

mReEaRkRHEMEZERESR

For the year ended 31 Morch 2019 BZE-Z-NF=ZA=+—HIFE

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other losses — net

Selling expenses

Other operating expenses

Share-based payment

Impairment loss on goodwill

Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment

Net impairment losses recognised
in respect of trade and other receivables

Share of results of associates

Loss from operating activities

Finance costs

Loss before tax

Taxation

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
ltems that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations
Share of exchange differences of associates

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year

CE S
HERA

E7

H Al A

HbE s - F8

HERX

Ht & B X

AR AD 2 A 2 FROE
BEZREFE

W BERREHERSE

HREZRAMERS
HERRFHR
DILEE AR EE

RIR TR

REXBER

BMERAE

BRELAIEB R

i

FFEEEGIR

Hth2mE(BH) hE
HETREHIE

BEBMEXEB CELEZH

DEBEAREN EH

FEEHMEE(BE) Ba

Total comprehensive loss for the year ZEE2HKERE

ZERZHER:

2019

—E-hFE

Notes HK$’000
R EE F#&xT
6 89,373
(83,585)

5,788

7 2,480
7 (1,065)
(14,381)

(67,130)

36 -
19 (4,807)
16 (7,918)
(73,687)

18 -
8 (160,720)
9 (457)
(161,177)

12 -
(161,177)

(10,193)

18 -
(10,193)

(171,370)

2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
FBT

153,039
(143,728)

9,311
2,175
(1,131)
(6,268)
(90,091}
(45,684)
(1,379)
(5,549)

(5,775)

(144,391)

(115)

(144,506)

(144,506)

13,995
63

14,058

(130,448)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehenswe ncome

mReEaRHEMEZERESR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #H=z

“E-NFZAZTHUEFE

2019 2018
ZZ—hE —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
g3 TERT FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: BERTIHALTZAFEESSE
Owners of the Company RAREEBA (138,609) (126,655)
Non-controlling interests FERER (22,568) (17,851)
(161,177) (144,506}
Total comprehensive loss for the year BERTHALZ
attributable to: AEE2HEBEEARE:
Owners of the Company RKATER A (147,206) (112,977)
Non-controlling interests FERERE (24,164) (17,477)
(171,370) (130,448)
(Restated)
(REH)
Loss per share BRIGR
- Basic —EK 15 (6.5) centsi#&(il (5.0) centsiEAl
— Diluted — 58 15 (6.5) centsi#E(l (5.0) centsiEAl

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB AR O &R

At 31 March 2019 ZZ—AF=F=+—H

2019
—E-hF
Notes HK$’000
MIEE FE&T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE BERRE 16 28,008
Goodwill HE 19 18,320
Available-for-sale financial asset AHEENKEE 21 -
Financial asset at fair value through other BAFETFARMEEKG
comprehensive income ZHEEE 21 1,313
47,641
Current assets mEBEE
Inventories 7E 22 10,952
Trade and bill receivables BEENFERERZE 23 30,601
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables BE - FANREREMERTE 24 118,902
Cash and cash equivalents HE MRS ZEER 25 19,383
Total current assets mBEERE 179,838
Less: Current liabilities i RBAR
Trade payables B EARE 26 7,558
Accrued liabilities and other payables 2FEERAEMEMNFRE 27 32,743
Contract liabilities EHasE 27 1,374
Amount due to shareholders EARRRE 28 4,103
Other borrowings HE&E 30 23,353
Bank borrowings RITHRE 31 329
Obligations under finance leases RE R ERE 32 950
Total current liabilities mBERRE 70,410
Net current assets REEESRE 109,428
Total assets less current liabilities HERERTDHAR 157,069
Less: Non-current liabilities i ERBDAR
Amounts due to shareholders EARRRIE 28 14,555
Amounts due to non-controlling interests IR ES RE 29 8,485
Obligations under finance leases mEEERIE 32 2,280
25,320
Net assets HESE 131,749

2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
FHBT

43,157
23,127

66,285

8,401
27,007
195,648
7,867

238,923

20,705

542

720

21,970

216,953

Annual Report 2019 4:# - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED %) 2 3 # g 3 B 2> %]

62



63

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB AR O &R

At 31 March 2019 ZZ—AF=/A=+—H

Capital and reserves B & K & o
Share capital R
Reserves 1

Equity aftributable to owners of the Company  ZNABEHE AE(GERE

Non-controlling interests JFHERER

Total equity L E=301

2019

—E-hF

Notes HK$’000
B & FEXT

34 55,755
129,071

184,826

(53,077)

131,749

2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
FHBT

51,922

234,553

286,475

(28,670)

257,805

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2019
and signed on its behalf by:

Zhang Xiaobin
REEHE

Director

EE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

HELFHA ABL
Shares
(Accumulated held
Share losses)/  for share Share Non-
Share  premium  Exchange retained award options Other controlling Total
capital account reserves  earnings scheme reserve reserve  Sub-total interests equity
B
(BHER)/ L 1] FER
Bx  RRERE EfEE RERA ik L1 R it #8 ]

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
Tin T Tin T Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin

Note 35[b)| Note 35[b)|
(HE350b)) (HE35[0))

A1 Apil 2017 HZE-+ERA-B BN 9635 W2 ST W9 e8S0s [ M9S% (208 3747
Loss for the year KEEFR - - - (126,655) - - - (126,635) (17851)  [144,506)
Other comprehensive income AEEEM2ENE

for the year - - 13,678 - - - - 13,678 380 14,058
Total comprehensive loss REELEAE

for e yer 85 - SR (12665 ; - S (74 (1304
Share options granted REBRE - - - - - 10273 - 10273 - 10273
Share options exercised EERE 507 7,010 - - - 2,199) - 5319 - 5319
Share options lapsed EREXN - - - 9,274 - (9,274) - - - -
Grant of shares under shore award ~~ BERBLBEH AR HRH

scheme 2494 32917 - - - - - 3541 - 35411
Share issuing expenses SVl - (7 - - - - - U] - Ul
Acquisition of subsidicries WERELT - - - - - - - - (213] (213]
Release of nonconfrolling interests BB SRER - - - - - - [1,097) 1,097) 1,097 -
At 31 March 2018 H-2-NFZB=t-A 51922 236,295 9,392 (60,660) (4,986) 67,307 [12,759) 286,475 28,670) 257,805
Impoct on inifil opplication ENERERNBRSEY

ol HKFRS 9 ourpe - - - B ; - - B oy B
At 1 April 2018 [restoted) R-Z-NEMA-A(EES) 51922 236,255 9,392 (64,162) (4,986) 67,307 [12,759) 282,973 28,913) 254,060
Loss for the year KEEFR - - - (138,609) - - - (138,609) [22,568)  [161,177)
Other comprehensive loss REEABRAEE

for the year - - (8,597) - - - - (8,597) (1,59) (10,193)
Totol comprehensive loss AEEREER

for e yeor 85 - SR [13B460) ; - S e Al (71T
Share options lapsed BREAN = - - 7,636 - [7,636) - s - -
Subscription of shares ERR 3,833 45,239 - - - - - 49072 = 9,072
Share issuing expenses BIRBER = (13) = = = = = (13) - (13)
At 31 March 2019 RIZ-1EZA=1-A 35,755 281,481 795 (195,135) (4,986) 59,671 (12,759) 184,826 53,077) 131,749
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial BEMf oM B A G S I T e - — 25 o
statements.

Annual Report 2019 4 # - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4: i £ J§t 45 HL 2 7] 64



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERNER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

65

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 i # it A B A 5 - Annual Report 2019 4

2019 2018
ZE-hETF —E-N\EF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FiEE FHET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities BREXBZRERE
Loss for the year REEEE (161,177) (144,5006)
Adjustments for: EHUTHEE
Finance costs BE A 9 457 115
Interest income FE WA 7 (2,118) (2,1271)
Net exchange losses BEREIE R 7 71 1,131
Share-based payment LR X4 2 FRIE - 45,684
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERZRBZINE
equipment 16 7,058 5,082
Net impairment losses recognised BEZREMERAERZ
in respect of trade and other receivables WEE BT 73,687 -
Impairment loss on goodwill BEZREERE 19 4,807 1,379
Impairment loss on property, ME- - BERRZEZHEBEEE
plant and equipment 16 7,918 5,549
Share of results of associates DILBE N EEE - 5,775
Loss on written off of property, MEME BERZBZEE
plant and equipment 54 265
Loss on disposal of property, HEVE BERRBZER
plant and equipment - 1,126
Loss on disposal of financial asset at HERAFEFAEMMZAKRE 2
fair value through other MBEEZES
comprehensive income 1 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB A8z ks (32) -
Operating loss before working REFBE RFTEELESED
capital changes (69,274) (80,521)
Increase in inventories FEEM (2,551) (8,401)
Increase in trade and bill receivables B RBRERERERE
# (4,994) (26,811)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, BE - FANREREAMER
prepayments and other receivables RIEH D () 1,281 (10,978)
Increase in trade payables B 5 EARIEEM 7,555 3
Increase in accrued liabilities and 28 EREMESTRIE
other payables ¥ 12,794 5717
Increase in contract liabilities BREGEEM 1,374 -
(Decrease)/increase in amounts EARERFE(GRD) /i
due to shareholders (656) 15,212
Increase in amounts due to non-controlling FE A 3F 122 R HE 2= SR TE AT N
interests 115 8,370
Cash used in operations KEERBH RS (54,356) (97,409)
Interest received 2 WFE 12 15
Net cash used in activities BEXBDRAZHEBH (54,344) (97,394)



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HzE=-ZT—

NE=A=+—RALEE

2019 2018
~B-NEF —E-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt 5 TFHET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities BAETHZRERE
Net cash inflow from acquisition WEHMBARZESRANFE
of subsidiaries 24 -
Net cash used in acquisition WEHBEARBAZESFHE
of subsidiaries 37 (171) (21,988)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE BERRE (885) (20,13¢)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BERREZFMEBRIE
plant and equipment 4 7
Net cash used in investing activities RAGDHBRAZHQSH (1,028) (42,117)
Cash flows from financing activities METBZRA&RE
Repayment of obligation under finance leases {EHiERIEHRERKE (964) (636)
Proceeds from other borrowings HitbfE B 2B RE 23,353 -
Proceeds from bank borrowings BITEEZABRE 8,103 -
Repayment of bank borrowings RITHEZEN (7,774) -
Increase in amounts due to shareholders Eﬁ'ﬂﬁi % T8 H2 0 4,093 -
Proceeds from exercise of share options THEEREZRBRIE - 5,319
Proceeds from subscription of shares RERMD ZFBMRE 49,072 -
Share issuing expenses ﬂﬁ‘fﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁi‘i (13) (7)
Interest paid EATFE (334) (115)
Net cash generated from METHEEZRSE
financing activities BH 75,536 4,561
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HeRBAEFEHHE
cash equivalents 1/ (RY) 2@ 20,164 (134,950)
Cash and cash equivalents at FOzBeRA&EEHEHR
beginning of the year 7,867 132,453
Effect of exchange rate changes BIIBERBCEFEHZILE
foreign operations (8,648) 10,364
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRZESRESSEHEH
of the year 19,383 7,867
Analysis of balances of cash and HeRBEFERBBRSH
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances RERIBITHEER 19,383 7,867

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Elife Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered
office of the Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at Unit 806, Level 8, Core D,
Cyberport 3, 100 Cyberport Road, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries include engaging trading businesses across
Asia as well as in a technology, hardware and software service provider
that focuses on the provision of smart retail information service as its core
business with a reliance on the comprehensive application of internet,
cloud computing, artificial intelligence and big data to build an online
to offline smart retail operation and marketing platform. It has also been
expanding its businesses into the consumer products market conforming
to the Group’s business principle of “making life easier and benefiting
people’s livehood” (B43E » BER4). The principal activities, other
particulars of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency of the Company and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when
otherwise indicated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”)

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the

“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)  Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

HKFRS 4 (Amendments)  Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and
related Amendments

Clarification to HKFRS 15 Revenue from
contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 (Amendments)

HKAS 28 (Amendments) As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

HKAS 40 (Amendments)

Transfers of Investment Property
HK(IFRIC) Int 22 Foreign currency transactions and advance
consideration

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and prior periods and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(a) Impact on the consolidated financial

statements

The following tables show the adjustments recognised for each
individual line item. Line items that were not affected by the
application of new HKFRSs have not been included. As a result,
the sub-totals and totals disclosed cannot be recalculated from the
numbers provided. The adjustments are explained in more detail by
standard below.

Consolidated statement of
financial position (extract)

GeMBRAE (M%)

2. ERAMITRESITIEFRMBBEEN
((EEMBHEEERN]) (&)

(o) HiFSMEBEBRRZRE

TR EER D HIEERRB 2 HE -
FERHAIEEUBRELEAMZIHE 2D E
HEYWEBEERN - Bt - TRERAREMZ
HFEHNAEMREZ N REFEF B
BB BRT NEREEFAERE -

Non-current assets

Availablefor-sale financial asset

Financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Current assets
Trade and bills receivables
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

Current liabilities
Accrued liabilities and other payables
Contract liabilities

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Net assets

Capital and reserves
Accumulated losses

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

FRBHEE

THHENBEE

BRAVEFARMMEERE
ZHBEE

mENRE

22 RUGRERERERE

ZEE - ANFRREAM
FEWR SRR

mERRE
At B EREMENTE
EHEaE

mERESE
HERERADAR
HESE

B & R 6k i
2t

FFiERER
L =100 ]

At At

31 March 1 April
2018 HKFRS 9  HKFRS 15 2018

B® B
ZB-0\F FEMBHE FREMEBEE ZB-0\f
=ZA=+-H BRSO EAE15% mA—A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TEL TR

1 (M - -

- 1 - 1

27,007 (669) - 26,338
195,648 (3,076) - 192572
20,705 - (1,007) 19,698

- - 1,007 1,007
216,953 (3,745) - 213,208
283,238 (3,745) - 279,493
257,805 (3,745) - 254,060
(60,660) (3,502) - (64,162)
(28,670) (243) . (28,913)
257,805 (3,745 - 254,060

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Impacts on changes in accounting policies of application
on HKFRS 9 “Financial Instrument”

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” and the related consequential amendments to
other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for (1) the
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, (2) expected credit losses (“ECL") for financial assets and
(3) general hedge accounting.

(b) EEMBEEERER I MB T
a1

EREEMBEHEENEORI MBI MR
EEZEHBREHZIHE

RAFE  AEECERAEBUBREEL
EOWMIMBTA I REME B EREER
ZRBEEEER A - BB BHREENF
SREIABBUTAEZHRE  (1)HBE
ERVBEBEZIERTE QUEEE
2ERHEESE (FEREEBED 5 R(3)
—REFETFEER L ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZ=ZZ—-hF=A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impacts on changes in accounting policies of application
on HKFRS 9 “Financial Instrument” (continued)

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the transition
provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the classification and
measurement requirements (including impairment) retrospectively
to instruments that have not been derecognised as at 1 April 2018
(date of initial application) and has not applied the requirements to
instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1 April 2018.
The difference between carrying amounts as at 31 March 2018
and the carrying amounts as at 1 April 2018 are recognised in the
opening retained profits and other components of equity, without
restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared under HKAS
39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 disclosed
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9

Below illustrates the classification and measurement (including
impairment) of financial assets and financial liabilities and other
items subject to ECL under HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 at the date of
initial application, 1 April 2018.

Classification and measurement

2. ERAHITRESITIEFRMBBEEN
((EEMBHEEERN]) (&)

(b) EFEMBEREEAFEORIMB T

8| ()

CEE R R LE LD R WL
BEZOHBESHZHE(R)

AEEE R EE B I H S B HOR
CEEh {39 - ES TR LR
9% BEY  HUR-B—\FWA-A
(BRMA A LR LFERZTABN
EREBAERE2RE (BERE -
M EHR B~ \FOA—BEERLE
BAZTARBEERE - RZB—N\E=
B=+-EZEEBRR-E—N\FNA
— B2 IREEZ M0 EER Y2 R B
IR AR PHER - R L BB
BEH -

Hit - ARLEBRER D RES B ST ERE
395)€|'57H%IE! BARE2IMER &
BTHBRENTREEEFLLE -

HEAEBUMERELUEIRMELEZS
AR RNGS BB RRMFEIWE -

BRAERATEMEREENEORZLENR
B

UTHBARERERBR (=T - N\FD
B-—B)RETEBHBHRESENEINRE
BEREREIVNZHBEERERMEE
RUBEERDBEBURAEMER 2D
BERFE(BFBE) -

FREEE
AHHENKEE

Non-current assets
Available-for-sale financial asset
Financial asset at fair value through other

MBEE

comprehensive income

BAFEFAHMEERE 2

DR ITE

Impact on
At initial At
31 March application 1 April
2018 of HKFRS 9 2018
B EHXEREE ®
—E-N\F MEHSEA —E-N\F
=R=+—H BOmZHE mA—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHBT FHBT

(1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZ=ZZ—-hF=A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2. BHAHiTREEITEEMEH S 2

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) ([FEBMERSERN] (8)
(continued)
(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) (b) ERMBEREENFORIMBEL
8| ()
Summary of effects arising from initial application of BEXRERAEREMBEBSEENBEORZEEN
HKFRS 9 (continued) = (1)
Classification and measurement (continued) DRI E (E)
Note: Hat -

Reclassification from available-for-sale financial asset to financial
asset at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")

The investment in unlisted equity securities of the Group with
aggregated amount of approximately HK$1,000 as at 1 April 2018
were reclassified from available-forsale financial asset to FVTOCI.
These investments are not held for trading and not expected to be
sold in the foreseeable future. The unlisted equity securities do not
have a quoted market price in an active market and are measured at
cost less impairment at each reporting period because the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that the fair value cannot be reliably
measured.

Except the reclassification as above, there is no reclassification
or remeasurement of the financial assets, including trade and bills
receivables, deposits and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents.

The measurement categories for all financial liabilities remain the
same. The carrying amounts for all financial liabilities at 1 April
2018 have not been impacted by the initial application of HKFRS 9.

Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECL
which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade receivables. Except for those
which had been determined as credit impaired under HKAS 39,
the remaining balances are grouped based on internal credit rating
and/or past due analysis. The Group has therefore estimated the
expected loss rates for the trade receivables on the same basis.

Except for those which had been determined as credit impaired
under HKAS 39, ECL for other financial assets at amortised
cost, including deposit and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents, are assessed on 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") basis as
there had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9 (continued)
Impairment under ECL model (continued)

2. ERAMITRESITIEFRMBBEEN

((EEMBHEEERN]) (&)

(b) ERMBEEERER I MB T

8 1(#)

BRAERATEMEREENEORZLER

= (#)

BHEEEREXT 2hE (&)

All loss allowances including trade receivables and other financial
assets at amortised cost as at 31 March 2018 reconciled to the
opening loss allowances as at 1 April 2018 are as follows:

RZZE-NFZA=Z+-HZFEHBEE
% (B E S RUIER LR B bR 885
ZUBERE)ER-Z-NFNA-HZH

NEERBHERAT
Trade Other
receivables receivables Total
Hth
HEERRE BRI #aat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
At 31 March 2018 - HKAS 39 RZE-N\F=ZA=+—H-
ERBETEREI9H - - -
Amounts re-measured through BREZENAECEHE
equity 669 3,076 3,745
At 1 April 2018 — HKFRS 9 (restated) RZE—-N\FNA—H-F%
BB EEAFEIN (RES) 669 3,076 3,745
The impact of these changes on the group’s equity is as follows: titgEHAEEEE 2 ZEMT ¢
Non-

At 31 March 2018 - HKAS 39 N-E—NE=Zf=+—0 -
BAESTHERIZEIN
Impairment under ECL model EHEEFBEX T ZRE

At 1 April 2018 — HKFRS 9 (restated)
MEEAEIT (BRES)

RZB-NEFNA—-—H-&FBHE

Accumulated

controlling

losses interest
RitEBR JEERER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiExT FHET
(60,660) (28,670)
(3,502) (243)
(64,162) (28,913)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

2. ERAHIRESITIFRMBBEEN

(EFEMBEEEERN]) (&)

(continued)
() HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with (c) ERMBEEENSZISHIKAE
Customers F&zlAl

Impact on changes in accounting policies on HKFRS 15
“Revenue from contracts with customers”

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers form 1 April 2018 which resulted in changes in
accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. In accordance with the transitional
provisions in HKFRS 15, prior period comparative figures have
not been restated. The Group recognises revenue mainly form the
following major sources which arise from contracts with customers:

o Provision of services in connection with unconventional gas
and import of technical equipment for the unconventional gas
industry

e Provision of agency services and commodities trading in the
PRC, Hong Kong and overseas

e Provision of esmart digital services in the PRC

Information about the Group’s performance obligations and the
accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 15 are
disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 15

The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the date of initial
application (1 April 2018). Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

ERERMBHEEENEISRIRAERS
HZBAIFEEZERREHZE
FEEBE-Z2-N\FNA-ARMNEBHH
HEAEISHIREFPENZWAL
HEEHEARRITAZBEURREGE
BBRBRRPCEIASE AR - REFTEY
BRMELRE 155 2 BEEERE - A
BB FIREHES - RAEBEER
THRRERAREFZFEHZWA :

e RUEFERAXAKMBEIRBRSD
FERRARITERARMRE

o RAPE-EFBREIHMRMPNREE
BAmES

o RHERMEEBBERE

FRAEEZENERURRERET B
BHREEAFISEMELECETBRRZE
BIRGEE M EIMARMEIME

BXEREEMEBEBSENREISHRIRE
BmE

UTHREDREREREH (=2 —-NF
MA—-H)HREEHBRRRPEEIZ
THEL RAZEHEEBFEZHHEEL
BEEER -

HKAS 18 HKFRS 15
carrying carrying
amounts amounts
at 31 March at 1 April
2018 Reclassification 2018
REEEE REEFEME
HERISE185% HEEAUEI15%
R-Z—N\EF R-E—\F
=BR=+—H mA—AH
ZIEEE EWSM ZIREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTHET FHET
Current liabilities nENRR
Contract liabilities EHEaE - 1,007 1,007
Accrued liabilities and other payables A ERAEMENFIE 20,705 (1,007) 19,698

Annual Report 2019 4£# - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4= i ¥ Ji 45 it 4 72



73

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(c) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 15 (continued)
Presentation of assets and liabilities related to contracts with
cusfomers

The Group has also changed the presentation of the following
amounts in the consolidated statement of financial position to reflect
the terminology of HKFRS 15:

e  Contract liabilities in relation to commodities trading sales
contracts was previously included in deposit received in
advances (approximately HK$ 1,007,000 as at 1 April 2018).

Timing of revenue recognition

Except for the reclassification of the contract liabilities from deposit
received in advance of approximately of HK$1,007,000 at initial
application, HKFRS 15 was generally adopted without restating any
other comparative information. HKFRS 15 requires that revenue from
contracts with customers be recognised upon the transfer of control
over goods or services to the customer. As such, upon adoption, this
requirement under HKFRS 15 resulted in immaterial impact to the
financial statements as the timing of revenue recognition over sales of
goods and services is nearly unchanged. Thus, there was no impact
on the Group's consolidated statement of financial position as of 1
April 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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e IR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle!

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a business*
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative

Compensation'
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®
HKFRS 16 Leases'
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material®
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Amendments to HKAS 28  Long-term interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures'

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Effective for business combinations and assets acquisition for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1st January 2020.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The Directors anticipate that, except as described below, the application
of other new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
results and the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group.

2. ERAHITRESITIEFRMBBEEN
((EEMBHEEERN]) (&)

ERERRERZHITRESITER
MEEEER
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1658
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

75

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease
arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees.
HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of
whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. In addition, HKFRS
16 requires sales and leaseback transactions to be determined based on
the requirements of HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of the relevant
asset should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16 also includes requirements
relating to subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee
accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees,
except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently,
the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as
the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification of
cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease payments
as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use while
other operating lease payments are presented as operating cash flows.
Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability
will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will be
presented as financing cash flows by the Group.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

At 31 March 2019, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of approximately HK$4,888,000 as disclosed in Note
39 to the consolidated financial statements. A preliminary assessment
indicates that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify
for low value or short-term leases.

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above. The Group
intends to elect the modified retrospective approach for the application
of HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative effect of initial
application to opening retained earnings without restating comparative
information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable HKFRSs, which is a collective term that includes
all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs"), and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

(a) Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or
value in use in HKAS 36.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,

which are described as follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date;

e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

e level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured entities)
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved

when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of

the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

e  the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or

other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the

Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the

Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

()

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference

between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and

liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKAS 39, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Business combinations (continued)

3. EX®

(c)

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase

gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets
in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their
fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another
HKFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that

existed at the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

()

(d)

Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control exists
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Company control another entity.

In the Company’s financial statements, the investments in subsidiaries
that are not classified as held for sale are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Revenue and other income recognition

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when”control” of the goods
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

e  the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contfract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations,
the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 A N
e IR
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Revenue and other income recognition
(continued)

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a
promised good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone
selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services to the customer.

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date relative
to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract, that
best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods

or services.

Revenue from the trading of commodities

Revenue from the trading of commodities directly to its customer.
For trading of commodities to the wholesale market, the Group
considers the revenue is recognised when the control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been delivered to the
customers and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products. The customer has accepted
the products and the performance obligation is satisfied at a point
in time at which the products are delivered according to the term of

sales contract.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the

customer purchases the goods.

Esmart digital services income

Esmart digital service income is recognised in the accounting period
in which the services are based on the actual service provided.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross

carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Revenue and other income recognition

(continued)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 April 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns,
rebates and other similar allowance.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

e the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods;

e the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;

e the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

e it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

e the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction
can be measured reliably.

Service fee
Service fee is recognised when the services is rendered.

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected
useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. However, when there
is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end
of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

(g) Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is indication
that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or
loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Investment in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not

control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof,
is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or

made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the

period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount

of the investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Investment in associates (continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate, or when
the investment (or a portion thereof] is classified as held for sale.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and the
retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as
its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with HKAS 39.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate at the
date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be required
if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in

ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating
to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or

liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group (such
as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the

associate that are not related to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or

convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
since 1 April 2018. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from the financial
assets and shareholders’ rights are presented as other revenue and

other income.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with

transition in Note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transition in Note 2) (continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the
financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus the cumulative amortization using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the
maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial assets, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting
periods, the credit risk on the creditimpaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HBE-T-hF=A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transition in Note 2) (continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest rate (continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit, except that at the date of initial application/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend and interest income on the financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transition in Note 2) (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or at FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

® Investments in equity instruments are classified at FVTPL, unless
the Group designates an equity investment that is neither
held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a
business combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

e Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria
or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL. In addition,
debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria
or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the
gains and losses on them on different bases. The Group has not
designated any debt instruments as as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
Note 5.

Financial assets at FVTOCI

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where the assess’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVTOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other
comprehensive income, expect for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains/loss
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss and recognised in other (loss)/gain, net. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in other (loss)/gain, net and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 i # it A B A 5 - Annual Report 2019 4

3. EXEMHBFEE(E|)

(i) MBI

MBRE (#|)
MEBEZSHRREHE (REME2Z
B REF &ERBEER 9O
#)(#)
BAFPHEIGTABERHBEE ()
AFERBEBARRATETARAME
HWHAEREWBEEDRDVER
ABHKRHE - ABWME ¢

o REAIAZRENSBVAHBAFEF
ABHERE RIFEREBRA LRI
BRBUFBEEERAEBAHE
EHERAREZIRAREEERELQYT
B AEMGZEKES -

° IHSEERAEAREAFEA
Hit2HWSERE2EETADSHE
AEAVEFABRREER W BE
BRI EQITFEF AR MR
EEFEE 2B T ARSI
ARIEERBDITEFTABRRER A
REBEETHRIKERDBET
BEEFEEEREEARIAHL KA
REBEEMEHZFERRA LT —
B AEBAREEEAEEIASR
BAFEFTABEDER-

BAFPEFABERZUBEELRERS
MR D FEFE  MEAIFEZWES
BRIDRERKRER - D FERMESE
ZITEEE °

BAFHEGTARMEE Nz ZHEEE
ABEEENRERERHNEVBEEMFAE
REE MZEEEZ2RERBERLTER
MEMARK  BESRATEFAEBEZEK
Wit 8 - REEZHNAMEERERER
HREREPREHERERER - FBK
AR IMNE W B IRERRSN - I EERUH
R EAREt2ERERER 2 E5TK
BREEHESEN I BEREI RN EM
(BE) WS FETER - ZEUBEEZ
MEWAREBRREETFABERA - SE
BEREEZIINEM (BR) RS FHE
B MEERXARGERERTIERBY
HEBHIR e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of
HKFRS 9 in accordance with transition in Note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade
receivables, deposit and other receivables, and cash and bank
balances. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting period to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting period. Assessment are done based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting period as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and bills
receivables that result from transition within the scope of HKFRS 15
and the ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtor
with significant balances or collectively using a provision matrix with
debtors having similar credit ratings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting period with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of

HKFRS 9 in accordance with transition in Note 2)
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit

default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

®  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating

results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information

that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its

creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when the instrument is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a

more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of
HKFRS 9 in accordance with transition in Note 2)
(continued)

Creditimpaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) @ breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information.
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e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of
HKFRS 9 in accordance with transition in Note 2)
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;

. Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of
the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade and bill receivables and deposits, prepayments
and other receivables where the corresponding adjustments are
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= A =
e IR
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

The Group's financial assets are classified into loans and receivables
and availablefor-sale financial assets (“AFS financial assets”). The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace. The accounting policies adopted in respect of

each category of financial assets are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. Income is
recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other

than those financial assets classified as at FVTPL.
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e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)
(continued)

loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Loans and receivables (including trade and bills receivables, deposits
and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as any of the other categories. At the
end of each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition,
available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.
Changes in fair value are recognised in equity, until the financial
asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which
time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity
is removed from equity and recognised in consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Any impairment
losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not reverse in subsequent periods. For available-for-sale debt
investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related
to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured, they are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period subsequent to
initial recognition. An impairment loss is recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The amount
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for
a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses will not reverse in
subsequent periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of

HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of

the financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

e breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest

or principal payments; or

e |t is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy

or financial reorganization; or

e the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit
period of 30 days, observable changes in national or local economic

conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

3. EXEMHHFEE(E)

(i) BETA®E

M¥RE (#H)
MEEEZRE(R_F—/\FHF—HE
REBHBEEERFEIMET)
HHEERE
HEEERBERRYBEENTBRARHR

£ BN SEEHEHMBRE 2 3R
RESTERNT AN FEAERRABE
BLE -

HEEBRBETEE:

o BARXRSHFHREAMHRNE
()

o EREN(MTEEFEXFESAE
R 5 H

e MEFBURBREIEAMBEMSL
E

e RUMBRBEEHRUMBEERXTFTRED

o

BETER 2HMBERE (PINE S EWFIR)
s BABTRENEEREZEESR
HERRERBEEETRENG - BEEKK
HEHRREZEBRETEEAEE ZBE
WA - ZRFUETAMERI0REEH
ZERERHE EF - URBRR T EE
RN HIR RS BB IR EBERW IR

Annual Report 2019 4:# - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED %) 2 3 # g 3 B 2> %]

98



99

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018) (continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not be
reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair
value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the asset of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
The Group’s financial liabilities are classified into other financial
liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in respect of financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of
the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis other
than those financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade payables, accrued liabilities
and other payables, amounts due to shareholders, amounts due to
non-controlling interests, other borrowings, bank borrowings and
obligations under finance leases are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial assets to another entity. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety,
the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial
asset between the part it continues to recognize under continuing
involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of
the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The
difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that
is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received
for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss
allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated
between the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is
no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those
parts.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specific
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liabilities
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if,
and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(k)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to seftle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can
be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(I) Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so
that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an

asset is recognised.

(m) Dividends distribution

Final dividend proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the consolidated statement of financial position, until they have
been approved by shareholders in a general meeting. When these
dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared,
they are recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements.

Interim dividends are recognised as a liability when they are

proposed and declared.

(n) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of

historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which they arise except for:

e exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating
to assets under construction for future productive use, which
are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded
as an adjustment to inferest costs on those foreign currency

borrowings;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n) Foreign currencies (continued)

e exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to
hedge certain foreign currency risks (see the accounting policies
below); and

e  exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of foreign currency translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= A =
e IR
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(o) Employee benefits

i Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under
their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as
at the end of the reporting period is permitted to be carried
forward and utilised by the respective employees in the
following year. No accrual is made at the end of the reporting
period for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned
during the year by the employees and carried forward as the

amount is immaterial.

ii.  Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into

the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The contributions are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance

with the rules of the central pension scheme.

(p) Equity-settled share-based payment
transaction
Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme

The fair value of share options and awarded shares granted to
employees in an equity-settled share based payment transaction is
recognised as an employment cost with a corresponding increase
in the employee share-based compensation reserve within equity.
In respect of share options, the fair value is measured at grant date
using the Binomial option pricing model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. In respect
of awarded shares, the fair value is based on the closing price at
the grant date. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options and
awarded shares, the total estimated fair value of the share options
and awarded shares is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the share options and awarded shares

will vest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p) Equity-settled share-based payment

transaction (continued)
Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options and awarded
shares that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the statement of comprehensive income for the year of the review,
with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options and
awarded shares that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
employee share-based compensation reserve).

The equity amount for the share options is recognised in the
employee share-based compensation reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account) or the
option expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).

Shares held for Share Award Scheme

Where the shares of the Company are acquired under the Share
Award Scheme, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as “Shares held for Share
Award Scheme” and deducted from total equity.

When the awarded shares are transferred to the awardees upon
vesting, the related weighted average cost of the awarded shares
vested are credited to “Shares held for Share Award Scheme”, and
the related employment costs of the awarded shares vested are
debited to the employee share-based compensation reserve. The
difference between the related weighted average cost and the related
employment costs of the awarded shares is transferred to retained
profits.

Where the Shares held for Share Award Scheme are revoked and
the revoked shares are disposed of, the related gain or loss is
transferred to retained profits, and no gain or loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Where the cash or non-cash dividend distribution is declared in
respect of the shares held for Share Award Scheme, the cash or
fair value of the non-cash dividend is transferred to retained profits,
and no gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EHzE—-Z—

NE=A=+—RALEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(q) Related party transactions
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group if:

(A)

(B)

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4: i #& it 7 iR A 7 -

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to
the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)] One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (A).

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence

over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is part,

provides key management personnel services to the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
(q) Related party transactions (continued)

(r)

(s)

(C) Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when
there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related
parties.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits and shortterm, highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

Leasing

Lleases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses
are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs.
Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent
rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating
leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate
benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense
on a straightline basis, except where another systematic basis is
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed.
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e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(t) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the
nature of production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

(u) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where applicable,
other costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition, is calculated using the first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, management is
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

(i) Impairment of assets

The Group tests annually whether the assets have suffered any
impairment. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating
unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations which require
the use of assumptions and estimates. During the year ended 31
March 2019, the Group recognised the impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$7,918,000 (2018:
approximately HK$5,549,000) in the profit or loss.

(iii) Impairment of goodwill

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has impairment
of goodwill in accordance with the accounting policy are set out in
Notes 3 and 20. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units
are determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates and assumptions made by management
on the future operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and
other assumptions underlying the value-in-use calculations.

The carrying amounts of goodwill at the end of the reporting
period were approximately HK$18,320,000 (2018: approximately
HK$23,127,000) and impairment loss of approximately
HK$4,807,000 (2018: approximately HK$1,379,000) was
recognised for the year. Details of the impairment loss calculation is
set out in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)
(iv) Share-based payment

The valuation of the fair value of share options granted requires
judgment in determining the expected volatility of the share price, the
dividends expected on the shares, the risk free interest rate during
the life of the options and the number of share options that are
expected to become exercisable, details of which are set in Note 36
to the consolidated financial statements. Where the actual outcome
of the number of exercisable options is different from the previously
estimated number of exercisable options, such difference will have
impact on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the
subsequent remaining vesting period of the relevant share options.

(v]  Provision of ECL for financial assets at amortised cost

The loss allowances for financial assets at amortised cost are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s
past history, existing market conditions as well as forwardlooking
estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in Note 5.

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of trade receivables
and other receivables are approximately HK$19,444,000 and
approximately HK$92,778,000 respectively (net of loss allowance of
approximately HK$1,400,000 and approximately HK$76,032,000
respectively).

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade and bills
receivables and other receivables are set out in Notes 5, 23 and 24.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 4. RBEIERAFFRERZEER

5.

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

(vi] ~ Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments

The fair values of derivative financial instruments are determined by
using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgment to select
an appropriate valuation method and makes assumption that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the transaction date
and each reporting date with reference to the valuation performed
by APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited, an independent
firm of professional valuers. The valuation model requires the input
of subjective assumptions, including the selection of relevant stock
price, expected volatility, expected dividend yield, risk free rate and
expected life. Changes in subjective input assumptions can materially
affect the fair value estimate.

(vii) Property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of
property, plant and equipment in order to determine the amount of
depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful lives are estimated
at the time the asset is acquired based on historical experience, the
expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well as technical
obsolescence arising from changes in the market demands or service
output of the assets. The Group also perform annual reviews on
whether the assumptions made on useful lives continue to be valid.

(viii) Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income

The fair value of financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income that are not traded in active market is
determined by valuation techniques. Fair value of financial asset
at fair value through other comprehensive income is determined by
independent valuers with reference to the market value of underlying
net assets. Valuation techniques that include inputs that are not based
on observable market data and make assumptions that are primarily
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period. Note 21 provide detailed information about key assumptions

used in the determination of the fair value.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial asset at fair
value through other comprehensive income, available-for-sale financial
asset, trade and bill receivables, deposit and other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents, trade payables, accrued liabilities and other payables,
amounts due to shareholders, amounts due to non-controlling interests and
obligations under finance leases. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how fo mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk

(il Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) and Hong Kong and majority of transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).
The Group is exposed to limited foreign exchange risk as most of
the commercial transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated
in a currency same as the functional currency of each entity of the
Group. Therefore the Group will only exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from the assets and liabilities which are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the entity to which
related. The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to
the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated
by the PRC government. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency assets and
liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

(i) Interest rate risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any
financial assets and liabilities which are at floating rate of interests.
The Group does not have significant exposure to interest rate risk.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The
Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and bills receivables,
deposits and other receivables, and cash and bank balances. At 31
March 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties arising from the carrying amounts of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables and other receivables

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit terms.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as to the economic environment.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer and therefore significant concentrations
of credit risk primarily arises when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers.

In respect of trade receivables arising from provision of esmart digital
services for retail stores in the PRC and trading businesses across
Asia, the Group has a concentration of credit risk in certain individual
customers. At the end of each reporting period, the five largest receivable
balances accounted for approximately 99.7% (2018: approximately
77.8%) of the trade receivables and the largest trade receivable was
approximately 74.5% (2018: approximately 48.0%) of the Group’s total
trade receivables. The Directors closely monitor the risk exposure of the
customers and collateral and would take appropriate action to ensure
the risk exposure is acceptable. The Directors are of the view that the
expected cash flow of trade receivables are sufficient to cover the carrying
amount of trade receivables as at 31 March 2019.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the management reviews the recoverability
of each trade debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. Under
HKAS 39, impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. Upon
the application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018, the Group applies simplified
approach on trade receivables to provide for the ECL prescribed by HKFRS
9. The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision matrix (2018:
incurred loss model). As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group's different customer bases.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. UERBRERE (E)
Financial risk management objectives and MERBEEEERBR (&)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 8 B B% B Rk (E T 44 (48)
(continued)
Trade receivables and other receivables (continued) HIABKRERAMEWRRE (E)
The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure TREHEBEAEEN-Z-NER=ZZ-N\F
to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 March 2019 and A=+ BRESERREMAZ 2 EERR
2018: RHEHEEFE2EH
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
GRS HRRmE E BiRE R
At 31 March 2019 R-Z—hE=A=+—H % HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Current (not past due) BNER (SREH) 4.0 1 -
Less than 1 month past due BED R —1E B 4.0 39 2
Over 1 to 3 months past due BEBE—Z=@EA 4.0 2,526 108
Over 3 months to 1 year past due BHREBR=ERE—F 5.5 8,100 435
More than 1 year BBR—F 8.0 10,178 855
7.0 20,844 1,400
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHEEE BEREE EIaRAE
At 31 March 2018 R-ZE-NE=F=+—H % HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current (not past due) BNER (GREH) 4.0 5,649 218
Less than 1 month past due BELR—1EA 4.0 3,373 130
Over 1 to 3 months past due BHBB-—Z={A 4.0 2,351 99
Over 3 months to 1 year past due BHBB=EAZE—F 4.0 5,034 222
More than 1 year HiB—F 4.0 - -
4.0 16,407 669
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables and other receivables (continued)

The closing loss allowances for including trade receivables and other
receivables as at 31 March 2019 reconciled to the opening loss

5. MERBRER (#)

MERREEERRIEK (E)
15 0 B B ok {1 5 £ (4
B0 5% M T R Lt O My 9 I )

REZE-WF+ZA=+—H HEBEEZENK
IR R B Al R W R T R 2 B R B R B R 4

allowances as follows:

At 31 March 2018 - HKAS 39

Amounts re-measured through equity

At 1 April 2018 - HKFRS 9 [restated)

Increase in loss allowance recognised
in profit or loss during the year
Reversal of loss allowance recognised
in profit or loss during the year

RZE-N\$=A=1-H
—EBEIEAIEIOR

AREENTTEZEH

RZ2-N\EWA-H
-BEURREEES (KEI)

FRRERER 2B REELD

FRREEER 2 BERAERD

At 31 March 2019 - HKFRS 9 RZE-AFZRA=1+—-H

-BFRMBREERNBR

BIEBREHERNT

Trade Other
receivables receivables
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

credit impaired  credit impaired Total
CHAGEREZ CHRGEEREZ
HAERRE Hti U FRE

2HABEEGR 2 2URHGEER #t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET

669 3,076 3,745

669 3,076 3,745

1,030 73,376 74,406

299) (420) 719)

1,400 76,032 77,432

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a
period greater than agreed contract terms.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net impairment
losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line item.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 2
years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has other receivables with
approximately HK$74,496,000 being credit impaired since the
management of the Company considered these balances are unlikely to be
recoverable or partially recoverable.
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables and other receivables (continued)

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade and bills receivables, deposits and other
receivables are set out in Note 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial
statement.

The management monitored the financial background and creditability of
those debtors on an ongoing basis. The Group seeks to minimise its risk by
dealing with counterparties which have good credit history. Majority of the
trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have no default
payment history. In this regard, the directors consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

Deposits

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for
expected credit losses on a timely basis. The Group has assessed that the
expected credit loss rate for these receivables are immaterial under 12
months expected credit losses method. Thus, no loss allowance for deposits
was recognised as at 31 March 2019.

Deposits with bank

In respect to the Group’s deposit with bank, the Group limits its exposure
to credit risk by placing deposits with financial institution with high credit
rating and no recent history of default. Given the high credit ratings of the
banks, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its
obligations. Management will continues to monitor the position and will
take appropriate action if their are changed. As at 31 March 2019 and
2018, the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in relation
to deposit with bank.

In these regards, other than the credit risks mentioned above, the
management considers the Group does not have any other significant
credit risk and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash
equivalents, monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by management. Reports
with maturity dates of borrowings and thus the liquidity requirement are
provided to management for review periodically. Management will raise
or refinance borrowings whenever necessary.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be
settled into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, as follows:

5.

R 35 B R (#)
MERREDRHRRBR (W)

B W & R B
FEEMBEBEFAERERRTES  BERR
REBRSAE URREHBEEEREHEZE
MEER HUERRADESER -

EREESFEEERDESRAR BEEEDIHH
LAERBESTERBEEHREERBRRU
HER o KB EEESENEEIHHET
BRE -

TRETAEEEEE 2HBEE - LTREME
BEHAR  REHBESHRESHIHEZF
BREIEBET DM - RARB 2 EHERBELRE,
BAMGE FHUOT

At 31 March 2019

RZE-1EZA=+-H
Weighted
average
effective On demand Between Between Between More Total Total
interest or less than Tto3 3 months 1 year than  undiscounted  carrying
rate 1 month months  to 1 year to 5 years 5 years cash flow amount
miEFsy BEXs HRER
ERfE -8Rk —-E=fR Z=ERE-¥ -F£EIif BligE Ren AREE
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET TET TET TET
Non-derivative financial FTEMBAR
liabilities
Trade payables BARATE - 7,558 - - - - 7,558 7,558
Accrued liabilities and 2HEEREMENZE
other payables - 32,688 - - - - 32,688 32,688
Amounts due fo shareholders FERRHE - 2,943 - 1,219 14,555 - 18,717 18,658
Amounts due fo B FERERTE
non-controlling inferests - - - - 8,485 - 8,485 8,485
Other borrowings HifEE 8 - 23,660 - - - 23,660 23,353
Bank borrowings RTRE 1 337 - - - - 337 329
Obligations under finance leases ~ BEMERKIE 1.94 88 177 794 2,386 - 3,445 3,230
43,614 23,837 2,013 25,426 - 94,890 94,301
At 31 March 2018
WZE-N\E=A=+-H
Weighted
average
effective  On demand Between Between Between More Total Total
inferest or less than 1103 3 months 1 year than undiscounted carrying
rafe 1 month months folyear  to5years 5 years cash flow amount
MEF EZXs BRER
BRFIE -fAR -2=A =RE-% -EZ1% BRLE BeR BEHE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn T T T TiEr TR T
Non-derivative financial liabilities  FE{T4HEEE
Trade payables EE R - 3 - - _ _ 3 3
Accrued liabilities and ZHEERAEATE
other payables - 19,698 - - - - 19,698 19,698
Amounts due fo shareholders EfRRTAE = 542 = = 14,670 - 15,212 15,212
Amounts due fo B FERERTE
non-controlling inferests = = = = 8,370 = 8,370 8,370
Obligations under finance lease ~ RAERERIE 1.85 68 205 546 2,526 = 3,345 3,113
20,311 205 546 25,566 - 46,628 46,396
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as
follows:

e the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (including .
derivative instruments) with standard terms and conditions and traded
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted
market bid prices and ask prices respectively; and

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities .
(including derivative instruments) are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis using prices or rates from observable current market
transaction as input. For an option-based derivative, the fair value is
estimated using option pricing model.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position

The following provides an analysis of financial instruments that are
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

- level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices -
(unadijusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other -
than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices); and

- level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation -
techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 in the current year.

Financial assets measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2019
Level 1
E—ik
HK$'000
FHE T
Financial assets HEBEE
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRAFEFARMEE
Wiz B EE =

=
BEZREEEEQVEMRES -

RAFE - -

R=

5. MERBRER (#)
MEBEIRZAFE
MBREERMBEBEAFERUTAREE

BERERRRGE  TRRBERBMIEE
BErUBEERMBAB(EBEITEIR)
ZAFE NoRSEMSEARELRE
BE R

HpBEERBEE (BETETR)
ZAFRE DREAREEEN  WRFTR
REREDN  RAFRBAZTERRE
TEXS2ERABRFH - RUBEAE

EOETAME X2 FEDRABBEEE
B e
RAGEUBRRACH U BEERMH

RESH BN R FAERZ L FETE

UTRENTRIAREZ LA TFEFEZHBIAS
o DREBAFEZIBEERESAE —E5=
oo

E-RAVEFENAHREENRER
BRI ZRE CRERAR)EH

BEIRAFEFEHE - RAHRE U
ZABZEEEREBEHEERZ (ER) R
B (AR ER) SH &

EZRAFEFBEHEELFUNTESED
SEE (FUEEHE) AER 2 EERE
BEE 2 EERWEL -

FEREAE =R o AW o

BAFEMEZMBERE

FE-NEF=ZA=+—-HZAFEER

Level 2 Level 3 Total
)t E=M it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHExT FHET

- 1,313 1,313

Except as disclosed as above, the Directors consider the carrying amount
of financial assets and financial and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised costs in the consolidated financial statements to their fair value.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts which includes amounts
due to shareholders, amounts due to non-controlling interests, other
borrowings, bank borrowings, obligations under finance leases, less cash
and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on an annual
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is calculated as
either total borrowings divided by total capital or net borrowings divided
by total capital. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

5. MERBRER (#)

"BFERETE

AEEERHAS  URASEEBRETH
EEE WEBE(LEYRERGHRTIHIER
BEERBAER - AEEEERBESTE
BAFHRE -

FEBEAEBEBERMIRRTRA  BAEE
REZKE  HEE - RITEERBERER
ESE% RERERAESEEERE  URAEALD
AEAEARGLES (BECBTREARRE) -

AEEEESERNERLME  EBIR T —
0 AEBEEEEEARSREEE R
ZEB -

FEBRAEAEELRERER - NAEER
LBEARFEERNBER - RBEHR2E
REEHERMNT :

31 March 31 March

2019 2018

ZB-hE —E-N\F

=A=+—H =A=+—8

HK$’000 HK$'000

TERT FHET

Total debt (i) @) 54,055 26,695
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BWoRERESZEIER (19,383) (7,867)
Net debt FE 34,672 18,828

Equity (i) 2 (i) 131,749 257,805
Net debt to equity ratio FEBEH R R 26.3% 7.3%
Total debt to equity ratio BEFKHERLEE 41.0% 10.4%

Notes: Bt -

(i) Total debt comprises amounts due to shareholders, amounts due to non- (i) #EXKEERZE28 2930 31K32f# =z

controlling interests, other borrowings, bank borrowings and obligations
under finance leases as detailed in Note 28, 29, 30, 31 and 32.

(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

FEARRAIE - A ERERRE - HfibfE
& -RITEERBEHERE -

(i) BEEEAEEZRAEEARMGE-
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group organised into three operating divisions: unconventional gas
business, commodities trading business and esmart digital services. These

divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its segment information.

The three operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as

follows:

Unconventional gas business Provision of services in connection
with unconventional gas and import
of technical equipment for the
unconventional gas industry

Commodities trading business Provision of agency services and
commodities trading in the PRC,
Hong Kong and overseas

Esmart digital services Provision of esmart digital services

in the PRC

Revenue represents the aggregate of the amounts received and receivable
from third parties, income from commodities trading business and esmart
digital services. Revenue recognised during the years are as following:

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts REEFANZERAMS

with customers

Recognised at a point in time RE—RFREER
Commodities sales EmEHE
Service fee RIEE

Total revenue from contracts with customers REERSHWZITA#E

6. HBEH

AEBREERRERENETERBARRT LD
BREZERTDEPRARARER2ERDIR
R e

REEDA=ZEKLD M FERRARERK
BAmEZEBREEBBERE - ZE2MWREE
BE2HATMER 2 EE -

RETBHBHRELNES  —EALERATH
BOBUMT

FERRARES RERHEEFERARAR

HERBREFRRA

RATEBARMR A
BAmEZEY RAE -~ BB RENMEM

PNRBEEERES
BRBBERY R EREEEBERE

WEECaRERSE = REZRIERAE 56
BAREEmEZEBREEBERYE - FRE
RBzWEMT

2019 2018
—E—hE —E-N\&
HK$/000 HK$'000

FHT FBT

82,889 144,522
6,484 8,517
89,373 153,039
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ZEHBEH (&)
Segment revenues and results SEHBARER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AEBRAREZERTBRRIILE S 22 W
reportable segment: T
2019 —E—-hEF
Commodities Esmart
Unconventional trading digital
gas business business services  Consolidated
FER e
RARRRY HREARY B R #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTiERx FHET FTiEx FTHET
Turnover BxE
Turnover from external customers RENREF 2 & %58 - 83,073 6,300 89,373
Result E 4|
Segment loss IR (5,562) (8,765) (28,479) (42,806)
Unallocated income Ea M ON 2,133
Unallocated corporate expenses K2 Bl Ex H (33,635)
Impairment loss on goodwill BEZREEE (4,807) (4,807)
Impairment loss on property, plant #% - BERREZBEERE
and equipment (7,918) (7,918)
Net impairment losses recognised FEZ R HERKBRERZ
in respect of trade and other HEEEFE
receivables (73,687)
Finance costs B E A (457)
Loss before tax BRI ATE R (161,177)
Taxation BiE -
Loss for the year rEEEE (161,177)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

6. FWBEH(])

SEBUA B R\ ()

2018 —E-N\F
Commodities Esmart
Unconventional trading digital
gas business business services Consolidated
FER Ehe
RARER PmESEK HIER% RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FTERT FHET FTERT
Turnover EE ]
Turnover from external customers HREIREBEF 2L %5 - 144,385 8,654 153,039
Result ES ]
Segment loss SEBEE (17,735) (14,279) (23,340) (55,354)
Unallocated income RKAEWBA 2,110
Unallocated corporate expenses KA B dEL H (32,760)
Share-based payment BUBR 7 2 44 2 58 (45,684)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEIBEEE (1,379) (1,379)
Impairment loss on property, plant ¥ % - BER R B2 REEE
and equipment (5,549) (5,549)
Share of results of associates DEBE DN TEE (5,775)
Finance costs ME R (115)
Loss before tax BREAIEE (144,506)
Taxation FiiE -
Loss for the year TEEEE (144,5006)

Turnover reported above represents revenue generated from external

customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the year (2018: Nil).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as

the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment results

represent the loss generated by each segment without allocation of

corporate expenses, finance costs and taxation. This is the measure

reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource

allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HBE-Z-AF=ZA=1+—AItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

2019
Unconventional
gas business
FER
RARKY
HK$'000
FET
Assets H"E
Segment assets DMWEE 14,212
Unallocated corporate assets RAMEEEE
Liabilities i
Segment liabilities THEE 502
Amounts due to shareholders FE I R
Amounts due to non-controlling interests J?Eﬁ#}ﬁﬂﬁfgﬁ’ﬁ#
Obligations under finance leases MEHERE
Other borrowings Hitfg &
Bank borrowings BITHEE
Unallocated corporate liabilities ROBEEER
2018
Unconventional
gas business
FER
HK$'000
FTiER
Assets gE
Segment assets DMWEE 27,049
Unallocated corporate assets RAMEEERE
Liabilities B
Segment liabilities SMEsE 1,699
Amounts due to shareholders FEfT R R IE
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEAS 31 IR A 3
Obligations under finance lease MEHERE
Unallocated corporate liabilities RAMEEEE

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating

resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than corporate
assets and interests in associates. Goodwill and financial asset are
allocated to reportable segments; and

e all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
corporate liabilities, amounts due to shareholders, amounts due to

non-controlling interests, other borrowings,
obligations under finance leases.

bank borrowings and

Annual Report 2019 4£# -

6. FWMEH(HE)
SHRERAR

—hE

Commodities
trading
business

BRESEY
HK$'000

TEr

124,290

7,908

—E-N\F

Commodities
trading
business

BmESER
HK$’000

TER

110,355

8,728

MEZSHRARD

Esmart
digital
services Consolidated
Hae
Bk =8
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FERT
63,122 201,624
25,855
227,479
22,328 30,738
18,658
8,485
3,230
23,353
329
10,937
95,730
Esmart
digital
services Consolidated
Zhe
HIERE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TR
62,242 199,646
105,562
305,208
3,772 14,199
15,212
8,370
3,113
6,509
47,403
EABEERMES :

° KBREXEERRBEARZEREN  FEE
ESBREAHRARSE - HERUBEED B
ZEAHBIE R

o KRiXBE-

FEAS IR R

I e SRR AE

MmN HEE - RITEERAEEER
B MEEBIBEETHKRD M -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Other segment information

Unconventional gas business FERRRRES
Commodities trading business PMREBESER
Esmart digital services B BIE RS
Unallocated ROE

6. FWMEH(E)
HEtn s BEHE

Depreciation and

amortisation

HERMH
2019 2018
~B-n% —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FTER
1,350 2,286
1,336 875
3,830 1,616
542 305
7,058 5,082

Additions to
non-current assets*
ERBEEZEM
2019 2018
—E-0F —E-N\E
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET
- 18
1,803 6,161
158 14,152
4 3,630
1,965 23,961

*  Additions to non-current assets excluding goodwill, interests in associate,
available-for-sale financial asset, and financial asset at fair value through

other comprehensive income.

Geographical information

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s operations are

mainly located in the PRC and Hong Kong. The following analysis of the

Group’s turnover by geographical area is disclosed for the years ended

31 March 2019 and 2018.

The PRC FE
Hong Kong a8
Overseas BTN

*ORDEEZENTEERE  REEARZ
- IRHENBEEARBLAFESAR
fh2EBE 2 HBEERE -

i EEH

RRABTEEXEMBURER - AEEZEKE
B2URPEREE BE_Z-AEFRZZ-N
FZRA=+T-HLFE FAEEEXRBERBEN
2o MWEWMT -

72,210
31
17,132

89,373

2018
—ZE-N\F
HK$'000
T

147,568
80
5,391

153,039
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information (continued)

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-current assets
(excluding interests in associates, available-for-sale financial asset and
financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income) analysed
by the geographical area in which the assets are located:

6. HWBEH])

WERH (&)

TRAFARDEE (TEERBELR 2 &S
AHEENBEEUAREZLFEFARMEEK
BeUBEE) REEMTHEAD ZHBED I :

Carrying amount of
non-current assets

JERBREZIREE
2019 2018
—E-nE —E-N\EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#Ex FExT
The PRC HEl 33,045 52,837
Hong Kong 58 7,364 7,335
Overseas pSZIN 5,919 6,112
46,328 66,284

Information about major customers EREEXERZEH

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group's largest four customers
(2018: two) contributed revenue from commodities trading business
and esmart digital services of approximately HK$62,900,000 (2018:
approximately HK$122,657,000) and approximately HK$6,287,000
(2018: approximately HK$8,513,000), which represent approximately
70.4%(2018: approximately 80.1%) and approximately 7.0% (2018:

approximately 5.6%) respectively of total turnover.

BE-ZE-hF=A=+—HLFE FT&EEBH
AMZB(ZZE-NFE WMBA)EFEHKRETR
BSEBREEHBERLE ZWAK62,900,000
BT (ZE—/\F 122,657,000 7T) K&
6,287,000 Tt (=& —)\&F : 8,513,000
BIT)  EREEEN/04% (ZE-NFE Y
80.1%) R#H7.0% (ZZF—N\F : #95.6%) °

2019 2018
—E-NhF —E-N\E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEXT FHET
Customer A ZEFEH 34,542 —*
Customer B 2FECZ 15,195 15,350
Customer C 2FRA 10,297 —*
Customer D BFT 9,153 —*
Customer E 2FER —* 115,820
Others Hi 20,186 21,869
89,373 153,039
Note: Mz :

*  The customer contribution less than 10% of total revenue of the Group.

* ABEFPZERMEAEEBKRADRION-
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER LOSSES - NET 7. Ettk AREMGIR—$8E
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Other income Hfttlr A
Interest income on: FEWA :
Bank deposits SRITHER 12 15
Other receivables Hth fE W 518 2,106 2,106
2,118 2,121
Sundry income MIEWA 362 54
2,480 2,175
Other losses - net Hthgsis —$8
Net exchange losses ENEEFE (71) (1,131)
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial asset HERHHETEEE 2FIE (1) -
Loss on settlement of other receivables EEHMERREBEZER (1,025) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME LR 2 W 32 -
(1,065) (1,131)
8. LOSS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8. BERBEBIR
2019 2018
“2-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
The Group’s loss from operating activities is arrived HREBKEEBEHERSHR(FTA) :
at after charging/(crediting):
Cost of inventory sold BEEFEHRK 81,029 143,728
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment NE - -BEREZEZITE 7,058 5,082
Loss on written off of property, plant and equipment HiS5¥ % - BERBREZEHIE 54 265
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEMX - BMERRHEZEIE - 1,126
Net impairment losses recognised in respect of trade FiE 3 Kk HibERF B 2 REKEEFE
and other receivables
— allowance for impairment losses —BEZRWFE 2 RERFERSB
on trade receivables 1,030 -
— allowance for impairment losses —HibEWRIE 2 BEEERE
on other receivables 73,376 -
— reversal of allowance for impairment losses - BZRKRHRBZREBERERRD
on trade receivables (299) -
— reversal of allowance for impairment losses —HitEWRIE R EE R RERE
on other receivables (420) -
73,687 -
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration EIRAK(BREESEME) (MF10)
(Note 10))
- wages and salaries - ITERFS 36,514 36,407
— share-based payment — R 2 A - 45,684
— refirement benefits scheme contributions —RIRERIE B HER 2,328 1,913
38,842 84,004
Auditors’ remuneration 2% B AT BN &
- audit services — R H R 700 700
Minimum lease payments under operating lease EFEKEHERS
rentals of office premises ZBEBEE R 3,074 5,443
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9.

10.

FINANCE COSTS 9. MERF
2019 2018
—2-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interests on obligations under finance leases MEREREZFNE 135 115
Interests on amounts due to shareholders BARRZREZFE 11 -
Interests on other borrowings HifEEZFE 107 -
Interests on bank borrowings RITEEZFE 204 -
457 115
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10.E5FM £
Directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, *Eﬂ%t?h_ﬁﬂU)i?iﬁ’D\ﬁf‘%@_‘]Zé@Eﬁﬁ?ﬁiﬁi@Eﬁ
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies E-F-NER-F-/\FZA=T-ALFE
. : . ZEEHEWMT :
Ordinance, is as follows:
Basic Other MPF
Name of director Fees salaries allowances contributions Total
EFgR e 2.3 3 Rty BEAHK &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FERT FER TR TR
2019: —E-NEF:
Executive directors BiTEE
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) REWEE (XFE) - 7,200 499 - 7,699
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) EELE (BER) - 3,120 50 18 3,188
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer) HEELE (THEAR) - 1,536 - 18 1,554
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer| REEE (BRREME) - 2,069 - 4 2,073
Non-executive directors FUTESR
Mr. Zhang Yichun (Vice-Chairman) R—FEE(BER) - - - - -
Ms. Xu Ying izt - 960 - - 960
Independent non-executive directors BIBTES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BXEiE 230 - - - 230
Mr. Lam Williomson MEELE 235 - - - 235
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BEERELE 230 - - - 230
Dr. Lam Lee G. EX 240 - - - 240
935 14,885 549 40 16,409
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 10.EF8H& (48)
Basic Other  Share-based MPF
Name of director Fees salaries allowances payment  confributions Tofal
EELE Be Erge Ethizek WRA %A BRMHH fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TR TR FiEn TR TR
2018: “E-N\E:
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman| FBWLE (ER) - 5,400 39 6,947 9 12,395
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman] SBELE (BIEE) - 3,120 47 6,947 18 10,132
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer] BERLE (THER) - 1,536 - 6,947 18 8,501
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer) HREE (BRRNE)
(Appointed with effect from 8 January 2018) (BZB-NE-B/\HEEZH) - 514 - - - 514
Non-executive directors FHmES
Mr. Zhang Yichun {Vice-Chairman) E-ELE(BIER) - - - 284 - 284
Mr. Shao Zili [Resigned on 31 January 2018) BEHEE(RZE-NE-A=+-HEE) - 800 - 284 15 1,099
Mr. Xie Zhichun [Resigned on 10 July 2017) BRELE(RCE-tELATHRE) - 266 - - - 266
Ms. Xu Ying BELt - 960 - 284 - 1,244
Independent nonexecutive directors BUFHTES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BxEEE 120 - - 284 - 404
Mr. Lam Williamson H2EELE 180 - - 284 - 464
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen EEEEE 120 - - 284 - 404
Dr. Lam Lee G. HRERT 240 - - 284 - 524
660 12,59 86 22,829 60 36,231
Note:  Mr. Xie Zhichun and Mr. Shao Zili resigned as non-executive directors M BHRBEEEERBFOARERERAE

with effect from 10 July 2017 and 31 January 2018 respectively
due to their decision to devote more time to their other business
commitments.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 March 2019 and
2018.

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors has waived any emoluments during the year (2018: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

11.FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 1N.IEEEHFER
The five highest paid employees during the year included four (2018: ERNEEREHEERENZ (ZE—N\FE: =
three) directors. Details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 10 to BVEE HNSHBIARGEEUERERWEEI0
the consolidated financial statements. A e
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the details of the remuneration of BE-Z-NWEF=A=1+—HLEFE FEEH
highest paid employees who are non-directors are as follows: ESHEEZHMEFENT
2019 2018
ZB-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FBT
Basic salaries and allowances EXFHERZH 840 1,335
Share-based payment LR 1 2 A5 2 FRIE - 5,210
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R OR3E R ET B ALK 18 58
858 6,603
The number of employees whose remuneration fell within the following BMENFUTLSHEEE 2 ESAZKNT :

band is as follows:

Number of employees

EEA®
2019 2018
ZB-NE —E-NF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 FHETE1,000,000% T 1 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 st £2,000,000% 7t - -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7t £3,000,000% 7t - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 st £4,000,0005% 7T - 1
1 2
During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, no emoluments were BE-ZE-NEFER=ZZF-NFZA=+—-HL
paid by the Group to the non-directors, highest paid employees as an FERN AEEYEARSIMESAMEBERER
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss B RMEAEBEERFESRaHEEXTM
of office. £ o
The emoluments paid or payable to member of senior management ENSENSRERRE (TERFRES GRUME10
(excluding the directors as disclosed in Note 10) are within the following FiREE)) 2B EN FUTEE :
bands:
Number of senior management
EREERAB
2019 2018
ZE-NE —EB-N\F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZFHETE1,000,000% T 4 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 st £2,000,000% 7t = -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7t £3,000,000% 7t = 3
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 7t £4,000,000% 7T = 1
4 6
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12. TAXATION
Current tax ANEAB A
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —HBAER
— PRC Enterprises Income Tax — PR EMREH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
12. RI7

2019 2018
—E—-hFE —E-N\E
HK$’000 HK$'000

FEXT FHET

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable

profit the year ended 31 March 2018.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed the Inland
Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which introduces the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28
March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25%,
and assessable profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
assessable profits of corporation not qualifying for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. The
two-tiered profits tax rates regime is applicable to the Group for the year

ended 31 March 2019.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon implementation of
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statements.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Taxation in other jurisdiction is calculated at the rates prevailing in the
respective jurisdictions. No provision has been made as the Group had no
assessable profit in other jurisdiction for the years ended 31 March 2019
and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

12. TAXATION (continued) 12.RIA (#])

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax per
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as follows:

Loss before tax K%t BI85 18

FEERERXTRGEESRAMEERSER
RERFATBEHROT :

Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated at rates BB KR ZEREREERERTE 2

applicable to loss in the tax jurisdiction concerned BRERAEBRzERHE

Estimated tax effect of AR B 2 2 fdi 5t
non-deductible expenses BT E

Estimated tax effect of BARBWBA 2 &5t
non-taxable income BEgxg

Estimated tax effect of taxable temporary difference R EREB2MAHBETE

Estimated tax effect of AERREBEZ
unrecognised tax losses RGBT E

Tax charge at the Group’s BAKEREAFEE Z2BR
effective rate for the year BERFE2RERX

2019 2018
—s-n% -\
HK$’000 HK$'000

TET TR
(161,177) (144,506)

(34,375) (28,329)
16,422 17,298
(4) (6,623)
76 (231)
17,881 17,885
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At 31 March 2019, the Group had unused estimated tax losses
of approximately HK$288,363,000 (2018: approximately
HK$270,327,000) available for offset against future profits. Tax losses of
approximately HK$61,740,000 (2018: approximately HK$49,568,000)
will expire after five years from the year of assessment they relate to while
tax losses of approximately HK$226,623,000 (2018: approximately
HK$220,759,000) can be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit

streams.

14.DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

15.LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF

THE COMPANY

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
13.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

13.REERMAAR
RZE-NAF=ZRA=Z+—-—H £A&EEHFAH
##%288,363,0008 T (= - N\F 4
270,327,000 T) 2 RE A A BIEEER
AR RBORR - BIHEEBE 61,740,000
BT (ZE—N\F 449,568,000 7T) &K1
REBFECARFELRIERRER MHKRIE
B HE 226,623,000 T (ZF - NF 1 4
220,759,00058 70) AJ R HI A58 o B AR HE
FEFEZAAEE  WABRDELEHRBEE -

14. 2
AABREBEFEEREBE=E—NE=ZA=1T—
BALEFERMEARE (Z2—N\F  £) o

15. 8 2FHAAERETRER

(a) Basic (a) &E=F
The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners of the ARABBEEANEBEBRERBEIDEUT
Company is based on following data: BIEE
2019 2018
—®—n% —B-N\F
Loss for the year attributable to KRABHEBEAEBEREE
owners of the Company (HK$’000) &8 (FET) (138,609) (126,655)
Weighted average number of ERITEERZ
ordinary shares in issue (7000) (restated) INEEIE (FR) (REF) 2,121,589 2,532,666
Basic loss per share BREXRER (REWL)
(HK cents per share) (6.5) (5.0)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the
year ended 31 March 2018 has been restated accordingly for the
share consolidation occurred during the year.

(b) Diluted

Diluted loss per share were same as the basic loss per share as there
are no potential dilutive ordinary shares in existence during the years
ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 9% - BE R

frechold  Lleasehold  Plantand  Leasehold Furniture and  Fixturesand ~ Computer Motor
land building  equipment improvement  equipment fittings  equipment vehicles Total
KARELY Hf8F  RERBE ERMRRE  REREM  RERER ERBE "E ait
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TER TER TR TER TER TR TER
Cost: BEE:
AT April 2017 “E-tEMA-A 1513 4,346 24,126 1,033 804 354 674 1,707 34557
Addifions 5 - - 7,239 7123 2,762 751 981 5,029 23,885
Witen off i - - - 79 ) 8] 4] - 1122
Disposa - - ; (1,109 - ) - - (10 (1203
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHELAT - - - - - - 76 - 76
Exchange realignment EigE - - 2,859 236 128 35 60 166 3,504
At Apil 2018 ond H=%-NEMA-BR
31 March 2018 ZE-\EZR=1-H 1513 4,346 315 7673 3,391 1,072 1,695 6,892 59,697
Additions 1% - - - a1 13 20 318 1,093 1965
Written off s - - - - (57) - [22) - 79
Disposal i3 - - - - - - - 14) (14)
Disposal of subsidiaries LERBAR - - (68) - (54) - 12) (1,054 [1,188)
Exchange realignment ERFE - - (2,116) 316) 151) 81) 39) (158 2,857)
A31 Morch 2019 R-E-1E2PZt-R 1513 4346 30931 7478 3142 1,011 1,944 6759 57,50
Accumulated depreciation ~ BiHFER#AE :
and impairment:
At T April 2017 RZZ-tEMB-A - 4 3,340 506 521 90 488 845 5,832
Provided during the year Eni - 11 3,007 718 342 12 193 586 5,082
Wiiten of i - - - 1530 197 1) 89) - 857
Dispsd - - - - - 163 - - [71 )
Impairment HE - - 5,549 - - - - - 5,549
Exchange reclignment EigE - - 854 30 2 13 17 o4 1,004
At Apil 2018 ond H=E-NEMA-BR
31 March 2018 ZE-\EZB=1-A - 153 12,750 724 629 186 610 1,488 16,540
Provided during the year R - 11 3,505 1317 590 184 361 990 7,058
Written off fiis - - - - [9) - (20 - 25)
Disposal LE - - - - - - - 10) 10)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT - - (44 - [42) - (1) (903) 1,002
Impairment HE - - 7918 - - - - - 7918
Exchange realignment EXHE - - 813) (40) (43 (1) 12 (61) 963)
At 31 March 2019 AB-NEZR=1-H - 264 23316 2,001 1,129 352 952 1,502 29516
Net book value: BERE:
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-AE=H=+-A 1,513 4,082 7,615 5,877 2,013 659 992 5,257 28,008
At 31 March 2018 R-F-NE=B=1-A 1513 4193 20,365 6,949 2,762 886 1,085 5,404 43,157

The net book value of the Group’s motor vehicles held under finance
lease as at 31 March 2019 were approximately HK$4,203,000 (2018:
approximately HK$3,573,000).

Impairment loss recognised for the year

As a result of the poor performance the Group’s unconventional gas
business for the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group carried out a
review of the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment
which in relation to the unconventional gas business for impairment
assessment and the valuation performed by an independent professional
valuer. The recoverable amount is fair value less cost to sell and determined
by replacement cost method under the level 2 fair value measurement.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recognised the
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$7,918,000 (2018: approximately HK$5,549,000) in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

BRERERNBEZAEBRER-ZE-NF=
B=t+—-HZKREFELNH4,203,000/8 T (=
ZE—)\F 143,573,000 T) °

FARARBZHERBE
HRAEBEERRAREBREBE=S -1
FZA=ZT—BLFEXRRETKR AEEHS2RE
ERRARERS 2 BUET G N E B EEEM A
ET2MGE  HZEBIUE BERRE2ZT
W ElEBEETHR - TRESEEERDFER
tgﬁ)ikﬁ& HEBEE—RNTEFAETZEERR
EHERE e

BEZZ-NAF=ZA=+—-HLFE  xEER
FEBRERAMEEBEREINE  BERR
H2RERBIEN7,918,0008 T (=ZE—NF &
5,549,000/ 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17.AMBARIZER
(a) General informations of subsidiaries () MIBARZ—RER
Details of the Group’s material subsidiaries at the end of the R|EPR  AEE2EEMB LR 2FE
reporting period are set out below: HIMT

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
Nominal value  and proportion of

Place of of issued  voting power held
incorporation share capital/ FAFEMGER
Name and operations  paid up capital BEHLRAERTELEH
% HEMBEIR EBRTRES EHE Direct  Indirect Principal activities
EEHR BREEE HiE HE FERE

Sino Talent Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Operation company

HEEEERDA BB 187 EENT

Bright Top Investment Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding

HEREERERAT RREZHS 127 REZR

Profull Int'l Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding

REERERERAF REEZHE 127 REZR

Twinkle Win Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding

RERZEHS 1%7 REZR
Sino Giants Group Limited British Virgin Islands US$1,000 - 51 Investment holding
RBRZEHS 1,000% 7 REER

Multi Century Technology Development Limited Hong Kong HK$490 - 100 Investment holding

AENERRERAT i 490% T REER

Multi Century Energy Technology Limited The PRC RMB15,000,000 - 100 Provision of services in connection

AR BEERREERAT TE AR®15000,0007 with unconventional gas and
import of technical equipment
for the unconventional gas
industry

RERUAFERRAREE

BRERFERRAR
TERBARMRE

Zhan Sheng Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$10,000 70.97 - Investment holding

BRAREERAF RBELHS 10,000% 7T REER

World Grace Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Trading of commodities

HREEERAF BB 187 BmES

Miles Trading Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 Trading of commodities

EEESREERAT S 1003 7t BmES

Zhuhai Tiegang Commercial Trading The PRC US$151,611 - 100 Provision of agency services and

Company Limited FE 151,611%7w trading of commodites in the PRC
KBEEHERRAT RAEREPNBEERERES
Hubei Tiegang Trading The PRC RMB10,200,000 - 77.5 Trading of commodities
Company Limited (“Hubei Tiegang”) FE AR%10,200,0007 BmES

WAEBEZERAT (MDHLEE]D)

Amber Century Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding

RAULERDLA KERZES 127 REZR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 EHzE—-Z—

17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

General informations of subsidiaries (continued)

Name

&8

Elife Investment Holdings Limited

SEERREERBRAF

National Gain Holdings Limited
ERERERLH

Hui Min International (HK) Limited
ERER (F8)BRAT

Elife International Trading Limited

SEEERESERAH

ZhongNongXin Supply Chain Management
Limited

TEEAEEEEARLF

Elife Limited
SEEBRAT

Elife (North America) Limited

Admiral Glory Global Limited (“Admiral Glory”)
Sunfield Global Investments Limited
HERFREFRAA

Esmart Holdings Limited
ENBERARLR

Esmart Technology Co., Ltd
KEEABENRARLT

Esmart Technology (Macau) Limited
ENENR (RMN)ARATF

SEE(RM)BRAR
Power Bright Global Limited (Note (i)
BBRRRERD B (M)

Elife Capital Limited (Nofe | I}
ey eE e thd]

Elife (Hunan) Electronic Commerce Limited
[Note {ii))

S40E (i) EFTHRARL A (H2i)
Notes:

(i) Acquired during the year.

(ii)

Incorporated during the year.

(iii)

Place of
mcorporailon
and ogerahons
HEME IR
BEE

British Virgin Islands
HERUHE

British Virgin Islands
HERUHE

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

The PRC
HE
The PRC
HE

The United States
ESEi

British Virgin Islands
REEZHE

British Virgin Islands
REEZHS

Hong Kong
BE

The PRC
HE

Macau

i

Macau

o0

British Virgin Islands
EERIHE

Hong K%r;g

The PRC
H

NE=A=+—RALEE

17. REB AR ZES ()
MEARZ—RER (&)

(a)

Percentage of
equﬂz attributable

to the Company
Nominal value  and proporilon of
of issued vohn ower held
share capital/ R ER
paid up capital Eth&Fﬁﬁ&%EtW]
ERTERE EHE Direct Indirect Principal activities
BF@EE HiE HE FEXH
US$1 100 - Investment holding
127 RELER
US$1 100 - Investment holding
%7 RELER
HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
18T REER
HK$10,000 - 100 Trading of commodities
10,000% 7T BmES
RMB49,999,999 - 100 Trodlng of commodities
AR#49,999,999 BRES
RMB10,640,160 - 100 Trading of commodities
AR®10,640,1607T EIEEY
US$1 - 100 Trading of commodities
%7 BRE5
US$1,000 512 - Investment holding
1,000% 7 REER
US$100 - 51 Investment holding
10037 REER
HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
1T REER
RMB31,887,168 - 100 Provision of esmart digital services
AR#31,887,168 RHSEHERE
MOP25,000 - 100 Dormant
25,000 TRERTE
MOP25,000 - 100 Dormant
25,000 TRERTE
Us$1,000 100 - Investment holding
1,000% 7T REER
HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
17T REER
RMB726,348 - 100 Dormant
AR¥726,3487C HREKTH
Bt -
(i) RERUERE-

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the

opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths.

Annual Report 2019 4£# -

(ii)
(iii)

REREMR -

J:%%FEFIJHMSEIZWE’Dj DES

RAEBIEAEB 2 XEIEERLE

% %%%% B E A A R 2 5
ELEHNBHRE

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4= 3 % Jit 47 Fit 23 5]

136



137

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non-

17. RMBARZEE ()
b) BEAFLEREHZFZEMBL 2

controlling interests: 15
The table below shows details of the non-wholly-owned subsidiary of TRETEBEAFERER ZAEEHE
the Group that have material non-controlling interests: ZEMBARZFHE

Proportion of
ownership
Loss allocated to

Place of incorporation interests and voting

and principal

rights held by non-

non-controlling

Name place of business controlling interests interests Accumulated
FERERFRIER BET non-controlling
&F B 3L 3t B B ZHhARERR iR iER interests
&1 FEEXRME BRREZLE ZBiR L ER T
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-hEFE ZEBE-NF ZB-NF 2\ IZZ-1F ZE-N\F
% % HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$’000 HK$'000
FiEn TER FiEn TER
Hubei Tiegang The PRC
WL EE HE 22.5 22.5 (12) (20) 2,552 2,739
Admiral Glory British Virgin Islands
REELZHS 48.8 48.8 (14,633) (11,535)  (24,768) (10,849)

EHBEERFEREZZHZEMBL
A2 BERBMERHIMT - LTHBER
BMEEREBR QAR BMEN S8 -

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out below.
The summarised financial information below represents amounts
before intragroup eliminations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HBE-Z-AF=ZA=1+—AItFE
17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non- (b)

17. REBARZES ()
BERFERESZZHEENBAR ZF

controlling interests: (continued)

Hubei Tiegang

& (&)

EiEl4
2019 2018
—2-hEF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FHET
Current assets RBEE 11,439 12,214
Non-current assets FRBEE - 1
Current liabilities RBAE (95) (40)
Non-current liabilities FRBESE - -
Equity attributable to owners RARERANELER
of the Company 8,792 9,436
Non-controlling interests SRR 2,552 2,739
Revenue LYON - -
Loss for the year REEBE (53) (90)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company AKABEEAEEERE (41) (70)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests IR R B AR (12) (20)
Loss for the year REEBE (53) (90)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to AATEEAEEEMEE (FR) Rk
owners of the Company (603) 922
Other comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to FERERBOEMEE (FBR) Wi
non-controlling interests (175) 267
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year AEEHME@E (BE) Wi (778) 1,189
Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to AARBEEAEEEZE (BB WEEE
owners of the Company (644) 852
Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to FEREREGEEE (BB RWEEE
non-controlling interests (187) 247
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year AEERE(BR) WELHE (831) 1,099
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests EfNFEERERZRE - -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities — EEEKZWEFRA (RH) BHE 773 (1,189)
Net cash outflow from investing activities RETBH2RERLFE = N
Net cash inflow from financing activities METBZ2HERAFE = -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BERAN/ (R FE 773 (1,189)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HBE-Z-AF=ZA=1+—AItFE

17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 17. B ATRZHS ()
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non- b) BERIEZEREZZIZEMBLARZF
controlling interests: (continued) 1% (&

Admiral Glory

2019 2018
ZE-hE —2-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Current assets REBEE 30,092 26,016
Non-current assets FRBEE 9,902 13,099
Current liabilities RBEE (45,835) (13,315)
Non-current liabilities kRBER (48,238) (47,438)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AANBEEAEEER (27,688) (11,079)
Non-controlling interests R ER (26,391) (10,559)
Revenue [YON 6,300 8,654
Loss for the year AEEEER (29,986) (23,638)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KATEEAELERE (15,353) (12,103)
Loss attributable to owners of non-controlling interests 32 IR # 5 FE (L &5 18 (14,633) (11,535)
Loss for the year AEEEB (29,986) (23,638)
Other comprehensive income attributable to ARAREAARGHEMEERE
owners of the Company 749 721
Other comprehensive income attributable to non- FEREREREMEEmEKE
controlling interests 714 686
Other comprehensive income for the year REEHMBEEKE 1,463 1,407
Total comprehensive loss attributable to AARFEEAEEZEEBELEE
owners of the Company (14,604) (11,382)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to FEREREGEEEEAH
non-controlling interests (13,919) (10,849)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEEHEEBBRAE (28,523) (22,231)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ERNFERERZRE - -
Net cash outflow from operating activities REEB RSN L FE (12,599) (44,717)
Net cash outflow from investing activities RETEH 2B AL FEE (158) (14,076)
Net cash inflow from financing activities RMETHZRLSRAFHE 13,965 56,606
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BeRA/ (Rt) B8 1,208 (2,187)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
18.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Details of the Group's interest(s) in an associate(s) is as follows:

1. RBEAFIZHI

REBRBERAT BB ZFBWMT ¢

2019 2018
“EB-NnE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#Ex FET
Cost of investment in associates REE QR 2 IRERA
- Unlisted -3k L™ 72,320 72,320
Less: Accumulated impairment loss on interests B R QR 2R 2 REHRERE
in associates (32,539) (32,539)
39,781 39,781
Share of post-acquisition loss EWBREERALEEER
and other comprehensive loss (39,781) (39,781)

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period are as RIBEMF AEBBEATHENT

follows:

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting power

Principal place Class of held by the Group

Name Form of entity Place of incorporation of operation shares held FEAMFEZFAAR Principal activities

2] Riel A Lhes FEERME izl REFELH FERH

Global Mining Incorporated  Republic of Vanuatu The PRC Ordinary 30% (2018: 30%| Providing Radio Frequency

Engineer Inc. AMEY REMELNE HE LER (ZZ-NE:30%) Identification Mining Management
["Global Mining”) System and Solution |"RFID@MMS")
[Note (i)} services, and natural resources-related

BYRBEXIRARAT global sources direct services

(REE ) (W) REEGIER
BRERZARBARE
(TRFID@MMS ) B 7% »
NRERERAENRRBRY
Wisdom Orchid Limited Incorporated British Virgin Islands The PRC Ordinary 40% (2018: 40%) Investment holding
["Wisdom Orchid" MY RERZES e EBR (ZB-NE 1 40%) REER
[Note {ii))
EWERAR(TER))
(W)

Notes: Miat -

(i) The Group holds 30% equity interest in Global Mining and possesses the (i) AEESEBRMIBEIOWREREFSER
right of participation in policy-making processes, including participation F2ER  BEZ2EAERERHMD K2R
in decisions about dividends or other distributions. Therefore, the directors EeAlt ANREERA  AEEHRNE
of the Company consider that the Group had significant influence over EBEEERTED -

Global Mining.

(i)  The Group holds 40% equity interest in Wisdom Orchid and possesses (i) AKREZEEMI0LREREGSIRT 2 #

the right of participation in policy-making processes, including A BESEEARESEMD IR ZRE < A
articipation in decisions about dividends or other distributions. I ARAEERR  AEBHEREFEKR
}I?herefore, the directors of the Company consider that the Group had TN

significant influence over Wisdom OrchicK

Wisdom Orchid’s principal assets is the entire equity interest in EBHZTEZEEANEBAERL AR SRAE
Wisdom Mega Inc imitecfond Qinglong Manchu Autonomous County EaBEEREERAT ((2E) (RES] &
Shuangxin Mining Co., ltd. (“Shuangxin Mining”) (collectively referred BEE) 2 HRE -  SREBTRAEHE
to as "Wisdom Mega Group”). Wisc?om Mega Group's are principally ARR - EERFEEHGBE-

engaged in extraction of iron ores, production and sales OF iron ore

concentrates.

Shuangxin Mining adopted 31 December as financial year end date CERMT A=t —_BAMBFLARFEL
for local statutory reporting purposes. For the preparation of associate’s EERRAE - BRHE LS QR 25 E I BER
consolidated financial statements, its accounts for the year ended 31 “Ms HBZ_T-AF=A=1t—HIE
March 2019 have been used after making adjustments, ‘as appropriate, EZREERELEERELTURA L&
for compliance with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong FTEBARBSRE .

Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

18.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates
are set out below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements prepared in

accordance with HKFRSs.

18. RBEAFIZHEI (M)
FEASEBE QMR CHBENERERIMNT -
UTHBENBERERESBYBREENRR
ZHMERTMBREA T Z2EHE -

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in the B N B AR

consolidated financial statements.

Global Mining

EUMBBRPRARBEEAR -

IRERTR R
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\#F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#Ex FExT
Current assets REBEE 4,066 11,878
Non-current assets FRBEE 648 1,248
Current liabilities REBEE (5,351) (13,113)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BEFH) EEFE (637) 11
Revenue A 1,320 8,859
Loss for the year TEEEE (647) (865)
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEHMEEKE - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEREBRARE (647) (863)
Reconciliation of the above summarised LB REHEER
financial information to the carrying REEMBHRzRAER
amount of the interest in an associate ZRBEARZES
recognised in the consolidated ZIEEEYHE :
financial statements:
Net (liabilities)/assets of the associate BHENRZ (BERE) EEFE (637) 11
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBRRREEXZ
interest in Global Mining B RERER L5 30% 30%
Effect of fair value adjustment at acquisition (Note (i)) RURE QAT ERR S E (K 2(i)) 24,000 24,000
Accumulated impairment loss on interest in REERNRAZERZ R REFIE
associate (Note (ii)) (HiEE(ii) (13,345) (13,345)
Other adjustments HihA® (18,407) (18,410)
Goodwill SRS 7,752 7,752
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEBNRHBEXZ
interest in Global Mining i BREE - -
Notes: et

(i) The fair value of the net assets and liabilities of associate at the date
of acquisition were determined by the directors of the Company with
reference to the valuation performed by Roma Appraisals Limited, an
independent firm of professional valuers.

(i)  The Group completed its annual impairment test for interests in Global
Mining by comparing the recoverable amount of interests in associates to
its carrying amount as at 31 March 2019. The carrying amount of Global
Mining was became zero as at 31 March 2019 and 2018. No further
profits or losses shared by Global Mining to the Group during the years

ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
18.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

1. RBEARZES ()

Wisdom Orchid

W
2019 2018
“Z2-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHET
Current assets RBEE 303 1,246
Non-current assets ERBEE 7,758 9,462
Current liabilities REBERE (8,945) (12,25¢)
Non-current liabilities ERBEME (29) (45)
Net liabilities BEFH (913) (1,593)
Revenue A 6,592 8,634
Profit for the year REEBA 806 827
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEHMEEKER 28 153
Total comprehensive income for the year AEERERSAE 834 980
Reconciliation of the above summarized LiiMBREBERER
financial information to the carrying REMBREARAEZR
amount of the interest in an associate —HREAFCHEEZ
recognised in the consolidated IREEZHIE :
financial statements:
Net liabilities of the associate BENTRzBBEFE (913) (1,593)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest TEEBREBZ
in Wisdom Orchid Fr B RERE 25 LE ) 40% 40%
Effect of fair value adjustment at acquisition (Note (i]) RUKEBE N FERR 2 E (K1) 44,175 44,175
Accumulated impairment loss on interest in REERAzRR2 RN RAEERR
associate (Note (ii)) (K1EE(ii)) (19,194) (19,194)
Other adjustments HihFH# (37,666) (37,666)
Goodwill SRS 12,685 12,685
Carrying amount of the Group's interest AEBREHZER
in Wisdom Orchid ZIREE - -

Notes:

(i) The fair value of the net assets of associate at the date of acquisition (i)
were determined by the directors of the Company with reference to the
valuation performed by Roma Appraisals Limited, an independent firm of

professional valuers.

(i)  The Group completed its annual impairment test for interests in Wisdom (ii)
Orchid by comparing the recoverable amount of interests in associate to

its carrying amount as at 31 March 2019.

BEBLER

RUBEE  BMEQARCEEFEZLFED
HARARESSZH I EXLEMTESERE
FEERABAET2HEMEE -

B QA2 RS2 TRE S BRE
R=B—NE=A=+— A2 EEE A%H

B9 2 M 55 AR RERLE R 3 o

The carrying amount of Wisdom Orchid became zero during the years

ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

BE-_Z—hWGFR-ZF-N\F=ZA=+—H1E
FE SH2EEECRES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

18.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 1. REEATZHR ()

Unrecognised share of losses of associates SEBELTZRERIER
2019 2018
—2—n%E —B-N\%
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FBT
The unrecognised share of losses of associates REEDHBE QR 2 REREE
for the year 128 259
Cumulative share of losses of associates At o hHE AR 2EE 131 259
19. GOODWILL 19.5 &
HK$'000
FET
Cost: H#F(E:
At 1 April 2017 R-ZB—tFMA—H 46,630
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 37) WIBMB AR (BaE37) 23,127
At 31 March 2018, 1 April 2018 and R=ZZ2-NE=A=+—-H - Z2-N\FEBE-HK
31 March 2019 —ZEZ-hE=A=+—H 69,757
Accumulated impairment: Retisi{E :
At 31 March 2017 M-—ZE—tF=g=+—8 (45,251)
Impairment for the year REERE (1.379)
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 RZE-—N\FE=A=+—HBRZZE—/\FWMA—H (46,630)
Impairment for the year RNEERE (4,807)
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE-hF=A=+—H 51,437
Carrying amounts: IRE$E :
At 31 March 2019 R-IE—-NE=A=+—H 18,320
At 31 March 2018 R=ZEBE-NF=ZA=+—H 23,127

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in Note

20.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#r e BF 7% 3R R B R
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HBE-Z-AF=ZA=1+—AItFE

20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 20.mERENR

As explained in Note 6, the Group uses business segments as its primary
segment for reporting segment information. For the purposes of impairment
testing, goodwill with indefinite useful lives set out in Note 19 has been
allocated to following cash generating unit (CGUs). In performing the
impairment testing for the year, the directors of the Company have
engaged an independent valuer, APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting
Limited, to determine the recoverable amount of each CGUs. The carrying
amount of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) as at 31 March

2019 and 2018, is allocated as follows:

WS - AEBRAEK D BELABEDH
BRZERD®M - BMETREREMS - WE19
FRYTEZEANERAFH2BEESIBRTTIE
SELBEN(REELBEN]) - RFRETRE
AR AARAESCEREBUGEMNEAEE
FEREEARARNEEEREELBEU TR
AEE - R-B-NEFR-ZF-NF=ZA=1+—
B B2 (RERRESR) 2REEDEER
W

2019 2018

—E-n% e

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Esmart digital services BREBIE RS 18,320 23,127

Esmart digital services

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based
on a value-in-use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period,
and a discount rate of 21% (2018: 24%) per annum for the year ended
31 March 2019.

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on the same
expected gross margins throughout the budget period. The cash flows
beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady 3%
(2018:3%) per annum growth rate for the year ended 31 March 2019.
The growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the
market.

Due to continuous loss suffered by Esmart digital services business,
the management of the Company assessed it recoverable amount and
it is calculated to be lowerthan its carrying amount, during the year
ended 31 March 2019, impairment loss on goodwill of approximately
HK$4,807,000 (2018: Nil) was recognised.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations for the esmart
digital services are as follows:

T REBIE AR IS
HWReEEEN2TRESEDREEBEERT
E MEREEDUESHAAERELFHBZ
MHREERBE-E-NF=ZA=Z+—BLFE
BRI EGFE21% (ZZE—N\F 1 24%) BEBRFE
ZHeEREFERGTE -

REEHRzREeRERANERETEERER
ZHEEEBENRE - BE-_T—NEF=A=+—
BEFE BHIFHBA2REREDNRAESF
3% (ZB—N\F 3% ZBEFHREHE - %
BREVABBDSRBFHERER -

HREEBERBERSHEREEHR  #AQTH
EEEMGHETRESE YA EHEESES
BEREREE RBEE-Z-NAF=ZA=+—-H1t
FECRABE ZRERELN4,807,0008 T (=

E-NEF H) -

RERBERB2EREBEFEMRAZEIER
RWT

Budgeted market share  The values assigned to the assumption reflect EERSBEEE EARZERERZEBERR
past experience, except for the growth factor, BIELR  WEREEBSZFIR
which is consistent with the directors’ plans ZEMSZRENTEER
for focusing operations in these markets. The —H - EFHE REKEF
directors believe that planned market share et E8mShERFRRE
growth per year for the next five years is A S IR MERR o
reasonably achievable.

Budgeted gross margin ~ Average gross margins achieved in the FEEEFE S ETEE A H R Fr B

period immediately before the budget
period, increased for expected efficiency
improvements. This reflects past experience,
except for efficiency improvements.

ZFEFR - BRGNS
HEMIBM o RPEBER
5 EMBRERD o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

21.AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSET/

21. THHEMBRE RAFEH AR

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 2EKBCHEEE
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2019 2018
—E-hE S Y-
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FExT
Unlisted equity PEIFE TR ARRE S
securities in the PRC (K1) B (i)
Note (i) and (ii) 1,313 1
Notes: et -

(i)

(i)

Included in the unlisted equity securities at cost above, the Group’s
investment in Power Bright Global Limited (“Power Bright”), a company
incorporated in the BVI, with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,000 (2018: approximately HK$1,000). The investment represent
9.9% as at 31 March 2018 holding of the ordinary share capital of
Power Bright. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company
acquired the rest of 90.1% equity interest of Power Bright and its
subsidiaries. The principal activity of Power Bright is investment holdings.

The unlisted equity securities of Power Bright do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and are measured at cost less impairment for the
year ended 31 March 2018 because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the fair value cannot be reliably measured.

On 23 January 2019, Esmart Technology Company Limited, a non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to subscribed 4.61% of unlisted equity securities. The company
is principally engaged in the business in relation to vending machine
and convenience store. The directors of the Company have elected to
designed these investments in financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income as they believe that the investment is strategic
investment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HBE-Z-AF=ZA=1+—AItFE

22.INVENTORIES 22. %8
2019 2018
—S-n% e
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FHET
Finished goods LS 10,952 8,401
23.TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES 23.HEBHFRAREBIRRE

2019 2018
“E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFET FET
Trade receivables (Note (i) B RWIE (Miti) 20,844 16,407
Less: net impairment losses on trade receivables B B RWEEZBEEEERSE (1,400) -
19,444 16,407
Bill receivables (Note {ii)) BWRE (Kaii) 11,157 10,600
30,601 27,007

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice UTARBERRBRERZAHERERRINZE

date, at the end of reporting period. Z WA

2019 2018
—E2-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET
0 to 30 days 0Z30H 2,054 7,205
31 to 60 days 31&260H 1,553 1,915
61 to 90 days 612908 1,682 2,253
91 to 180 days 912180H 3,872 5,034
Over 180 days HiE180H 11,683 -
20,844 16,407
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
23.TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(i) According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows
a range of credit periods within 90 days to its trade customers. Trade

receivables are denominated in HK$, RMB and US$.

As at 31 March 2018, trade receivables of approximately
HK$5,034,000 were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number
of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default.
The Group does not hold any collateral as security over these debtors.

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the directors of
the Company consider any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivables from the date credit were initially granted up to the reporting
date. Accordingly, the directors of the Company considered that provision
for impairment is value be made in respect of trade receivables to their
recoverable values and believe that there is no credit provision required

in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

(i) As at 31 March 2019, bill receivables represent commercial draft of
approximately HK$11,157,000 (2018: approximately HK$10,600,000)
will be matured within two months after the end of the reporting period.

All the bill receivables are denominated in RMB.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables for the year ended 31
March 2019 are set out in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statement.

24,.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

Deposits BE
Prepayments
Other receivables (Note (i), (i) & (iii))

Less: net impairment losses on other receivables

(Note (iv))

B RIE
Bt FEWRFRIE (B EE (i) ~ (ii) R (iii))

23. WS EURIAR B RE (&)
G

(i)

(i)

RETREF2FETER  FEELATHES
BEFZEEMABR - EZBUNFIALLE
T ARBRERTE-

RZZE-NFZR=+—-0 EZERWNEYN
5,034,000/ T 2 BB ERBME - ZERES
REEMNOIHABBRCBZZ2BIEF - &%
EXYERZERARSEEMERREER-

EETESRRNEZJREME  RAAEE
ENZERESRUNBZEFEEZAANIR
HEERNEEEREAB L 2EM2E - H
bt ALBESAHEAHE S BERFRERE
BEZATWREEE XHREHARBHRIR
BEEZHEFHEERE -

REZZBE-AFZA=Z+—-H UBXERAE
ZEWRELNI,157,0008 T (ZF—\F:
#10,600,00078 7T) #RMEBREMER R
EH - TERRRBGUARKESE-

BE-_Z-NAF=ZA=t-HLFEREZRENK
EET ZREFEFBERNGE B BRRMEES -

24. 5%  RAARFERHAMEKRZRIER

HWoHEMERREZRERSREFHR

2019 2018
—B-nEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHRT TR

1,369 2,088

24,755 21,946
168,810 171,614
194,934 195,648
(76,032) -
118,902 195,648
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

24.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)
Notes:

As at 31 March 2019, included the other receivables are several significant
items as follows:

(i)

(ii)

Outstanding consideration for sale of minority interest in an associated
company

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 2 June 2015
(as supplemented and amended by two supplemental agreements
thereto dated 23 June 2017 and 28 November 2017) (the “Disposal
Agreement”) between Elife Investment Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Sino Rich Energy Holdings Limited) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) (“Elife Investment”) and Jetgo Group Limited (“Jetgo”), Elife
Investment agreed to dispose of 10.5% of the issued share capital of an
associated company to Jetgo at the consideration of HK$150,000,000.
The first and second instalments of the consideration of approximately
HK$75,304,000 were settled in accordance with the schedule.

In relation to the third instalment of the consideration of approximately
HK$74,696,000 due 31 December 2018, Jetgo settled HK$200,000
in June 2018 and approximately HK$74,496,000 has remained
outstanding as at 31 March 2019 (2018: approximately
HK$74,696,000).

Performance deposit due from Zhongshang Huimin (Beijing) E-Commerce
Co. ltd. (“Huimin”)

An interest-free and unsecured performance deposit of RMB50,000,000
(the “Performance Deposit”) was paid by Zhongnongxin Supply Chain
Management Company Limited (“Zhongnongxin”) (an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) to Huimin pursuant to the supply
agreement dated 8 March 2017 (the “Supply Agreement”) among
Zhongnongxin, Huimin and Mr. Zhang Yichun (“Mr. Zhang”). Mr.
Zhang, a non-executive Director and a vice-chairman of the Board,
provided a personal guarantee to Zhongnongxin for the repayment of the
Performance Deposit in full when due.

Pursuant to the Supply Agreement (as supplemented and amended by
two supplemental agreements thereto on 11 September 2017 and 1
March 2018 respectively), the Performance Deposit shall become due on
16 September 2018. Huimin did not repay the Performance Deposit in
full by the said due date. Since August 2018 (that is, one month before
the due date), the Group has from time to time requested repayment of
the Performance Deposit by Huimin by various means and in particular,
(a) on 20 August 2018, the Group issued a letter to Huimin requesting
for immediate repayment of the Performance Deposit; (b) on 22 August
2018 and 4 September 2018 respectively, the Group requested Huimin
to repay the Performance Deposit in full before 16 September 2018
by email; (c) on 27 September 2018, the PRC legal counsel of the
Company, issued a demand letter to Huimin and Mr. Zhang requesting
Huimin for repayment of the Performance Deposit; (d) in early November
2018, the management of the Company attended physical meetings
with representatives of Huimin to negotiate on, among other things, the
means to settle the Performance Deposit, which is preliminarily proposed
to be either by way of loan, equity pledge or equity transfer; (e) on 10
December 2018, Huimin provided a repayment schedule in respect of
settlement of the Performance Deposit and approximately RMB2,000,000
had been received during the year ended 31 March 2019; and (f) On
30 May 2019, a supplemental agreement was entered info among
the parties and it was agreed that Huimin shall to repay the remaining
balances of the Performance Deposit on or before 16 December 2019.
The said supplemental agreement contains a clause that the Group shall
have the right to demand repayment of the outstanding sum on or before
the due date.

As at 31 March 2019, the Performance Deposit of approximately
HK$56,128,000 (equivalent to RMB48,000,000) (2018: approximately
HK$62,459,000) included in other receivables. The Performance Deposit
was partially repaid of approximately RMB1,800,000 subsequently in
accordance with the repayment schedule to the year ended 31 March
2019.

24.85& AARTR H B HRIR (8)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

24.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) Loan to Graceful Ocean International Group Holding Limited (“Graceful

Ocean”)

On 11 September 2014, Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino Talent”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as lender, entered into a loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Graceful Ocean, as borrower and
Mr. Ma Haike as first guarantor whereby Sino Talent agreed to advance
to Graceful Ocean a term loan in the principal amount of HK$18 million
(the “Loan”) with interest accrued at the rate of 13% per annum. The
parties entered into five supplemental agreements to the Loan Agreement
between April 2015 and June 2018 to, 25 among other things, postpone
the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March 2019. On 24 June 2019,
the parties and Mr. Gao Feng (“Mr. Gao”), an executive director and
the vice-chairman of the Board, entered into the sixth supplemental
agreement to the Loan Agreement with the interest rate of 10% per
annum, to further postpone the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March
2020. Meanwhile, as an additional security of the repayment obligations
of the borrower under the Loan Agreement (as supplemented by the six
supplemental agreements), Mr. Gao, entered into a second guarantee
contract (“Mr. Gao's Second Guarantee”) with Sino Talent and Graceful
Ocean whereby Mr. Gao agreed to act as the second guarantor and in
the event and only when Mr. Ma failed to or refused to fulfill its guarantee
obligations as the first guarantor, guarantee the due performance of
Graceful Ocean in respect of its repayment obligations under the Loan
Agreement (as supplemented by the six supplemental agreements).

As at 31 March 2019, the total outstanding amount of the Loan and the
interest accrued thereon was approximately HK$23,686,000 (2018:
approximately HK$21,943,000) and included in other receivables.

(iv) In respect of the sales consideration in Note (i), on 28 November
2018, 2 January 2019 and 25 April 2019, the Group [either by itself
or through its legal advisers) issued demand letters to Jetgo while the
management of both parties continued to discuss the means to settle
the outstanding amount. The Company sought legal advices from two
separate Hong Kong law firms on the viability and pros and cons of
taking legal action against Jetgo on its failure to make the repayment
in accordance with the Disposal Agreement. The Company will further
instruct professionals to assess the assets and financial conditions of the
Vendor, its associated companies and the sole shareholder of the Vendor
in Hong Kong and elsewhere and will then decide whether or not to take
legal action against the Vendor or explore other options including but
not limited to disposal of the outstanding amount. As at the date of this
report, the Company received a preliminary offer from an interested asset
management company fo acquire the outstanding amount. The preliminary
purchase price offered is however very low and the management of
the Company considered that more time would be required to find a
resolution for this issue which is in the best interest of the Company.

Due to the expected possibility of repayment from Jetgo in short period
of time is very low and assessed its expected credit losses (“ECL") is
very high by an independent firm of professional valuers, after thorough
consideration, the Board decided to make a full provision of impairment
on the respective receivables, i.e. approximately HK$74,496,000 for the

year ended 31 March 2019.

Regarding the Performance deposits in Note (ii) and loan in Note (iii),
the ECLs are relatively low as supported by the repayment schedules and
the personal guarantees, the provision allowance of the impairment on
other receivables are approximately HK$931,000 and HK$547,000

respectively as at 31 March 2019.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

24.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 24. %€  RAAREAREMEWRRIE (K)
RECEIVABLES (continued)
Details of impairment assessment of other receivables for the year ended HE-Z-hF=ZA=1t—HLEFEBRHMERK
31 March 2019 are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial RIEETZREFHFBERAREGS T B RRMEE
statements. 50
25.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. 5 @R GFERE
At the end of the reporting period, cash and cash equivalents were RIBEHR  BARBAZEEE HUTH S
denominated in the following currencies: L
2019 2018
~E-NE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FBT
RMB AR 15,897 3,086
HK$ BT 3,124 2,435
us$ EP 362 2,346
19,383 7,867
The remittance of cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB out of UARBEEZRERRSEEEBELFEHZA
the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control restrictions imposed by BIFEBRFRERIEES -
the government of the PRC.
Cash and cash equivalents carry interest at market rates which range from BeRkRBRELEEEERTSNEFE  NTFEF
1% to 2% per annum. 1%22% °
26.TRADE PAYABLES 26. RHEARERA
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based on the UTARBREBRBEZZAHRERINTZE
invoice date at the end of the reporting period. 5 RE R ¢
2019 2018
“E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
0 to 30 days 0ZE30H 4,971 3
31 to 60 days 31HZ60H 2,587 -
61 to 90 days 61HEQ0H - -
91 to 180 days 91HZE180H - -
Over 180 days #iB180H - -
7,558 3
The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 90 days. The BEETEMRZFHUEERNAR0R - AEEEE
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all EoBRERERRE  UBRERMAEEMAFER
payables are paid within the credit timeframe. EEBBIELR XA -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
27.ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES

Accrued liabilities 2itaE
Deposit received BWEE
Other payables Hib S IE

27 RetARREfMEMSRIF

2019 2018
—E-nE —E-N\EF
HK$’000 HK$’000

TR Tt

10,622 4,636

55 1,007
22,066 15,062
32,743 20,705

As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2018, the deposits received
with amounted to approximately HK$1,374,000 and approximately

HK$1,007,000 reclassified as contract liabilities respectively.

28. AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS

Current liabilities
Amount due to Gao Feng (“Mr. Gao”)

mERE

- interest-bearing (Note (i) — 5T B (B (i)
— interest free (Note {ii)) - %8 (K1&(ii))

Amount due to Zhang Xiaobin (“Mr. Zhang”) (Note (ii)) FERSRBEM (3R T4E 1) RRIE (A2 (i)

M=

E-NEFE=ZRA=+—-BAKR=ZZE-N\FHWNA

—B EF2ERAGHNEBZEREESHN
1,374,00038 T % £91,007,00058 7T °

BAEE (S LE]) KA

Notes:

(i)

(i

(iii)

On 4 February 2019, the Company signed a shareholder’s loan facility
agreement of HK$5,000,000 with Mr. Gao, a director of the Company,
is unsecured, bearing interest at a prime rate plus 1% (i.e. 6.125%)
per annum and due on 3 February 2020. The shareholder’s loan was
partially repaid of approximately HK$776,000 subsequently.

The amounts due to Mr. Gao and Mr. Zhang, who are also directors
of the Company, are under current liabilities and non-trade in nature,
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

The amounts due to shareholders with aggregated amount approximately
HK$14,555,000 (2018: approximately HK$14,670,000) under non-
current liabilities are unsecured, interest-free and repayable with fixed
term of three years.

29. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The amounts due to non-controlling interests are non-trade in nature,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable with fixed term of three years.
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2019 2018
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Fi T
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2,339 -
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30.

31.

OTHER BORROWINGS

Carrying amount repayable within one year:

BEAER

Secured loan

AR—FRNEEZEE ZREE :

30. Hti & &
2019 2018
—E-nE —E-N\EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T Tt
23,353 -

On 8 March 2019, one of the subsidiary of the Company entered into a
loan agreement with an independent third party (“Lender”) for borrowing
of a loan in the principal amount of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,353,000) for a term of 2 months from the date of
drawing down with interest rate was 8.0% per annum.

On 26 April 2019, the Company, the subsidiary of the Company and the
Lender entered into the loan capitalisation agreement (“Loan Capitalisation
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Lender conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, and the Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue,
an aggregate of 125,008,842 Loan Capitalisation Shares, at the Loan
Capitalisation subscription price of HK$0.188 each. The subscription
amount payable by the Lender under the Loan Capitalisation Agreement
shall be satisfied by capitalising the outstanding principal amount of the
loan and the interest accrued thereon under the loan agreement. The Loan
Capitalization completion took place on 10 May 2019.

For the details of other borrowings and loan capitalisation, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 26 April 2019 and 10 May
2019 respectively.

REZZB-NF=ZANR XA HEHF—-EHWEQ
AE-EBYE=F (ERADTLERWGE
LB AR EEE R ARY20,000,0007T (HERY
23,353,000 T) &R BEEERBARENZA
BETAHI2MEA - WIRFFRE%E ©

RZZB-AFHOAZ+XB A2F -A20QH
ZHBRAREERATIEREAHE (&
REFRCHED HE - Bl ERAFTREE
ERBE MAXAARMAEREERBERBETAH
125,008 842BREREHR LR  EREAR{R
BEARAER0.188BTT - EMARBERERLH
BREVZABIEAZBEAREREENAEHER
HEZFARNEERNMEZARAXNT - ERERLE
REZZB-NFHEA+HZEERK

FHEMEERERERLZFHE  FEHEAQ
AAMAZZE-AFONAZ+ABR=ZZ-HF
ERAtBEZAMA-

BANK BORROWINGS 31.8RITHER
2019 2018
ZZB-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Secured fixed rate bank borrowings BIRAEEFNRRITEE 329 -
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Scheduled payment terms of bank loan contain AEEEREERAZRITER
a repayment on demand clause (shown under FIARBER) 2 R
current liabilities):
Within one year —F R 329 -
Notes: Miat -

i) One of the customer of the Group provided the deposits to bank to secure
the banking facilities.

i)  The carrying amount of the Group’s bank borrowings are all originally
denominated in RMB.

i) AEBET-FFEFEBITRERSUERR
TREZER-

i) AEEAERGEE 2 REERDEUARS
B
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As at 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments under
finance lease their present value were as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

32.OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASE 32 . BEHEERIE

REZZB-NF=ZA=+—0 BMEBEYIT2ZRRE
BEHECMRAERENT :

2019 2018
Z2-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHExT
Total minimum lease payments REEENHEHE
— Due within one year - —FEREH 1,059 819
— Due in the second to fifth years, inclusive —SE-ZFZERAF (BEEEME) FH 2,386 2,526
3,445 3,345
Less: future finance charges on finance lease & : BEHRN 2 AR EEH (215) (232)
Present value of lease obligations BERIEZEE 3,230 3,113
2019 2018
“Z2-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Present value of finance lease liabilities MmEHEABEZRE
— Due within one year - —FREH 950 720
— Due in the second to fifth years, inclusive —FE_ZERF(EREREME) I 2,280 2,393
3,230 3,113
Less: current portion due within one year W ARBDEEMR —FRIBZNHERD
included under current liabilities (950) (720)
Non-current portion included under non- STARBEE MRS
current liabilities 2,280 2,393

The Group has leased the motor vehicles under finance lease and the
lease term are in the range from 4 to 5 years. During the year ended 31
March 2019, the annual effective interest rates of the obligations under
finance lease was 1.85% to 2.2% per annum (2018: 1.85% per annum).
The obligations under finance lease are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and its carrying amount approximate its fair value. The Group’s
obligations under finance lease are secured by the lessors’ title to the
leased assets of the Group.

As at 31 March 2019, the finance lease payables of the Group were
secured by the lessor’ charge over the leased assets with carrying amount of
approximately HK$4,203,000 (2018: approximately HK$3,573,000) (Note
16).
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AEBEREMERNEERE HEHNT
4B5F RBE-Z-NF=ZA=+-RHLHF
E BREHERECERFNEATF.85%E
22%(ZF—NF B8F1.85%) - MEHERE
LUBTEHE  AIREEEA N FERE - A&H
ZREHEARUHEARAEBREHEEE 2%
IR o

RZZB-NF=ZAZ=Z+—B AEEZREHE
FEAF FR B LU A A BRTEIE 494,203,000% T 2
BEEEMRFERR (ZF-N\F 43,573,000
7T) (MIEE16) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

33.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33.M¥BEITHR
2019 2018
ZB-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Categories of financial instruments MBBIAER
Financial assets HMHEE
At amortised cost (including cash REBELAR (BIEHRER
and cash equivalents) HeZEER)
Trade and bill receivables B RWNRERERZE 30,601 27,007
Deposits and other receivables Be Rk HEMERRIE 94,147 171,614
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RESEEER 19,383 7,867
144,131 206,488
At fair valve HRFE
— Availablefor-sale financial asset —-HHHEEMKEE - 1
— Financial asset at fair value through - RAFESFAEMEZERGZ
other comprehensive income BREE 1,313 -
1,313 1
Financial liabilities HEBRR
At amortised cost AR
Trade payables B S EMARIE 7,558 3
Accrued liabilities and other payables EaEREMENTUE 32,688 19,698
Amounts due to shareholders A IRRFE 18,658 15,212
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEAS I IR R 2 TR TE 8,485 8,370
Other borrowings HfE & 23,353 -
Bank borrowings RITEE 329 -
Obligations under finance lease BhEHERIE 3,230 3,113
94,301 46,396
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34.SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY 4. XENFIKRE
Number of shares Amount
B8R &
2019 2018 2019 2018
ZZ-hE —E-N\F —Z-nE “E-N\F
‘000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T TR TET TR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 BRMEEC.02ET (ZF-NF:0.0187x)
(2018: HK$0.01) each ZEBR (iR M)
INoe (i} & Note (i
Authorised: EE
At the beginning of the year REA 30,000,000 30,000,000 300,000 300,000
Share consolidation (Note (ii)) R1DE BF (732 i) (15,000,000) - - -
At the end of the year RE#HK 15,000,000 30,000,000 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRAR:
At beginning of the year READ 5,192,160 4,892,138 51,922 48,921
Subscription of shares (Nofe {iiil) RERG (i) 383,375 - 3,833 -
Share consolidation (Nofe (ii)) BAD & BF (A7 EL(ii)) (2,787,768) - - -
Exercise of share options (Nofe (iv)) TR IR (1 iv) - 50,652 - 507
Grant of shares under share BRERG B ERERS (HFN))
award scheme (Note (v)) - 249,370 - 2,494
At end of the year REH 2,787,767 5,192,160 55,755 51,922
Notes: Wt

(i)

(i)

(iii)

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4: i #& it 7 iR A 7 -

On 15 March 2017, the Company passed an ordinary resolution by
the shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting to increase
the authorised share capital of the Company from HK$60,000,000
divided into 6,000,000,000 shares to HK$300,000,000 divided
into 30,000,000,000 shares by the creation of an additional
24,000,000,000 shares. It is to provide the Company with flexibility for
fund raising by allotting and issuing new shares in the future as and when
appropriate.

On 14 November 2018, the Company proposes to implement the share
consolidation on the basis that every two issued and unissued existing
shares to be consolidated into one consolidated share. In addition, the
board lot size of 2,000 existing shares will be proposed to consolidated
to 20,000 consolidated shares. The par value is changed from HK$0.01
per each to HK$0.02 per share. The extraordinary general meeting was
approved on 7 January 2019.

The Company was successfully subscribed 150,625,000 shares,
156,250,000 shares and 76,500,000 shares at HK$0.01 each on
11 May 2018, 31 May 2018 and 29 June 2018 respectively at a
subscription price of HK$0.128 per share for a total consideration,
before expenses, of approximately HK$49,072,000. The proceeds
were used for general working capital of the Group and development of
the Group’s daily consumer goods trading and esmart digital services
business.
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(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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30,000,000,0000 8% 3) - LLEETIHEA QT
SEEREN  UERRRNBERREEBAR
BRBITHRDESR -

REZZE-NF+-A+EA  RARARAERET
ROEH BEAKESMBREBTRRETR
ERNDEHA-REHRED - Wi BFEE
BV EHEE2,000RBE RN E 520,000
BREGRD - HEHASRO0IBAERSER
0.02}8% - FEERBER-F-NF—-ALH
ZRRER KRS LEEHE -

KARARZ=ZE-NFHEA+—-—B - ==
- NFHEA=Z=+-—-BRZZE-NEAXRA
“t+ABRUWERBESR0.128B TS5
RIE150,625,0008 ~ 156,250,000/ &
76,500,000 B R EEC.01B T 2iR#H > &
KRB (JOBRBIZ AT) 549,072,000 T - H
BBRERAERAEE - REEESURR
RAEEREEERES REEBBERBEER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

34.SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv)

(v)

During the year ended 31 March 2018, 50,652,000 share options had
been exercised by holders at HK$0.105 each for the issuance of shares.
As a result of the exercise of share options, cash and cash equivalents,
share capital and share premium have been increased by approximately
HK$5,319,000, HK$507,000 and HK$7,010,000 respectively
and share options reserve has been decreased by approximately
HK$2,198,000.

On 27 June, 2017, the Board has resolved that 249,370,000 awarded
shares of HK$0.01 each (comprising (1) 234,140,000 awarded shares
to be allotted and issued to the connected persons of the Company and
(2) 15,230,000 awarded shares to other non-connected persons of the
Company) to 18 selected participants under the new share award scheme
by way of issue and allotment of new shares. On 17 August 2017, the
Company passed the above ordinary resolution by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting. On 22 August 2017, the Company issued the
respective awarded shares at fair value of HK$0.142 per share.

34.FX TR F (&)
Bat o (&)
(ivy BEZZ-N\NF=ZA=+—-HLFE &

v)

BEABRERO0.1058 T174£50,652,000
MEBRRE UERITRG -BHRBRERET
- RERRLLEEEE REARRDEE
2 2 Bl & n#5,319,000% T~ 507,000
7T %7,010,00058 7T - & A% 4 i #5 B R 2 49
2,198,000 7t °

REZZE-—LFARXAZ+LH ESSCERR
BHROZBBIFBUARBRBITHROZE
X @18 REEESEE R M249,370,000
BREMEO.O1EB T ZEBIRMD (BFE()E @A
NEEEALE SR 317234,140,0008% 22 @)
BRORQEEAEMEADTBEBEALTEER
B1715,230,000 @R ) - R=F—LF
NA+EBR RARARKRARRBFASLE
BLEAEBERBRR R-ZB—tFNAZ+Z=
B AREEAFESRKROI42BTET LR
BEHEZEBRD -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

35.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 5. XNFICHBERARR iR
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of Financial Position (a) BHKRAER
2019 2018
ZB—-h¥F —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
g3 TER FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R E AR 2 Em 86,513 242,392
Property, plant and equipment WE - BERERE 2,963 3,454
Available-for-sale financial asset AHHENKEEE - 1
89,476 245,847
Current assets RERE
Deposits, prepayments and B ANRER
other receivables H it fE R B 1,422 1,502
Cash and cash equivalents ReERESLESEEE 2,381 485
3,803 1,987
Less: Current liabilities W RERR
Accrued liabilities and 2t aEREMENRE
other payables 12,615 6,223
Amount due to a shareholder T IRERRIE 1,160 490
13,775 6,713
Net current liabilities nERARRH (9,972) (4,726)
Total assets less current BEMRERTDAR
liabilities 79,504 241,121
Net assets HERE 79,504 241,121
Capital and reserves BER R
Share capital %N 34 55,755 51,922
Reserves 1] 35(b) 23,749 189,199
Total equity Hana 79,504 241,121
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 R-B-AERNB-Z+N\BEESSHE
June 2019 and signed on its behalf by: RERHE YHTIALRARESE:
Zhang Xiaobin Gao Feng
RIBEH =14
Director Director
BE 3
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

35.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 35.F0FcMBR AR &R (1)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(b) Reserve (b) f 0
The detail movement of reserves of the Company is as follows: RARRBEZFAZBHOT ¢

(Accumulated  Shares held

Share losses)/ for share Share

premium  Contributed retained award options
account surplus earnings scheme reserve Total

(RHER)/ ROEEHY Rk
B AR BARE GEERAN Fiisikin 10 #n
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn FET TiER FET FiEn

[Note i) [Note ii) [Note iii)

(Hiti) (Hi&tii) (Hitiii)
At 1 April 2017 RZE—tFMA—-H 196,335 7,076 21,160 (4,986) 68,506 288,091
Loss for the year KEEER - - (146,887) - - (146,887)
Share options granted RIBERE - - - - 10,273 10,273
Share options exercised THEERE 7,010 - - - (2,198) 4,812
Share options lapsed BRI - - 9,274 - (9,274) -

Grant of shares under RERDR B AR LR
share award scheme 32917 - - - - 32917
Share issuing expenses L E (7) - - - - 7)
At 31 March 2018 and RZB-N\F=A=1-H

1 April 2018 R=Z-N\EMA-A 236,255 7,076 (116,453 (4,986) 67,307 189,199
Loss for the year AEEER - - (210,676 - - (210,676)
Share options lapsed BREAR - - 7,636 - 7,636) -
Subscription of shares RERA 45,239 - - - - 45,239
Share issuing expenses RBEATHR (13) - - - - (13)
At 31 March 2019 R=S-NE=A=+-H 281,481 7076 (319,493) (8,986) 59,671 23,749
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

35.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Reserve (continued)
Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Contributed surplus

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the
fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the Group reorganisation during the year ended 31 March 2002,
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefore and the capitalisation of the 30,000,000 shares allotted
and issued nil paid. Under the Companies Law (2001 Second
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the contributed surplus account
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company under certain
circumstances. Details of distributable reserve are set out in page
64 of the consolidated financial statements.

Shares held for share award scheme

The shares held for share award scheme is the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs for purchase
of shares under the Share Award Scheme, in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 3(p).

Share options reserve

The share options reserve relates to share options granted to
employees under the employee share option scheme. Further
information about share-based payments to employees is set out in

Note 36.
Other reserve

Other reserve represents the changes in ownership of the Group's
interest in subsidiaries.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
cash distribution and/or distribution in specie, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands to members amounted to approximately HK$Nil
(2018: approximately HK$126,878,000) which comprised share
premium of approximately HK$281,481,000 (2018: approximately
HK$236,255,000), contributed surplus of approximately
HK$7,076,000 (2018: approximately HK$7,076,000) and
accumulated losses of approximately HK$319,493,000 (2018:
approximately HK$116,453,000). No final dividend has been
proposed out of such reserves for the year (2018: Nil).
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5. FRFZHMBERRARR W (&)

(b) W (#)
Mt

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

BARER

RRBZBABBERBEREE_SZ
CEZAZ+-BHLEFERETZER
EAMBAZHBRARROZAFE &
HERRBMZEWBRARMMET
ARATRMDEE 2 ZEBREANCFRE 3
K 847,230,000,0008% K B R KR D ©
REMEHBLRAE(CEE-—FE R
EETIR) - AABAEETHERABAR
BRER A 2 FRIE R IR R AE H DR © AR A A
D IREEZFBERRNGE B BERE
HFO64H °

B 10 22 b=t &I T I AR 49

RIEMIEES (p) Tl 2 EFTBUR » 1D RE
SPEIFEFRO A 2RE  BER
BRORBIIBERO 2EMEERE
IEIBERA -

BREREE

BREFBERBESBRETIART
BE-BRERR FHEUEEHLZ
BRAD T AT 23 — BB H R HIEESS -

HipfEE

Hitf#EIEASERMB AR 2 BE 2
FRERZE -

D IR E

RZZE-hEF=ZA=+—0 A2 AR
BEASHE QAL (ZET=FBITR)
STECAHERSIIRR BEYD
M RENBERT (ZE-—NFE H
126,878,000 7T) » B BER M E
BIRA Z 1B 281,481,000 T (=
T— \F 1 49236,255,00087T) - BH
BHIRAZFHIELN7,076,0008 T (=2
— N\ 1 47,076,000 T) & 25t 18
BRI 2 B 41 49319,493,00058 T (==
—J\E 1 89116,453,00058 7T) o RAE
ErSEZZaEERKEPRAIRARE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HBE-T-hF=A=+—HILFE

36.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 36. LIB R 3Z 1z BRI\

Share Options Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include any directors and employees of the
Company, including all executive directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 8 October 2010 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date. On 17 August 2017, the Company passed an ordinary
resolution by the shareholders at the annual general meeting to amend
certain provisions of the share option scheme.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
share option in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

The share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
subsidiaries, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from
the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
would be determined by the directors.

The exercise price of the share options would be determined by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the
share options, which must be a business day; and (ii) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer, provided that the subscription
price shall not be lower than the nominal value of the shares.

fR B et &

RRBRE-EBERETS (&8 - #FUE
HAEEEBRNEHEM EERSEERT
HER/RER - ZFEZAERSREQER
RAEMNESRES (BEALAREKNE QR
ZIBEHTES) - ZFAER=_Z-ZFFE+AN
BEBAER  BRIFUHME XNEUERIEFT %58
FRZtBEZB R T FEARBER -R=F
—tEFNATER A2ARRRRREFAS
LEB-EHEBRER  UWETBREFIET
7R3 °

WRI5 FZ at B TR IS5 R B R 1 i) AR AT 166 2 B AR A
BT 2BEeROBEASENBRETESALS
REMBSEE BHTRD Z10% - ZTEEEERK
SEENEMI2EANBREBERETERTZ
BeROBEURQRAEAREEHTREZ1%
AR LE-—SIREBEMRBBRE  HE
RIRRARE EERRAE -

REARARAES  TETRAESRTERRRREK
E2AEMBBAIRLBRE KASENES
SIEBATESRE o BLHh  LAMEMI218 B B
AERRBHEEAMBARNZEERRIB L
FRTESREEMBRE  MARKFEERL
DNEAMEAEEEBTRN 201 %28 E (RER
B EADBRD 2 ERFE) BiB5,000,000
BT BABERBRRAELESRRAE -

REBRECEZRTRREHEZZAMET28BR
B ARAAXINEH BRI Z2EBARE-
FERBEREZITENHESEE -

BRESTHERESETE  ERSERI)ED
ARDNBREEZZREBS (BDAREXH)E
BT 2 T B R (i) AR RARMDNEEEHE
BEOMAEEXZ B ERRA2FORTERE
TEReE ERBETSERROEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

36.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Share Options Scheme (continued)
The fair value of share options granted to any directors, employees and other
parties is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in
a share option reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2019 are as

follows:

Category of
Participants
ELEHE

Directors

Es

Mr. Zhang Xiaobin
L

Mr. Goo feng
BHE

Mr. Chiu Su Keung
BRERL

Mr. Sun Qiang
v

Mr. Zhang Yichun
R-24E

Mr. Shao Zil
b

Bngt

Date of grant

it

(W) 7

16 December 2016
“E-RETZETAR

22 September 2015
“E-1EABCTCA
16 December 2016
“E-RETZETAR

22 September 2015
N e
16 December 2016
“E-RETZRTAA

27 June 2017
CE-tERBCTER

20 October 2016
ZE-7ETRITH
16 December 2016
“E-RETZRTAR

22 September 2015
“E-EBEARZTCA
16 December 2016
“E-RETZRTAA

Exercisable
period

M

(K&e) 7

) Exercisﬁble
price per share
HK

BRAER
&

0.285

0.17
0.285

0.17
0.285

021

03
0.285

0.17
0.285

Adjusted
exercisable
price rer share

atter share
consolidulilgn
Bhafaz s
EAEEREY
&

0.57

0.34
0.57

0.34
0.57

0.42

0.
0.57

N/A
FER

TR
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Outstandin
at 1 April 201
RoB-)\F

BR-BRATE

45,000,000

16,000,000

45,000,000

61,000,000

16,000,000
45,000,000

61,000,000

48,920,000

30,000,000
15,000,000

45,000,000

36,000,000
24,000,000

60,000,000

36. IR Z &R (&)
Rz st B (48)

RTFEMES  EEREMALZBREZLATE
RE—AEERS  MERAZEAHBESHEE

B o Z A FETRER Y B BEH RBREER N

B2 R R RUARHENEEEENTE -

BRESEAZEBNBREIERRAELRRE -

BE-Z-NFZAZ+-HLFEBREZH

LU

Adjusted

after share

consolidation

on 7 Januar

201‘

Granted Exercised  Lopsed during ~ R-3-1%

during the year  during the year the year -ALRif
B T !

FRER  RBeHEkAR

; ; S0

} ) S 8000000

; - S ms0000)

- - - (30,500,000

] ] - (B000000)
) ) - 0000

- - - 30500000

) ; - 4460000

- - - [15,000000)
; ] S s0000)

- - -0

- - 8000000 -
- < (4000000 -

- -~ (60000000 -

Outstanding ot
31 March 2%19
RB-nE=8

Zt-ARAfE

22,500,000

8,000,000
22,500,000

30,500,000
8,000,000
22,500,000

30,500,000
24,460,000

15,000,000
7,500,000

22,500,000
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e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZ=ZZ—-hF=A=+—HILFE

36.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 36. LItz wRIE (18)
Share Options Scheme (continued) AR R ()
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2019 are as BE-_ZE-hE=ZA=+—HLEEEREZS
follows: (continued) W ()
Adjusted
exercisable Adjusted
price rer share after share
atter share consolidation
Exercisable Exercisable :onsollduhon on 7Junuar;
Date of grant period price per share HK$ utstundma 21 0uts|undin8 at
Category of (Note éb (Note é’ HKS  BRAREZER ot 1 Apil 201 Granted Exercised  lopsed during ~ RZZ-AE 31 March 2019
Participants fi BRITER BATESRRE  W_Z-\E  during the year during the year theyer — -RLBERT RZB-1%EZR
$HEEY /ﬁé‘/ﬁ// (K&e) &7 #T BA-BRAfE ERRH ERfifE ﬁﬂm Bhatui® =t-ARfiE
Ms. Xu Ymg 18 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 45,000,000 - - - (22,500,000] 22,500,000
3 “E-RETIATAR £28
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 057 2,000,000 - - - [1,000,000) 1,000,000
Raymond ZE-RETZATRR £z
Xt
Mr. Lom Williamson 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 2,000,000 - - - [1,000,000] 1,000,000
kS “E-RETZRTAR %=4
M Won%Hoi Kuen 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 2,000,000 - - - (1,000,000] 1,000,000
ENEL ZE-RETZRTAR %8
Dr. lom lee G. 20 October 2016 Period 2 0.3 0.6 2,362,000 - - - (1,181,000] 1,181,000
HEEEL ZE-7ETEITH £28
16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 2,000,000 - - - (1,000,000] 1,000,000
“E-RETZRTAR #8
4,362,000 - - - (2,181,000] 2,181,000
Sub-tfg 376,282,000 - - (60,000,000 {158,141,000] 158,141,000
Emﬁlo ees of
roup
sSHER
n aggregote 22 Sept ember 20]5 Period 1 017 0.34 61,000,000 - - (10,000,000} (25,500,000) 25,500,000
a5 ZE-RFABCT £-8
20 October 2016 Period 2 0.3 0.6 39,000,000 - - - (19,500,000) 19,500,000
“E-7ETAZTH 28
16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 057 34,048,000 - - [5,016,000] (14,516,000] 14,516,000
“E-RETIATAR £28
Sub-tJng\ 134,048,000 - - (15,016,000 (59,516,000] 59,516,000
Others
i
h aggregate 22 September 2015 Period 1 017 0.34 37,600,000 - - - (18,800,000] 18,800,000
o “E-1FARZTCR £-4
20 October 2016 Period 2 0.3 0.6 25,000,000 - - - (12,500,000] 12,500,000
“E-AETATH £°8
27 June 2017 Period 4 0.21 042 48,920,000 - - - (24,460,000) 24,460,000
ZE-tERACTER L
SUb—Tolgr\ 111,520,000 - - - (55,760,000) 55,760,000
rgrgfl 621,850,000 ; SO0 [EBAIT0N) 7347000
Weighted average
exercise price {in HKS)
Note [{ 0.2447 - - 0.2145 - 0.4977
(87 (i)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZ=ZZ—-hF=A=+—HILFE

36.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 36.LIBRIn Xtz FRIE (48)
Share Options Scheme (continued) Rk E ()
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2018 are as BE-ZZE—N\E=-BA=+—HILEEEREES
follows: mT
Exercisable Exercisable
Date of grant period price per share Outstandin Oustanding at
Category of (Note (b (Note &q« HKS  at1 AEnI 201 Granted Exercised lapsed during  Reclassified 31 March 2018
Participants f I BRITER R=B-L& during the year during the year the year ~during the year R=B-)\£=A
SREFN (K#(b)) (Ké(a)) #T  MA-ARETE ERRH ERTTE W‘l*ﬂ RENSE =t-ARXGE
Directors
s
Mr. Zhan%Xiaobin 16 December 2016 Period 4 0.285 45,000,000 - - - - 45,000,000
/ “E-R"ETZATAA EmE
45,000,000 - - - - 45,000,000
Mr. Gao Feng 29 November 2012 Period | 0.105 7,622,000 - [7,622,000) - - -
5% ZE-CET-AZ1nA £-1
22 September 2015 Period 2 0.17 16,000,000 - - - - 16,000,000
“E-IFARCTCR g8
16 December 2016 Period 4 0.285 45,000,000 - - - - 45,000,000
“E-RETZATAR s
68,622,000 - 7,622,000) - - 61,000,000
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung 22 September 2015 Period 2 017 16,000,000 - - - - 16,000,000
ERELE ZE-IERACTZH g4
16 December 2016 Period 4 0.285 45,000,000 - - - - 45,000,000
ZE-RETZATAH Eu:d
61,000,000 - - - - 61,000,000
Mr. Sun Qiang 27 June 2017 Period 5 021 - - - - 48,920,000 48,920,000
(Arppomted wih  ZE-tERAZTLA 14 : : : :
ffect from 8
January 2018)
Ay
(B=2-N\%
—B\RERZE)
Mr. Zhan%Yichun 20 October 2016 Period 3 0.3 30,000,000 - - - - 30,000,000
F-5% ZZ-R"E+AZ1A F=H
16 December 2016 Period 4 0.285 15,000,000 - - - - 15,000,000
“E-R"ETZATAA Eud
45,000,000 - - - - 45,000,000
Mr. Shao Zili 22 September 2015 Period 2 0.17 36,000,000 - - - - 36,000,000
(Resi?ned “E-EERACTCA £-8
on 31 January
201 871\:
BENEE
(R=8-NfF
-B=t-B#f)
16 December 2016 Period 4 0.285 24,000,000 - - - - 24,000,000
ZE-RETZATRA Eud
60,000,000 - - - - 60,000,000
Mr. Xie Zhichun 16 December 2016 Period 4 0.285 45,000,000 S = (45,000,000) - -
kResi%ned on ZE-AETZAtRA Eu:d
0 July 2018
?\:’f
Z-\F
tﬁ R
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZ=ZZ—-hF=A=+—HILFE

36.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 36. LItz wRIE (18)
Share Options Scheme (continued) WA (|
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2018 are as BE-_ZE-N\E=-ZA=+—HLEEEREZS
follows: (continued) wmT ()
Exercisable Exercisable
Date of grant period price per share Outstandin Oustanding at
Category of /Nofe b (Note g« HKS  at1 AEnI 201 Granted Exercised lapsed during  Reclassified 31 March 2018
Participants f I BRITER R=B-t& during the year during the year the year ~during the year R=B-)\£=A
B (K#(b)) (K &(a)) #T  MA-ARETE ERRH ERTTE W‘I*H RENSE =t-ARXGE
Ms. Xu Ying 16 December 2016 Period 4 0.285 45,000,000 - - - - 45,000,000
BELt ZE-AETZAtRA EMmE
Mr. Cheng Wing 16 December 2016 Period 4 0.285 2,000,000 - - - - 2,000,000
Keung, ZE-RETZAtRA ELd
mond
wAdeE
Mr. Lom Williamson 16 December 2016 Period 4 0.285 2,000,000 - - - - 2,000,000
h2ELEE ZE-RETZATRA Eul
Mr, Wong Hoi Kuen 16 December 2016 Period 4 0.285 2,000,000 - - - - 2,000,000
RRELE  SE-AE{CETAR  EDA
Dr. Lam Lee G. 20 October 2016 Period 3 03 2,362,000 - - - - 2,362,000
HEEEL ZZ-R"ETAZ1A F=H
16 December 2016 Period 4 0.285 2,000,000 - - - - 2,000,000
ZE-RETZAtRA Equl
4,362,000 - - - - 4,362,000
Sub-tjot%\ 379,984,000 - [7,622,000) (45,000,000) 48,920,000 376,282,000
Employees of
the Group
s5EREA
In aggregate 29 November 2012 Period | 0.105 43,030,000 - (43,030,000) - - -
a3 ZE-ZET-AITNA £-4
22 September 2015 Period 2 0.17 97,000,000 - - - 36,000,000] 61,000,000
ZE-FEARCTZR g4
20 October 2016 Period 3 03 39,000,000 - - - - 39,000,000
“2-7EtAZTH £=8
16 December 2016 Period 4 0.285 34,048,000 - - - - 34,048,000
ZE-RETZATRA EMmE
Sub-IJot%\ 213,078,000 - 43,030,000) - 36,000,000] 134,048,000
Others
£t
In oggregote 22 September 2015 Period 2 0.17 1,600,000 - - - 36,000,000 37,600,000
@i “E-RERACTCR £-8
20 October 2016 Period 3 03 25,000,000 - - - - 25,000,000
“E-REtBZTH F=4
27 June 2017 Period 5 0.21 - 146,760,000 - (48,920,000) (48,920,000] 48,920,000
“E-tERBZTtA £18
SUb-'JmEf‘ 26,600,000 146,760,000 - 48,920,000) (12,920,000] 111,520,000
Tg_\lgl! 619,662,000 146,760,000 50,652,000) 93,920,000) - 621,850,000
Weighted
average
exercise price
in HKS)
Nofe (c)) 0.243 021 0.105 0.246 - 0.2447
mEEYTE

f
(RT) (Witle)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

36.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Share Options Scheme (continued)
Notes:

(a)  Period 1 22 September 2015 to 21 September 2020
Period 2 20 October 2016 to 19 October 2021
Period 3 16 December 2016 to 15 December 2021

Period 4 27 June 2017 to 26 June 2022

(b)  The vesting date of the share options for Period 1 to 4 is the date of
grant.

(c) The exercise prices after share consolidation of the outstanding share
options as at 31 March 2019 range from HK$0.34 to HK$0.6 (2018:
from HK$0.17 to HK$0.3) per share and their weighted average
remaining contractual life as at 31 March 2019 is 2.51 years (2018:
3.44 years).

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company did not grant any
share options to directors, employees or other parties.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company granted
146,760,000 share options to the others and the fair value of the share
options granted is HK$0.07 each. The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair value of share options are based on the directors’ best
estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. The fair value of the share options granted during
the year ended 31 March 2018 was determined by an independent
valuer, APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited, using the Binomial
option pricing model (the “Model”). Details of the inputs to the Model are

36. IR Z &R (&)

Rz Rt B (38)
Bt -

() -8 ZZE-FHEAAZ+=HZE
—E-FTFhA=+—H

B —E-R"FET+A=THZE
—E-_—-F+A+NAH

= —E-—RFE+ZBA+ABE
—E-_—-%+=-A+EHH

ENH —FTE—tHFEXAZ+EHZE
—E-—#XA=-+XH

(b) H-—HEFEEHBERECEERMARLAN -

() REB-AF=ZA=+-HERTEBRER
BROEHEZTEENFRERISBIE
0.68BT(ZF—\F: H0.178TE0.38 )
URER-ZZ-AF=ZA=t-H2ZMEFH
BTENHMA251F (22— N\F 1 3.445F) -

RBE-Z-NWF=ZA=+—-BLFERN  £D
AYEMES EEREMHRBEMERE -

REBEZEZZ-N\F=ZA=1+—HALFER  &D
ABMES - EEREMALRE46,760,0004
BREURBEE2BEREAFELEE4H0.07
B o EZERRELAFECEERRBREDE
RESZHEMGMN BREZEEEESTES
BREZTARLEMERTE RBE=-Z—N\F
A=+ BLFEFMBEZBREZAFED
HEVEEMEAEETHEREBRERLFAER
—EAEEERN (ZEXDEE - Z2EX2

as follows: WAEFBENT
22 September 2015 20 October 2016 16 December 2016 27 June 2017
1% —Z-RE —Z-RE —Z—-t%
AB=+Z=H +RA=+H +=A+7H ~B=+tA
Grant date share price R BHARGER HK$0.16838 T HK$0.38 T HK$0.2858 T HK$0.1928 7T
Exercise price TEE HK$0.17:& 7T HK$0.38 7T HK$0.285i8 T HK$0.2138 T
Expected volatility TEHR IR 72% 53% 53% 43%
Expected life of the options  BERRAETAHFHA 5 yearsf 5 yearsf 5 yearsf 5 yearsf
Dividend yield Wi % 0% 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate HERERSFIZ 0.97% 0.64% 1.56% 1.09%

The Group recognised total expenses of approximately HK$10,273,000
during the year ended 31 March 2018 in relation to share options
granted by the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HBE-T-hF=A=+—HILFE

36.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 36. LIB R 3Z 1z IR (4&)

Share Award Scheme

The Board has approved the adoption of the Share Award Scheme (the
“Old Share Award Scheme”) on 11 February 2011, pursuant to which
existing shares will be purchased by the Bank of East Asia (Trustees)
Limited (“Trustee”) from the market at the cost of the Company and be
held in trust. On 9 March 2011, the Board approved and transferred
HK$5,000,000 to the Trustee. As at 31 March 2019, 5,050,000 (after
share consolidation) (2018:10,100,000) shares were purchased and held
by the Trustee, representing approximately 0.18% (2018: 0.19%) of the
issued share capital of the Company. No award shares have been granted
to any persons since the commencement of the Old Share Award Scheme.

On 27 June 2017 (the “Adoption Date”), the Board resolved to terminate
the Old Share Award Scheme with immediate effect. Such termination
shall not affect the share awarded by the Board under the Old Share
Award Scheme. On the same day, the Board has conditionally resolved to
adopt the new share award scheme (the “New Share Award Scheme”).

The purposes and objectives of the New Share Award Scheme are to
recognise the contributions by certain employees and persons to the
Group and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. Subject to any early
termination as may be determined by the Board in accordance with the
scheme rules, the New Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective
for 10 years from the Adoption Date.

The Board may select any individual or corporate entity being a director
(including executive and non-executive director), employee, officer, agent,
advisor, consultant or business partner of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and other persons who/which in the opinion of the Board has
contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the Group
(the “Eligible Participant”) for participation in the New Share Award
Scheme and determine the number of the awarded shares to be awarded
to the selected participants (the “Selected Participants”).

B% {57 8% Wh &1 &)
EEEN-_E——F-AT-AMERARD
REE(ERDEBE &) - #EIEt  Bank of
East Asia (Trustees) Limited ([ZFEAD &R
TMEBALUGCERLASERERG (BFERE
HAQXAIXZMN) - R-ZZE——F=AhB &S
2 R E#5,000,0008 T FEREA R
ZE-NAF=ZA=ZT—H ZXACBEAHFH
5,050,000 B3 (MR &HHE) (ZF—N\F:
10,100,0008%) » hA QB E BITRALK0.18%
(ZZ2—NF :0.19%) - BER D BB EFER
LR S EEm AL EREBRD -

REZB-—EFXAZTER(HRARH]  ES
ERRRUEERORBHE - DRER - BEL
LHAHEESECREERDRBAEBRTZ
B0 - B R EBSHRMBRRATIRD @
sHEI(TH IR BT -

FRORBFAIZENREERAETAEEET
BERATZERYATRE  BREBREH
BRAAEBCBHELEERRREN N URBEXE
BeE-—SBRWRSIGEAS - RIFESTRE
B SRAREANL L BRNRORBIT KR
BB BEERLEFIOFERN -

ESETRERASNBEARTES (BFEHTR
FHTEE) - EE - TEAE -RE - -FHAA
BRI RERBE 2 EAATREE - REEFH
BLAARESERAYAEEERABREAER
AREEFEMEMAL (GEKBEE]) S
BEHROREFTE  TUEESALREZ2H
F(EmESEE RO Z2RBROHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

36.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Share Award Scheme (continued)
The Board shall offer the awarded shares (“Awarded Shares”) to the
Selected Participant(s) by any of the following ways as the Board deems

fit:

(a) subject to (i) the passing of an ordinary resolution by the
Shareholders in general meeting approving the Scheme Mandate
and the transactions contemplated thereunder; and (i) the Listing
Committee granting approval of the listing of, and permission to deal
in, any new shares as Awarded Shares, pay such sum to the Trustee
for the purpose of subscribing for the new Shares to be allotted and
issued to the Trustee for the benefit of the Selected Participant(s) or
allot and issue the new Shares as Awarded Shares to the Selected
Participant(s) directly; and/or

(b) pay the reference amount to the Trustee (or as it shall direct) and
direct the Trustee to purchase Old Awarded Shares. The Board
is entitled to impose any conditions as it deems appropriate with
respect to the entitlement of the Selected Participant to the Awarded
Shares.

Pursuant to the scheme rules, the total number of Shares, whether they are
new shares or old shares purchased on-market by the Trustee, underlying
all grants made pursuant to the New Share Award Scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares as at the Adoption Date.
Such scheme limit may however be refreshed from time to time subject
to the certain conditions set out in the New Share Award Scheme. The
Company shall not make any further grant of Awarded Share(s) which
would result in the total number of the Awarded Shares together with the
shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted but yet to be exercised under the other share option
or award scheme(s) of the Company representing an aggregate over thirty
per cent (30%) of the Share in issue as at the date of such grant.

Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders and subject to the
adjustment in the event of consolidation or subdivision of shares, the
maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to a Selected
Participant under the New Share Awarded Scheme in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1 per cent (1%) of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the Adoption Date or the date of refreshment of the scheme
limit (as the case may be), excluding all the shares awarded under the
New Share Awarded Scheme up to the Adoption Date or the latest date of
refreshment.
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B {7 S& Wh &t & (48)
EEFTZUTHRREB2AAAR  BEH
BEREBRHRBRG (RBRBGD -

(o) FH(I)RRRBRRAS LEBRESEREZ
EERBRURHBTRESTZRS ) K(i)
EHESEHEEAERRBRD ZHRD
ETREER  AEBMEZREINEZAE
HERERBITTIXAZHRG - AHLE
NEZEAXNERRE - REEOLTRE
SREBTHROGEREBRG > &R

(b) MEAEA(REEER)XNSERE L
EREXABEERBRY ESSHRE
HRRAEERREMESHERERBRY
P =6 2 FER e iR (AR o

RIBFTER A - RIS R 0 R BT BME HEM
RBERROBLH (FTRBFRODNZTARL
MHELBAZERS) TEBBREMAHC#
TRODBEZ10% R - Lifist 8 ERATER
BMRORBEFEE TR ZBERTTRE

HitEREIRBAHACRLEBEFITEZE
EARTEBRERETESTFERAREITZR
7 EHERRHEHERTROEBEI Z=1
(30%) » ALBTHE-—SRUEMERBKRS -

BRIFERR S THUE - BRIFMEM1218 B HR
RIBH IR BB BTG - EETMESHERK
2RO LEREE - REHEBRERMNB BREHR
BLERER(BERME) AQXBAEHTREZE
DZ—(1%) (FTEEREERMAMRBTBEN
ERLRBEFRDEBIF B R 22HRMD) -
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e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HBE-T-hF=A=+—HILFE

36.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 36. LIB A 3Z 1z IR (4&)

Share Award Scheme (continued)

Any Awarded Shares and the related income thereof held by the Trustee
and which are referable to a Selected Participant shall vest in that
Selected Participant in accordance with the timetable and conditions as
imposed by the Board at its absolute discretion, provided that the Selected
Participant remains at all times after the approved by the Board and on the
relevant vesting date an Eligible Participant of the Group.

If the Board selects a director as the Selected Participant, the grant of the
Awarded Shares to the director may constitute a connected transaction
of the Company. However, since the grant of awarded shares to director
forms part of the remuneration of the relevant director under his/her
service contract, such grant of awarded shares is exempted from all
the reporting, announcement and independent Shareholder’s approval
requirement under Rules 14A.31(4) of the Listing Rules.

For the Award Shares to the Selected Participants who are connected
persons (excluding directors), the Company will comply with the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules in relation to the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements. However, any
grant to any director or senior management of the Company must first be
approved by the Remuneration Committee.

The New Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the date
falling on the 10th anniversary date of the Adoption Date and (ii) such
date of early termination as determined by the Board provided that such
termination shall not materially and adversely affect any subsisting rights
of any Selected Participant thereunder.

On 27 June 2017, the Board has resolved 249,370,000 Awarded
Shares (comprising (i) 234,140,000 Awarded Shares to be allotted and
issued to the connected persons of the Company and (ii) 15,230,000
Awarded Shares to other non-connected persons of the Company) to 18
Selected Participants under the New Share Award Scheme by way of
issue and allotment of new shares. On 17 August 2017, the Company
passed the above ordinary resolution by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting. On 22 August 2017, the Company issued the respective
Awarded Shares at fair value of HK$0.142 per share. The Group
recognised total expenses of approximately HK$35,411,000 during the
year ended 31 March 2018 in relation to Awarded Shares granted by the
Company.

There was no purchase of shares by the Trustee under the New Share
Award Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

B {7 S8 Wh &t & (48)
BERAMBALTEN ZEMBEB 0L 2 EFH
BRGREABRA  EREST2REEED
CHEERREHABETERMESEE  HETR
SEEARESSFHIERTARBERAAR
BEAMN —EAREECSERSEE -

HEESERH - FESELREBEZHE 1
ZEESRURBRO TEBKALE —HEE
R5 R  ARBEHBESZRBESH @
ESRERBROBRABES 2HIME - &
FRRHRBRD - SETERRET ELHRAUSE
TAABV(OFRIB T 2FIERR - AERBIKRE
HERE o

fHERSOBREEAT 2ERESEE (TEE
ES)RTRERG ALK EFTLHRAUA
BRERR RERBIRRAERE 2 HBHE -
AW ARRAEMNESRSREBASFELE
ARTH  DEAXEHFHEESSRE -

FROEBBER()FMBEHRETBF2H
FEFERERFLLEGIREEELLTS
HEMKBES2HEECTET2ANFERANEGE
RIAFEZE) 2R (UREERE) KL -

RZZB—tFRAZ+LH ESSEFRRIE
FROZBABURBRBITIHIRG 25K
18 KT E S & 3 H249,370,0008 2 &
RO (BEEEOACBDEEALTEBERET
234,140,00088% 22 B % £2 52 (ii)#% [0 E A AN 12 ]
B A LB ] E1715,230,000 R @ AR £7) ©
RZZ-—tFNATLR  XRAFIRRNKRRE
FRELEBLAEBRBZR -R=-ZT—tEN
AZ+=ZH  RAEEQIFESRO. 1428 T #
TEREBEZRBRD -AEERBE-ZF
—NFZAZ+-HLEFERFAQTREZER
IR 1 #E R 4B X #935,411,0008 7T °

RBE-Z-NWF=ZA=+—BLFE ZFTA
WEREHRORBADBEETARD (ZF-N
F ) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

36.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 36. LI In Xtz FRIE (§8)
Share Award Scheme (continued) B% {7 5% Wh &+ B (#8%)
Movements in the share awards granted during the year ended 31 March BE-_ZE-N\E=ZA=+—HLEFEERHERSE
2018 are as follows: BT :
Number of share awards granted
ERHEREHBA
Outstanding Outstanding
Fair value per as at 1 April Granted Awards vested as at 31 March
Name of Participants Date of grant share 2017  during period during year 2018
RZE-t% RIS-N\%E
mA—-A =ZA=t+-H
BHERSE R A BROTE WF T i Ed] ENREZER RETHE
HK$
BT
Directors
EE
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin 22 August 2017 0.142 - 48,920,000 (48,920,000 -
REWEE “E-tENA=TZA
Mr. Gao Feng 22 August 2017 0.142 - 48,920,000 (48,920,000 -
Bl EE “E-tENAZtZH
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung 22 August 2017 0.142 - 48,920,000 (48,920,000 -
izbo e ZE-tENAZTZH
Mr. Zhang Yichun 22 August 2017 0.142 - 2,000,000 (2,000,000) -
R-FEE “E-tENAZTZH
Mr. Shao Zili Resigned on 31 January 2018) 22 August 2017 0.142 - 2,000,000 (2,000,000) -
BEN%E (RZE-NE-A=T-HE) ZE-tENAZTZH
Ms. Xu Ying 22 August 2017 0.142 - 2,000,000 (2,000,000) -
#hEgt ZZ-tEN\AZTZH
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond 22 August 2017 0.142 - 2,000,000 (2,000,000) -
BRERE “E-tENA=TZA
Mr. Lam Williamson 22 August 2017 0.142 - 2,000,000 (2,000,000) -
HEEEE “E-tENAZTZH
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen 22 August 2017 0.142 - 2,000,000 (2,000,000) -
BEELE “E-tENA=TZA
Dr. Lam Lee G. 22 August 2017 0.142 - 2,000,000 (2,000,000) -
HREEL “Z-tENA=TZR
= 160,760,000 (160,760,000) -
Other connected persons 22 August 2017 0.142 = 73,380,000 73,380,000 -
EttREAL “E-t#\A=1+ZAH
Non-connected persons 22 August 2017 0.142 - 15,230,000 (15,230,000 -
FHEAL “Z-t+%7\A=1+ZAH
Total: = 249,370,000 (249,370,000 -
a5t
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

37.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. BB LT

On 8 June 2017, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Mr. Gao Feng (“Mr. Gao”) and other sellers including
certain existing and former directors of the Company, namely, Mr. Zhang
Xiaobin, Mr. Chiu Sui Keung and Mr. Shao Zili (resigned on 31 January
2018) and Mr. Li Xinhua, who are business partners of Mr. Gao for the
establishment of the O20 business, whereby Mr. Gao and the other sellers
conditionally agreed to sell, and the Company conditionally agreed to
purchase, the sales shares, representing 51.2% of the total issued share
capital of Admiral Glory Global Limited (“Admiral Glory”), which owns
51% of Sunfield Global Investments Limited (“Sunfield Global”) and
Sunfield Global owns 100% of Esmart Holdings Limited which in turn
owns a wholly-foreign-owned-enterprise, Esmart Technology Co., Ltd.
in the PRC of Zhuhai (the “Target Group”) at the sale consideration of
HK$23,040,000. The Target Group will be operating the O20 business
in the ordinary course of business of the Company. The acquisition was

completed on 12 July 2017.

The carrying amount and fair value of net liabilities acquired:

RZZE—tFRANE AQAHESEXEE (TS
EEDREMES (BESKERILO20%H
ZEBBMY BEPEELALIETRERAE
EE R ARBEHELE  BERBEERIFD
FERZZE-NF-A=Z+—-BEE) UK
FHERE)ILTEREH R REZHE S
TERHGMEFERHAREHE MALFE
R EBE » {5Admiral Glory Global Limited
(TAdmiral Glory ) B # 1T RAEES1 2% 2 HE
Bz 4p - ¥1{8 423,040,000 7T © Admiral Glory
FEHERRREBR AR ((HERR]) 251%
BE MPERREAENEERARAAZ
100%%  BENEERERLRDAUEESRTE
RERLZHEBECEKEENBREBRA
A(LMAARBIEEEE]D - BEEEKER
EO20%7% » MO20XBHENART HEEH
BREPET FERBER-Z—tFLtA+=
By -

i EEEFEREERAFEOT

HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) ME - BMERREE (HE16) 76
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables RE > ANREREBERRIE 361
Amounts due from shareholders FEW AR SRR IR 8
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRBRELEEER 1,052
Accrued liabilities and other payables 2B EREMENTRIE (1,799)
(302)
Non-controlling interests R R 215
Net identifiable assets and liabilities acquired R Rl EER B EFE (87)
Goodwill (Note 19) BmE (MiZi19) 23,127
23,040
Satisfied by: F 1 :

Cash consideration BeRE 23,040

Net cash outflow arising an acquisition: WEEE 2RSSR FEE
Cash consideration RERE (23,040)
Cash and bank balances acquired FRBUBIR & R IR1T 48R 1,052
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents ReRkReESEBER 2R FHE (21,988)

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group has paid the cash
consideration of HK$23,040,000 to the vendors.

REBE=Z-N\FE=ZA=1+—RHALEE  X&EH

EaER X NFREME23,040,0008 T
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

37.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. B E AT ()
Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately HK$3,256,000 U BB AR R A< %93,256,0005% 7T It £ 5+ A T g
have been excluded from the consideration transferred and have been RE HERGEEZREMEZEKERIEf
recognised as an expense in the period, within the “Other operating SEMAL | -WPERABAEX -
expenses” line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
The subsidiaries acquired during the year contributed approximately HRABAZHBARABLAEBEFREEXEER
HK$8,654,000 to the Group’s turnover and loss before tax of BRBAEIED B BRI 48,654,000 T KK
approximately HK$23,638,000 for the period. Had these business 23,638,000/ 8 T - i L EEHKEHR=Z=—t
combinations been effected at 1 April 2017, the turnover of the Group FUA-BAER AEBELEFEREXKZ
from continuing operation would have been HK$8,654,000 and loss for B EH8,654,0008 T MBFEKLEEK
the year from continuing operation would have been HK$23,815,000. FEEEBAE23,8150008TT REBESR
The directors of the Group considered these “pro-forma” numbers to B HWEEZ I BEFTRRYGHEEFERRZ
represent an approximate measure of the performance of the combined BOFE WARRBEZHERERSZE -

group on an annualised basis and to provide a reference point for
comparison in future periods.

Goodwill arose in the business combination because the cost of the HAREBS O ZHABEWEAdmIral Gloryff
combination included a control premium paid to acquire Admiral Glory. In A ZEHREGEE MEBEHDEEHE - It
addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively included S MEHAXAF2REER LEE BAdmirdl
amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth, Gloryz FHEAH R IE « NHER - RRTHHE
future market development and the assembled workforce of Admiral Glory. EEBHESEMESZHGE BHRZENEIT
These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill as the future R RREENBZ TSR REFSHE
economic benefits arising from them cannot be reliably measured. EESHER -
The non-controlling interests of 48.8% in Admiral Glory and 49% in A ULEE B i FriE R A Admiral Glory248.8% K& 3
Sunfield Global were recognised at the acquisition date were measured at IR Z49%FZRER » NDIRZEQ RS
their share of recognised identified net assets or liabilities at the date of BEAME AR RN EERBERHETE -
acquisition.
38.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. BFkiE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Authorised and contracted for capital contributions EAMWELRZEE
payable to a subsidiary REFTHEHE 277,817 425,590
The Company did not have significant capital commitment at the end of REERR  ARBAERERARERE (ZF-N
the reporting period (2018: Nil). Fom) e
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZ=ZZ—-hF=A=+—HILFE

39.

40.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for office properties are negotiated for terms
ranging from one to three years.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of office premises falling

39. EEHRERIE
K%I*E?F”“%*ﬁ%;ﬂiﬁﬁ% STHAEE -
MAZNECHEREHBEL  FHH-—E=
ﬁT%’;f’

R-B-AE=P=+-0  BRETTRHCE
B R EMAR L R AN

due as follows: REBEE
2019 2018
“E-hE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Within one year —F R 3,894 2,536
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E-EELF (BREARWE) 994 1,879
4,888 4,415

The Company did not have significant operating lease arrangements at the
end of the reporting period (2018: Nil).

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

Amounts
due to
shareholders
B RRE
HK$'000
TR
At 1 April 2017 RZE-tENA-A -
Repayment of obligations under finance lease BEMERERE -
Interest paid EMFE -
New loan raised HER 15,212
Non-cash items: FREEE
Finance costs BERE -
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment under RERSANKENE
finance lease BERk%E -
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 RZE-NF=A=t-H
RZE-N\ENE-H 15,212
Repayment of obligations under finance leases BEREHERE -
Proceeds from other borrowings HitEE 2 FiERE =
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEEZERE =
Increase in amounts due to shareholders FEfS R AR M 3,550
Repayment of bank borrowings BERTHE =
Interest paid ERFE =
Non-cash items: FREEE
Finance costs MERA 1
Inferest payables FENFIE =
Transfer to amounts due to non-controlling interests ERERAFERERTE (115)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment under RERERAWENE
finance lease BERkEE =
At 31 March 2019 R=B-AE=A=t+-H 18,658

RB|ERR RO EEREEHERH (=
Z—)\F H) -

40. MR EEMEL ARZHIR

TRB|JIAEERETDFELEB2EHF
B BERERFRSLSY RETHFELESR
BIERAERETIRRAERBEMNAEBES

REeRERBIEARETHIEENRESRE
Z2B8fE-
Obligations
Other Bank under
borrowings borrowings  finance leases Total
Hhtg BT MRAREE hy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
. . (636) (636)
- - (115) (115)
- - - 15,212
- - 115 115
- - 3,749 3,749
- - 3,113 18,325
. . (964) (964
23,353 - - 23,353
- 8,103 - 8,103
- - - 3,550
. (7,774) . 7.774)
. (199) (135) (334
107 204 135 457
(107) 15 - (112)
. - - (115)
- - 1,081 1,081
23,353 329 3,230 45,570
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE
41. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In additions to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in

these consolidated financial statements, during the year ended 31 March

2019, the Group had entered into the following material related party

transactions:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

(b)

Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts
paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statement is as follow:

Short term employee benefits AHEERER
MPF contributions BESMHEI
Share-based payment LU AD 2 A%

41.EXHEALRS
BRESGEEUBBREMBIFIREZRSIR
B REBE-Z-NF=ZA=1T-HLEE
A AEEBTLUTERBEALRS

(a) FXEEBEARZHE

FTEEBASBCHE (BEFSMBRRM
FAIOEBECSNHTFALNBDES ZFHIR) W
T

2019 2018
—-n% —2-N\F
HK$/000 HK$'000

FiE Fi

18,182 15,500
181 155

- 30,375
18,363 46,030

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” in Note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

On 11 September 2014, Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino
Talent”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as lender,
entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Graceful
Ocean International Group Holding Limited (“Graceful Ocean”)
as borrower and Mr. Ma Haike as guarantor whereby Sino Talent
agreed to advance to Graceful Ocean a term loan in the principal
amount of HK$18 million (the “Loan”) with interest accrued at the
rate of 13% per annum. The parties entered into five supplemental
agreements to the Loan Agreement between April 2015 and June
2018 to, among other things, postpone the maturity date of the Loan
to 31 March 2019.

On 24 June 2019, the parties and Mr. Gao Feng ("Mr. Gao”)
entered into the sixth supplemental agreement to the Loan Agreement
to further postpone the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March 2020.
Meanwhile, as an additional security of the repayment obligations of
the Borrower under the Loan Agreement (as supplemented by the six
supplemental agreements), Mr. Gao, an executive Director and the
vice-chairman of the Board, entered into a guarantee contract (“Mr.
Gao’s Guarantee”) with Sino Talent and Graceful Ocean whereby
Mr. Gao agreed to act as an additional guarantor and guarantee
the due performance of Graceful Ocean in respect of its repayment
obligations under the Loan Agreement (as supplemented by the six
supplemental agreements).
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(b)

MERBEDEREEIBEIRAI(GEVER
RHMFES) A ©

R-ZZE-—NFAA+—B AAFZ2E
MEARHESBERAR ((FHED (FF
BEFF) EGraceful Ocean International
Group Holding Limited ([ Graceful
Ocean) tERABER) REBRIEE (F
AERATLERGE (EXRBRED
E i FE R 2 @ Graceful OceaniZ 7
£ % 518,000,000tz EHER ([ZE
KD BRERANRIIUTHTE -FITNHFHEE
R-ZZE-HAEFMAZ=-Z-NEXAHH
RERMRITLENEZHE U (EPE
RBILEEZERZINABE=_Z-NF=A
=+—He-

R-ZEBE-AFARAZTHNA EFTHNHHE
ESEEE(BEE]D) RERBETZLE R
BHEHE NE-—SPSEEZERZIEH
HE-Z-ZF=A=1+—H R A
BEFRITERERDBR (BOERHER
xR TeEREXE2EMNER  HTE
EREEFRETFE S S EEHE KGraceful
Oceanf] ZIEREN ([BREZER]D -
Bl SELERBETEMERA  WIER
Graceful OceanZ EBITHRERK M= (&
AWM HmEAER) TZEREME



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

42.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group has the following events occurred subsequent to the end of the
reporting period:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

On 23 April 2019, Esmart Technology Co., Ltd (“Esmart Technology”),
an indirect subsidiary of the Company, entered into the letter of
intent and the cooperation agreement with The Nielsen Company
(Guangzhou) Limited (“Nielsen Guangzhou”) for an initial period of
three years whereby the parties agreed to cooperate in collection
and provision of store information and other market data. Esmart
Technology shall use its own technology to collect store information
and provide such information to Nielsen Guangzhou. In return,
Nielsen Guangzhou will provide service package to Esmart
Technology.

For more details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 23 April 2019.

On 8 March 2019, Huimin International (HK) Limited (“Huimin
Int'l"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Mr. Wang
Haoyu (“Mr. Wang”) entered into the loan agreement whereby Mr.
Wang provided Huimin Int'l with the loan in the principal amount
of RMB20,000,000. The loan bears interest at a rate of 8% per
annum and will be due on the 60 days from the drawdown date
of the loan. On 26 April 2019, the Company, Huimin Int'l and
Mr. Wang entered into the loan capitalisation agreement (“Loan
Capitalisation Agreement”) pursuant to which Mr. Wang conditionally
agreed to subscribe for, and the Company conditionally agreed to
allot and issue, an aggregate of 125,008,842 loan capitalisation
shares, at the loan capitalization subscription price of HK$0.188
each. The subscription amount payable by Mr. Wang under the
Loan Capitalisation Agreement shall be satisfied by capitalizing the
outstanding principal amount of the loan and the interest accrued. The
Loan Capitalisation took place on 10 May 2019.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 26 April 2019 and 10 May 2019 respectively.

On 26 April 2019, the Company entered into the third supplemental
agreements with Mr. Zhang Xiabin, the Chairman of the Board and
an executive and Mr. Gao Feng, the Vice-Chairman of the Board
and an executive director (collectively, the “Subscribers”), to revise
certain major terms of the subscriptions. Pursuant to the subscription
agreements, the Company agreed to allot and issue, and the
subscribers agreed to subscribe for, an aggregate of 265,957,446
subscriptions shares at the subscription price of HK$0.188 each for
an aggregate cash consideration of HK$50,000,000. The subscription
constituted a connected transaction and required to abstain from
voting in respect of the resolution. The extraordinary general meeting
was passed the resolution on 21 June 2019. The Subscriptions will be
completed on or before 31 August 2019.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 26 April 2019, 30 May 2019 and 21 June 2019 respectively.

42 REMEER
BRREFEUBRRR2EMBTAREEN - K
EERBERRRBRETIEE

(ii)

(iii)

RZE-NENA=Z+=8 " A2 AZHE#E
MEBARKEEMBEREAERAT ([XKE
HEABEDEEMNEEATSMHEERLA
TEMNBREHZNDITLASEH =250
ERAEHE Bt EHEERWERR
HEFEENEMTSEIBETEE KT
ENBESETERAESRMTKEEHERLDE
EMNECHERRUEEBRES - EEQHK  EM
BEAEOKEENBRERKEAS -

FHEZHIE B2HAQXTEHNE=R
—AEMABZt=HZRff-

RZEBE-AFE=ZBNH ARAZ2EMN
BARERER (BB ERAT(ERE
BDEFEFEE(EREDTLER D
2ot TAENERBEBRIZEASES
AR#20,000,0007T 2 B o &Rk EF
RB%TER SR ERIZE A BTHE60R R
HEM - RZZ2—AENAZ+<H &2
7 EREREIELTVIERENHE
(T8FENLmRED Bt TREFHKLF
FAERE MAQAANERHERERBERET
4 $125,008, 842 EFRERLKRH &
HERLRBEAER0.1888BT - T4
BEEBRENMGERENT2RBREAE
BEAEBERASERBBEIFNESER
Moz BRI - EEZERERLER=
E-NFEREA+HEEBET-

FHEZHIE B2HAQXTRHNE=R
—AFEMAZtARERZZE-NFHEAT
B2 e

RZZ-AFOAZ+XRH  AOFHES
EIERITESRENELERESSA
IFERVPTEZSBRELE (EBIZERE
ADFTYE=ZMNHETHE - MERRBEE
BETEERR - REABWHE  A2ARE
BBRBRT MZEABARSKRIABES
fRO.1888 TR E £265,957, 446 R R 58
R #REKER50,000,000/ T - B
BERBHACAZHEERS - AEZRR
BRAEER=ZE-NAEARA=+—HE
TUBBEEARE BABRBEEER =
E-NFENA=FT—BHZATHK °

EEEZHE B2UAATENA=S
—RAEMA=+AA  —B-hERA=T
AR-E-NEAB=t— B2

Annual Report 2019 4:# - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED %) 2 3 # g 3 B 2> %]

174



1749

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-Z—-AFE=A=+—HItEE

42.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

(iv)

On 27 April 2019, the Company and Hangzhou Xinshen Industrial
Company Limited (“Hangzhou Xinshen”) entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement for a term of three years. Hangzhou Xinshen
is principally engaged in technology development, provision of
technology services and consultation of e-commerce and computer
software and hardware, industrial investment, investment management
and consultation and construction project management in the PRC.
Under the strategic cooperation agreement, the parties agreed to
initiate cooperation in high-new technology businesses, including
but not limited to cloud computing, big data analysis and artificial
intelligence, and enter into further negotiations on technology and
data services and sales channels, etc., with a view to entering into a
definitive agreement within three months.

For more details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 29 April 2019.

43. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 April 2018.

Upon the transition methods, comparative information is not restated.

Further details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed in Note

2.

44. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2019.
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42 . HEREER (#)

(iv)

REZZ-NWFHRAZTER - AAFEHRIM
HABEERQXA (MR FTL A
ZEZEREFERRE - MMHREERTE
REBEFEBRN - STEMBE AR
B RIRES - RUTEESH - BERE - RE
EE - - REBARTIRBEEE - RIBEK
EBE EAEEHREESHEME
B(EFRETRRESE  REEIH - A
TEESHE) NWEMFE WL RBIER
% OHERESITHE-SEE  BEAR
ZEBARFTZLERXTE -

EHEZHE B2HAQXTRHNE=Z
—hEEOABZthABZRf -

43. LE BB F
AEECHR-ZE-NEENA-HEBRERSEN
BHRELENFISHEREBUBRELREIN -
RBEBERE  RBERYAEINLRER -F
BAET R B 2 - PF BRI E2RE -

44. GEMBHREETIR

REVBBRER-Z-NAFAA-TN\REE
EEMERRET -
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